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Financial Highlights
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FIVEYEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TEMEHE
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
“T-RF ZE-R"E ZZ—+t& ZZE-N\F| ZE-hEF
HKS'milion  HK$'milion  HK$'milion  HK$'milion | HK$'million
BEET BEBTL BEATL BEBT BEAT
Revenue = \
Restaurant, food and ZF - RB MBI
hotel ) 544 622 713 813 856
Property investment and WERERER
development 126 245 154 120 114
670 867 867 933 970
Profit Attributable to BARRAA
Owners of the Parent eI &R 121 121 127 317 278
Basic Earnings SREAREF (1)
per Share (cents) 9.66 9.65 10.16 25.27 22.12
Net Assets BEFE 3,818 3,535 3,530 3,958 3,830
Total Assets BEE 6,264 5,834 6,084 6,306 6,262
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to present the
Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
for the financial year ended 31 March 2019.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s turnover
was HK$970,210,000 (2018: HK$932,620,000), increased by
4% compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$277,958,000 (2018: HK$317,017,000),
reduced by 12% from last year. The increase in turnover
was due to satisfactory growth from rental income and the
restaurant and food businesses which more than offset
reduction in revenue from hotel business and property sales.
Decrease in operating profit attributable to shareholders was
mainly due to the booking of the large property sales revenue
and profit by the Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town
project last year.

2018/19 has been a year of political and economic instability
and uncertainties, clouded with mixed sentiments towards
trade wars, volatile financial markets, slow-down of economic
growth, and depreciation of Renminbi. Despite these, the
Group was still able to achieve satisfactory growth in rental
income and the restaurant and food businesses.

We see significant opportunities in the open-up of the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Areas, closely
linked by the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge and high speed
train rail lines. Our Group’s business strategy in the property
segment is to focus development in the Greater Bay Areas, in
particular Hong Kong and Shenzhen. This was evidenced by
the Group’s investment in the 13 storeys commercial building
being constructed at the central district of the Guangzhou
South high speed station in Panyu, Guangzhou during the year.
Upon its completion at end of 2020, the property will become
one of the high grade commercial buildings at the Guangzhou
South Station and will bring good rental income to the Group.

In Hong Kong, the Group has invested in two 50% joint
property re-development projects in Sham Shui Po, respectively
at Haitan Street and Castle Peak Road, with a total site area
of 9,438 sq.ft., buildable gross floor area of 84,900 sq.ft.,
and saleable floor area of approximately 68,700 sq.ft. More
than 85-90% of the property ownerships were acquired. It is
expected that the Haitan Street re-development will complete in
mid-2022 and the Castle Peak Road at end of 2023.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
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The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project was
completed and fully opened for business during the year, with
an overall rent-out rate of 65%. Also the remaining residential
units of the 41,611 sg.m. total saleable area of the project were
all sold out during the year.

The Group continued to sustain a steady growth in rental
income, with an increase of 7% from last year. This was mainly
attributable to the increase in rental income of investment
properties in Shenzhen, Panyu and Hong Kong. The Group
is currently undergoing a reorganization of the tenant mix of
the first floor of the Carrianna Square shopping mall, which
is expected to complete in the third quarter of 2019. The
reorganization will bring higher rental income to the property.
We are optimistic about the rental markets in Hong Kong
and the Mainland in the coming year. The present and newly
acquired investment properties will continue to generate good
rental income to the Group.

The food and restaurant business is another focal point of
development of the Group. The integration of the Shenzhen,
Kunming and Hainan food factories has resulted in operating
synergy and efficiency. Food business turnover for the year
increased by 7% from last year. The growth mainly came from
Carrianna mooncake sales, which was 11% higher than last
year. Hainan, Shenzhen and Kunming markets all recorded
satisfactory growth. The construction of the new Hainan
food factory was largely completed and has commenced
operation. The factory will significantly increase the mooncakes
production. Apart from mooncakes, the Group will also produce
bread, packaged Hainan-style food and Chinese-style dry meat
products, which will be a contributor to Group’s food business
in the coming year. The Group is positive on the prospect of
the food industry and has allocated resources to grow the food
business. The Group’s strategy is to expand the distribution
network, develop new products, and to consolidate on the
well-established brand of “Carrianna” in order to increase future
sales.

Turnover of our subsidiary Profit Smart Group’s bread business
slightly reduced 1% from last year. Management will try to
improve sales by introducing new products in the retails shops.
At the same time, management will continue to control costs
and reduce shop losses and may consider to close down 1 to
2 loss making shops in the coming year. Having said that, the
factory’s direct sales business has been recording satisfactory
growth.

FN-AEBES0%K N R FEREISE
BEZEDIEN WERHEARALE B
A& B65% - RBIN WEB WA HEREE
41,611 K FIsRMEEEA - DRFREEB
8-

AEBNESWABERFBIER X
FINMT% - EEBRBNERY BFELE
BHREMERSWAENM S SEHR
TEAEERESHS _ENHEFHS &
HR-ZF-NFE=FEZK BEHBRZ
MESRESNES WA -AEEERFE
BRAMEES TSR EE - RE Min
WENREMESEERANEETRIZRMN
HEWA -

RmMEREEHAEBERN S —EEE -
R BERARBEE=HHNRATIHES H
LEFEERBRAMEALRIARE - RmE
Bhm AEEERBLEFEM S B H
BRETEREEEDASNHEE LEFS
H11% - B S R R EA=ETHHES
TAMBNER - BENHREABEEZRD
R ERAREE BE&EKEEZIMNA
BIVEES - fR AN ARETNGEEEM
B BEFERERANBETAARR &
RAR—FER/AKENRBEHHRIERD
N AREHRBITENARBUF LA L
W EDBEERAMKRMER - AEBRKEK
RERDHEBE RAEFER PEFEMR

MEZH RMA - B ARFIEINHERR

AEEBE THMREBABREFNERELE
FRATHKI% -BEBHEIAMER &
NRETEENHE - R B2 EREE
BB - R A B TR 5 8 - 6B B K SRR B
—EMEEENEH - BENL BMEEHEE
BRERRRE BB ARBANERE-



Our Group’s restaurant business has also sustained a steady
growth, with an increase of 5% in turnover over last year. Both
Carrianna restaurant Group and Delicious Group, as well as the
newly-opened “ZZhang” Korean food restaurant and “V. THAI"
Thai food restaurant have recorded growth in sales revenue
during the year. Apart from the well-known “Carrianna” brand
traditional Chao Zhou cuisine, the Group has adopted a multi-
brand strategy to diversify into different variety of cuisine such
as “Shun Yi"(JIEE ) Shunde cuisine and “Chao Mei Li"(#i1%
E ) special Chao Zhou cuisine. While the Group will consolidate
its “Carrianna” brand of the Carrianna restaurant Group and the
trade names “Delicious” (k£ ) , “Gustation”("€#K) , “Gusto”
(%X &%) and “King Noodle”(#i £ ) under the Delicious
Hong Kong style “Cha Chaan Teng”(Z% £ E& ) restaurant
Group, we will continue to explore and develop new market
opportunities in the expansion of our restaurant business.

We expect the economic uncertainties to continue into
the coming year. Despite the challenging environment,
management remains positive and optimistic about the
prospects of the Group’s real estate business and the
restaurant and food businesses. With interest rates continually
staying at a low level and the growing purchasing power of the
mass Mainland population, we believe the Group’s businesses
will continue to sustain a steady growth.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board of Directors, management team and staff for their
support and dedication to the Group and to shareholders,
customers, suppliers and other business partners for their
unfailing support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies

EFERERERANAMGE

HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS, aged 77, is the founder of
the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary Chairman
of the Company and re-designated as non-executive director
of the Board since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma has over 30
years’ experience in the restaurant business and property
development. He was a committee member of the 9th,
10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is the Consultant of
All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, the
Permanent Honorary President of Shenzhen Overseas Chinese
International Association, Permanent Honorary President of
Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations
Ltd., Permanent Honorary President of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Chamber of Commerce Limited and Permanent Honorary
President of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public
Association. Mr. Ma is a brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PhD, aged 68, is a co-founder of the Group, has
been a Director of the Group since 1984, and Chairman of the
Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma accumulated many years
of management experience from garment business, property
development, hotel and catering business. Mr. Ma is currently
responsible for the important decision-making and business
development of the Group. Mr. Ma is a former member
of Guangdong Provincial Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and also serves as President
of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association,
Supervisor of Hong Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public
Association Secondary School, Executive Chairman of Hong
Kong Changsha Chamber of Commerce, Vice President of
Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organization,
Vice-Chairman of the Chinese Manufacturers Association of
Hong Kong and Chairman of Hong Kong Commerce, Industry,
and Professionals Association. Mr. Ma is a brother of Mr. Ma
Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PhD, BBS, JR aged 52, is Executive
Directors of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990. Mr. Ma was appointed Vice-chairman on 28
June 2019. He has been the Managing Director of Carrianna
Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently responsible
for the Group’s property development operations. He has
extensive experience in the catering industry, as well as
property management and development. Mr. Ma was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003, appointed
Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2015 and a Honorary Doctorate
of Philosophy degree by Morrison University in 2004. In
2011, he was awarded the Honorary Citizen by the Shenzhen
government. He was the Chairman of Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a member of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a member of the Standing
Committee of Shenzhen Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference and the President of Youth
Council. He also serves as the Vice President of Hong Kong
Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce. Mr. Ma is an Independent
Non-Executive Director of Liu Chong Hing Investment Limited,
the shares of which are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

LEUNG Pak Yan, aged 66, is Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Group since August 2015 and October
2015 respectively. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Leung was
a senior civil servant of the Hong Kong government for nearly
30 years, serving various government departments including
Financial Services and the Treasury Bureau, Transport Bureau,
Lands Departments and Education Department. Mr. Leung
served as the first director of the Hong Kong Economic and
Trade Office (the “ETQ”) in Guangdong from 2002 to 2009.
Mr. Leung retired from the Hong Kong government as an
Administrative Officer Staff Grade B in 2009. After his long and
distinguished service in the government, Mr. Leung has been
invited to be the business consultant to numerous companies
and trade associations in Southern China and Hong Kong prior
to joining the Group. Mr. Leung holds a bachelor’'s degree in
Electrical Engineering at the University of Aston in the United
Kingdom and a master’'s degree in Public Administration from
the University of Hong Kong.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

NG Yan Kwong, aged 58, is Executive Director, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Group since 2000.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Ng was the finance director
of a US beverage company operating in Mainland China.
Mr. Ng has more than 10 years of corporate and financial
management experience with multinational consumer product
companies in South East Asia and Greater China region. He
also has substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with a major international accounting firm. He holds a
bachelor’s degree in Commerce of the University of Newcastle
in Australia and is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the CPA Australia.

Ng Sze Ping, aged 57, is an Executive Director of the Group
since July 2018. Mr. Ng studied industrial and commercial
enterprises management at the Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics (78 /M 87 4 KX ) and graduated in
January 2013. Mr. Ng has a number of years of experience
in corporate management. He was formerly the founder and
chairman of the board of directors of &I Z=F& & FhiZ % &£ E
AR A 7] (Shenzhen Tailong Finance Holding Group Company
Limited). Mr. Ng was also the chairman of the board of directors
of FUNEKEEREEREEHBR QA (Shenzhen Macheng
Business Investment Holding Group Company Limited).
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 69, is Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr. Lo is
an Independent Non-Executive Director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an Executive Director of
Winshine Science Company Limited (formerly known as
Winshine Entertainment & Media Holding Company Limited)
from 3 October 2009 until 10 November 2014 when he was
re-designated as Non-Executive Director and served until
18 December 2017. All these companies are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He has more than 30
years of professional and business experience in financial and
investment services in Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian
counties.

LO Man Kit, Sam, aged 58, is Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group in July
2004. Mr. Lo is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a
consultant of Messrs. C.C. Lee & Co.. He has over 30 years of
extensive experience in the areas of conveyancing, banking and
commercial law. He is also admitted as solicitor in Singapore.

WONG See King, aged 58, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the Chief Financial Officer of
HAGER Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which
is a market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market, being engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor's degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Australia and is a member of the CPA Australia.
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Director and Senior Management’s Biographies
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 43, is the Executive Director
of the China Food Division of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated
from the University of California, Davis with a bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering and he holds a Professional
Engineer license in Civil Engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has
substantial experience in food and beverage business. Mr. Ma
is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 52, is the Managing Director of
Carrianna (Hainan) Catering Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna
(Hainan) Food Processing Co., Ltd.. He has been serving the
Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau) Restaurant since 1986. Mr. Lee
has been in charge of operation of Hainan restaurant and food
business since 1993.

JIANG Benhua, aged 52, joined the Group in 1992 and was
promoted to executive chef of the Group in 1993. In 2016,
he was appointed as the managing director of Carrianna
Restaurant Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked
for a well-known restaurant group in Hong Kong. Mr. Jiang
has over 30 years of experience in restaurant operation and
management and has acquired honorary awards and positions
including Chinese Cooking Master, Golden Chef of Europe
Excellent Food Society, Shenzhen Top Ten Golden Chef and
honorary chairman of Asia Pacific Grandchef Society.

CHENG Ka Wah, aged 55, is the Managing Director of
Delicious Group Dining Services Limited and the founder of
the Delicious Restaurant Group. Mr. Cheng has more than 30
years’ experience in restaurant business. He is responsible
for business development and daily operation of the Delicious
Group.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 58, is the founder of the Profit Smart
Group and currently an Executive Director of Profit Smart Group
Limited. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart Group.

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 60, joined the Group as
the Group Financial Controller in June 2019. Mr. Chan has
over 25 years of experience in auditing, accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chan
has worked for a number of listed companies and multinational
corporations. He was also the director of an investment and
business consultancy firm and has extensive experience in
corporate finance and investment in the Mainland and Hong
Kong. He also possesses substantial working experience in
public accountancy practice with an international accounting
firm. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from
the University of Sydney in Australia. He is a member of the
Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of The
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) which became effective on 1 January 2005. The
corporate governance principles of the Company emphasise
a quality board of directors, sound internal control, principles
and practices and transparency and accountability to all
shareholders of the Company. The Company has complied with
the CG Code throughout the accounting period covered by this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2019, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including five executive directors, one non-executive director
and three independent non-executive directors.

The brief biographical details of the Directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 8
to 12 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills and experience
which can meet the requirements of the business of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All Directors have made
full and active contribution to the affairs of the Board and the
Board has always acted in the best interests of the Group.

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key
corporate strategy and policy and contractual commitments.
Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the
Group with divisional heads responsible for different aspects of
the business.

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditor, is set out on pages 62 to 70 of the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four board
meetings. The attendance of the Directors at the board
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meetings was as follows:

Number of

attendance
Directors BE= R E
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNEEE (S8FE) 5/5
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 5/5
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BREEE (BIF/E) 5/5
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) RARBISE (TTHAAZ) 5/5
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REHNFTAE 5/5
Mr. Ng Sze Ping RBESLAE 2/2
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkBITES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA o 5/5
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam E XA 5/5
Mr. Wong See King =R E 5/5

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board meeting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2019, the Directors participated in the
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following trainings: 5l -
Seminar/course Reading
attended materials
Directors BEx HE R E/RE Be & A R
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung SNELEE v
(Honorary Chairman) (HF8FE)
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BShREE (£/F) v v
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BstanE (BlEE) v
(Vice-chairman)
Mr. Leung Pak Yan 2BEAKE v
(Chief Executive Officer) (7T ABE,)
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REBEHFTE v v
Mr. Ng Sze Ping REBESLAE v v
Independent Non-Executive BYHHITES
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA v
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B A v
Mr. Wong See King =RBELE v



CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2019, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Leung Pak Yan was the Chief Executive Officer, of which the
roles are separated and not performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive directors provide a wide range of expertise
and experience as well as checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. Their
participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company. According
to Bye-law 102(A) of the Bye-laws of the Company, director
appointed to fill any casual vacancy shall hold office only
until the next annual general meeting after their appointment
and shall be subject to re-election by the shareholders of the
Company. According to Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the
Company, one-third of the directors for the time being shall
retire from office by rotation (except Chairman or Managing
Director) and shall be eligible for re-election at each annual
general meeting.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company were established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances,
at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
currently comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit,
Sam and Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review of the Group’s financial statements. The
Committee is also provided with other resources to enable it to
discharge its duties fully.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditor was in attendance. The attendance records
of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in the table
below:
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BEMLE - BREE QRSO E B EE
SR :

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HESR B/

Directors BEx HERRE
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BEREEE (X/FE) 2/2
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BNt 2/2
Mr. Wong See King BREEE 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the auditor of the Company,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and has discussed auditing, internal controls and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2019.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered was as follows:

EZZEGCBAEARREEERARFZ
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2019 2018

—E-hEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

Audit fee ZE R 3,827 3,680
Non-audit service fees* EZEAR 5 145 580
Total wEt 3,972 4,260
* Non-audit services include taxation compliance and other *  FFERERBEEHL G R LEHABRER

professional services provided in connection with the proposed
disposal of equity interests in Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprises Co.,
Ltd.

The Audit Committee had concluded that it was satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held one
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meeting. The attendance records of the members of the EHAKELFBE T :
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:

Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HESE 8/

Directors = HEBRE
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) E XS E (FE) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE L 11
Mr. Wong See King BREAE 11

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. A set of written terms
of reference, which describes the authority and duties of the
Remuneration Committee, was adopted by the Board on 1
April 2005, amended and restated on 26 March 2012 and the
contents of which are in compliance with the code provisions of
the CG Code.

During the year 2019, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Committee also formulated and evaluated the remuneration
policy and structure for the directors and senior management of
the Company.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of the members of senior management by band
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for the year ended 31 March 2019 is set out below: REWERE D 2 REBABNHEH
LU

Number of

Individuals

AE

Up to HK$1,000,000 % $1,000,000/% 7T 7
HK$1,000,001 — HK$2,000,000 1,000,001/ 7T 22,000,000/ 7T 3
HK$2,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 2,000,001/ 75 £5,000,000/% 7T 3

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March
2012. The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of Directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive director
and three independent non-executive directors, including Mr.
Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See King.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.
The attendance records of the members of the Nomination
Committee are set out in the table below:

RAEZEG )
EN BAEERRE-Ke% ELEEe
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Number of
meetings
attended/

Total number

of meetings

HEERRE/

Directors BE= BEBRE
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 11
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA 11
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam &S 11
Mr. Wong See King HEEREBEE 11

A set of new written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Ng Yan Kwong,
who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Director
of the Company. He holds a Bachelor's degree in Commerce
of the University of Newcastle in Australia and is a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and the CPA Australia. Mr. Ng has complied with Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the year.
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INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations of
such companies. The management of each business area is
accountable for these operation and performance of the business
under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts reviews of
the effectiveness of the system of internal controls as well as the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the accounting and financial reporting functions, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management system of the Group covering all
material control including financial, operational controls and risk
management pursuant to the Codes and considered that all the
material internal controls and risk management in the Group
were adequate and effective during the year. The Board will keep
review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems on a regular basis to ensure that the
systems in place are adequate.

COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i) updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS (Continued)

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors;

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company; and

(v)  the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written request to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at annual general
meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders of the
Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall be on the written requisition of shareholders
of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the
requisition in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at the SGM, forthwith proceed duly to convene the
SGM (“Requisition”). The Requisition, which may consist
of several documents in like form each signed by one or
more requisitionists, must state the objects of the SGM and
deposited at the Company’s head office and principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL H R 0T 73 B R BR 4 ok & (TR R
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)  ® M K& 1) ()
(Continued)

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a 1REERKEREE S REEDRZEERIA
result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall E&MESZFMEAERST HARARQ AR
be reimbursed to them by the Company. BEELFE-

Attendance of the Directors at the last annual general meetng ZFER_Z— \FN\AZ-F+HtHETZ X

which was held on 27 August 2018 was as follows: BRRBAFRGHEEFROT
Number of

attendance
Directors BE= R E
Non-Executive Director FHITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNBEE (E8FE) 11
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 11
Mr. Ma, Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) BRSEE (FFE) 11
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) RBERSE (TTEAEE) 11
Mr. Ng, Yan Kwong REHNFTAE 11
Mr. Ng Sze Ping RBELAE 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BYkHITES
Mr. Lo, Ming Chi, Charles B AL -
Mr. Lo, Man Kit, Sam B L E -/1

Mr. Wong, See King HERBEE 11
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PROPERTY

Turnover for property segment for the year ended 31 March
2019 was HK$114,487,000 (2018: HK$119,535,000),
decreased by 4% from last year. Segment profit was
HK$293,770,000 (2018: HK$453,576,000), decreased by
35% from last year. Excluding the property revaluation gain
and the loss on sale of Hunan property business and related
taxes and expenses in last year, and the exchange difference
of the related receivable at year end, segment operating profit
was HK$55,054,000 (2018: HK$114,156,000), decreased
by 52% from last year. The slight decrease in turnover was
mainly due to the offset of the current year’s increase in rental
income by the property sales of the remaining Hunan Grand
Lake City residential units before the disposal of the Hunan
property project last year. The decrease in segment profit was
mainly due to the booking of the large property sales revenue
and profit by the Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town
project last year.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project was
fully completed. The east tower of six storeys and two levels
of basement with a total floor area of 109,000 sg.m. home
furniture and building materials centre was entirely opened for
business. The west tower and north tower with a total area of
164,000 sg.m. of community dining and shopping mall were
also opened for business in December 2018. The overall rent-
out rate for the east, west and north towers was 65%. During
the year, our associate South China International Purchasing
Exchange Centre Limited recorded property sales income of
HK$16,759,000 from the remaining units of the 41,611 sq.m.
total saleable area, significantly decreased by HK$431,443,000
from last year.
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Dongguan Home Town Project
RERELEES

Home Town Community Shopping Mall Home Town Furniture and Building Materials Mall
KELEFEEZBENFR L FKEATEESRKEREMHR L

Red Star Macalline International Home Home Town apartments which were all sold out

Furniture Mall during the year
AEXIEERRELEES RELXEESABENRFRELMEE
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For other investment properties, rental income for the
year ended 31 March 2019 was HK$88,764,000 (2018:
HK$82,706,000), an increase of HK$6,058,000 or 7% from
last year. This was mainly attributable to the continuing growth
in the rental income of the investment properties in both Hong
Kong and the Mainland. During the year, there were various
newly acquired residential units and commercial shops being
rented out in Hong Kong, which has generated an additional
rental income of approximately HK$3,445,000. Also, the
investment properties in the Mainland, mainly Shenzhen
have recorded an increase in rental income of approximately
HK$2,613,000 from last year. The Group is currently
undergoing a reorganization of the tenant mix of the first floor
of the Carrianna Square shopping mall, which is expected to
complete in the third quarter of 2019. The reorganization will
bring higher rental income to the property.

On 26 October 2018, the Group entered into a pre-sale
agreement with Vanke Group’s affiliate Guangzhou Wanche
Property Company Limited (EM & BEEBR QA to
purchase a 13 storeys commercial building being constructed
at the central district of the Guangzhou South high speed
train station (“Guangzhou South Station Property”) in Panyu,
Guangzhou. The building comprises the ground floor lobby,
all office units from 3rd to 13th floors and 75 car parking
spaces in the basement level. The total gross floor area of
the office units is 9,203 sg.m. The purchase consideration is
approximately HK$266,220,000. The Group has paid 60%
of the consideration, with the balance to be settled before
handover of the building upon completion. Construction of the
Guangzhou South Station Property will be completed in the
fourth quarter of 2020. After completion, it will become one of
the high grade commercial buildings at the Guangzhou South
Station and will bring good rental income to the Group.
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Shenzhen Carrianna Friendship Square Shopping Mall
RIVEB PR EES

The Group’s investment properties continue
to provide satisfactory rental income

SERENFBERFERIFBASIKRE

Substantially completed commercial building
at Guangzhou South High Speed Train Station
R EMNSE R EEARNED HIE
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On 28 March 2018, the Group entered into an agreement
to subscribe for 50% equity interest in Grand Creation
Development Limited (“Grand Creation”). The principal
business of Grand Creation is the property re-development
project at Haitan Street. The project is situated at 223-225A
Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po, with a site area of 4,729 sq.ft.,
buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft., and saleable floor
area of approximately 34,400 sq.ft. As at 31 May 2019,
Grand Creation has successfully acquired more than 90%
of the property ownership, and it is expected all the units
will be acquired and vacated in July 2019. Preparation for
the demolition works has begun. Construction works will
commence in the second half of 2019 and it is expected to
complete in mid-2022. The total commitment of the Group to
the project is approximately HK$170,000,000. The Group has
incurred approximately HK$113,534,000 in the project as at 31
March 2019.

On 24 May 2019, the Group further expanded its property
development business in Hong Kong by entering into an
agreement to subscribe for 50% equity interest in Mega
Success Limited (“Mega Success”). The principal business
of Mega Success is the property re-development project at
Castle Peak Road. The project is situated at 300-306 Castle
Peak Road, Sham Shui Po with a site area of 4,709 sq.ft.,
buildable gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft., and saleable floor
area of approximately 34,300 sq.ft. As at today, Mega Success
has successfully acquired more than 85% of the property
ownership of the Phase 1 development, and it is expected
all the remaining units will be acquired by the fourth quarter
of 2019. Site investigation, hoarding and demolition works
are estimated to commence in the second quarter of 2020,
and construction works to complete by mid-2023. The total
commitment of the Group to the project is approximately
HK$200,000,000. The Group has incurred approximately
HK$139,272,000 in the project as of today.

EEBR2018F3 A28 A F VIREEISHRE AR
NE (T s0%kiE BT S XK A%
RANGBEEEEEZMETE - ZEEN
RIS 5 18 17223-225A5F + (ki E F84,729
FHR A EREmEE42,500F AR AT HE
[ 18 4934,400F 757 R - 72201945 A31 H &5
B AU BB B O0% B W) 3 £ 4 - TEERTE20194F
7R TER T A RN B o R T E
ERER ZRIEFN2019F T HFRA -

TEEA2022F 1 5ERK © SR B FE EATE 7% 18 B KR A
&4 #/170,000,0007 7T © M E B E £2019
F3H31H L ¥ 5% 1E B 2% A £9113,534,000
BIT o

RHE—STHRBEBMELRRER  S£EMR2019
FERAAREHNREERER A ([FEK])
50%MHE - ERF B EBABRRUNT ILEY
EREZMEEE - ZBEBNRAKE B ILE
300-3065% * (b b F&4,709F /5 IR » A Z4E M
842,400 5 R + 7] B & A& %)34,300F 5
IR BATEMHE —HEEDLKIEEIB5%
B ¥ S - TEHRE2019F £ 0= E e Ak P
BRI B IS EREIFE IIE
TEETE@R2020F F _FEERMA BFTEH
ER2023F FHRTHK -EBTBHEZEE X
A& £ #17/5200,000,0008 7T MEBEHE
SREZIBEE B A4139,272,000 7T



EEREMERERAA | 2019F 1K

Business Review

3 I B

Newly opened Dongguan Carrianna Restaurant

AR R EEHEE

Newly opened “Chao Mei Li” Special Chao Zhou “Shunyi” Shunde Cuisine Restaurant which is very
Cuisine Restaurant in Shenzhen popular in Shenzhen
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Foshan Carrianna Hotel Yiyang Carrianna International Hotel
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RESTAURANT, FOOD AND HOTEL

Turnover of restaurant, food and hotel segment for the
year ended 31 March 2019 was HK$855,723,000 (2018:
HK$813,085,000), increased by 5% from last year. Segment
profit was HK$93,795,000 (2018: HK$98,809,000), decreased
by 5% from last year. Restaurant and food businesses
continued to record growth in sales revenue during the year,
while hotel business sales revenue decreased slightly as
compared to last year. For operating results, the food business
continued to have satisfactory growth, but the restaurant and
hotel businesses recorded decreased operating results which
offset the profit growth of the food business.

Restaurant turnover for the year was HK$424,155,000 (2018:
HK$403,569,000), an increase of HK$20,586,000 or 5% from
last year. Both Carrianna restaurant Group and Delicious Group
recorded increase in sales revenue during the year. In addition,
the “ZZhang” Korean food restaurant and “V. THAI” Thai food
restaurant, which were newly opened in Causeway Bay in
September 2017 recorded growth in revenue and contributed
an increase of HK$6,166,000 in revenue over last year.

There was an increase in sales revenue of Carrianna restaurant
Group of 6% over last year, which was mainly resulted from
the Carrianna restaurant in Hong Kong and the newly opened
Carrianna restaurant in Dongguan. Operating results decreased
due to the additional pre-operating expenses in opening new
shops. In addition, in November 2018, the Group acquired
60% interest in 3 “Chao Mei Li"(j#1§ £ ) branded Chao
Zhou cuisine restaurants as a trial attempt to enter the small
Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant business. At present, Carrianna
restaurant Group operates 9 “Carrianna” Chao Zhou cuisine
restaurants, 1 “ShunYi”(IEE.) Shunde cuisine restaurant and
3 “Chao Mei Li"(j#18 & ) small Chao Zhou cuisine restaurants.
The Group plans to open 1 more “ShunYi’(JlE & ) Shunde
cuisine restaurant at 2019 year end and Carrianna restaurant
business will sustain a steady growth.
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Newly opened Gustation Restaurant at Metro City,
Tseung Kwan O
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Newly renovated Delicious Restaurant at Yau Ma Tei
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Newly renovated Empery Bakery at Fanling Town
Centre
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Newly opened Gusto Restaurant at Wo Che Estate,
Shatin
ROBREBWBHRAXNERETE

Newly opened King Noodle Shop at Jordan
P BT A 25 A0 HE 2 4 £

Newly opened V28 Bakery at Shun Lee Estate,
Kwun Tong
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The Hong Kong Delicious Group opened 3 new restaurants
and closed down 3 loss making restaurants upon lease
expiry during the year. As at 31 March 2019, Delicious Group
operated 22 restaurants in Hong Kong, which included 18
Hong Kong style “Cha Chaan Teng”(ZX % B2) restaurants
under the trade names “Delicious”(¥k £ ), “Gustation”( 1&g
IK) and “Gusto” (%4 K& ), and 4 northern Chinese style
noodle shops, branded “King Noodle” ($i £ ) . Delicious Group
recorded a slight turnover growth of 2% from last year. Due to
increased competition in the Hong Kong mass market catering
sector, some of the shops recorded decrease in revenue from
last year. In the coming year, Delicious Group will continue to
control costs, reduce shop losses, increase overall profit and
restrict new openings to 2 to 3 shops.

Food business turnover for the year was HK$380,223,000
(2018: HK$354,518,000), increased by HK$25,705,000 or
7% from last year. The growth in food business turnover
mainly came from Carrianna mooncake sales, which was
11% higher than last year. Hainan, Shenzhen and Kunming
markets all recorded satisfactory turnover and profit growth.
The construction of the new Hainan food factory was largely
completed and has commenced operation. The factory will
increase the production of mooncakes, and besides, will make
bread, packaged Hainan-style food and Chinese-style dry meat
products, which will be a new contribution to the growth of the
Group’s food business.

Profit Smart Group’s turnover had a slight decrease of 1% from
last year due to the close-down of 3 loss making shops. Its
operating results also decreased from last year. In the coming
year, management will try to improve sales by introducing new
products in the retails shops. At the same time, management
may consider to close down 1 to 2 loss making shops in the
coming year. On the other hand, the factory’s direct sales
business recorded satisfactory growth in both revenue and
profit.

Turnover of hotel business for the year was HK$51,345,000
(2018: HK$54,998,000), decreased by 7% from last year. The
operating loss of the two hotels also increased from last year.
The decrease was mainly due to the unsatisfactory operating
results from the food and beverage division of both Foshan
Carrianna Hotel and Carrianna Yiyang Hotel, despite the
satisfactory room rental business. Management will work hard
to improve the overall results of the hotels through tighter cost
control and rendering of better services.
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Food Factory in Hainan has commenced production
BERMBERBEE

Advanced production facilities of Food Factory in Hainan
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Well known Carrianna mooncake products
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OVERALL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group’s turnover
was HK$970,210,000 (2018: HK$932,620,000), increased by
4% compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$277,958,000 (2018: HK$317,017,000),
reduced by 12% from last year. Excluding property revaluation
gain and related taxes of the Group and attributable to
associates of HK$294,057,000, and the loss on sale of Hunan
property business and related taxes and expenses in last
year and the exchange difference of the related receivable at
year end of HK$51,436,000, operating profit attributable to
shareholders was HK$35,337,000 (2018: HK$70,301,000),
decreased by 50% from last year. The increase in turnover
was due to satisfactory growth from rental income and the
restaurant and food businesses which more than offset
reduction in revenue from hotel business and property sales.
Decrease in operating profit attributable to shareholders was
mainly due to the booking of the large property sales revenue
and profit by the Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town
project last year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to HK$126,259,000 (2018: HK$348,950,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and United States dollars of HK$60,424,000, HK$65,743,000
and HK$92,000 respectively. The Group’s free cash and
bank balances, structured deposits, and derivative financial
instrument were HK$127,117,000 (2018: HK$473,353,000).

The Group’s total borrowings amounted to HK$1,284,942,000
(2018: HK$1,157,968,000) comprised interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and finance lease payable. All interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings bear interest at floating
rates. Netting off cash deposits pledged for borrowings, the
Group’s net total borrowings were HK$1,239,530,000 (2018:
HK$1,113,799,000). Net total borrowings less free cash and
bank balances, structured deposits and derivative financial
instrument were HK$1,112,413,000 (2018: HK$640,446,000).
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The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, net of cash and
cash equivalents, structured deposits, restricted cash and
pledged time deposits as a percentage of the Group’s total
equity, was approximately 29% (2018: 16%).

The Group adopts conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS

On 26 October 2018, the Company entered into a pre-sale
agreement as purchaser with Guangzhou Wanche Property
Company Limited (BN T & #EHEBR A F ) as Vendor,
to purchase a property, being the lobby on the ground level, all
office units from 3rd to 13th floor and 75 car parking spaces
in basement level 1 to level 3 of the Building (which comprises
13 storeys above the ground) to be constructed on the Land,
being land number 4 on the northeast corner of the intersection
between Shixing Road South and Shuangchong Road at the
southeast of the Guangzhounan (Guangzhou South) Railway
Station Core District, located at Shibi Village, Zhongcun Town,
Panyu District, Guangzhou, PRC (# B & /N 1 & & & & 1
8RO BE A B N Eg vh A% 0 [ R R AR G B K IE g B R B AT SR
BEERAL A4FEHIR ) . The gross floor area of the office units
is 9,208 sg. m. and the consideration for the acquisition is
approximately RMB235,593,000 (equivalent to approximately
HKD266,220,000), payable by instalments (Please see
Company’s announcement dated 26 October 2018).

On 24 May 2019, Goldfield Properties Limited (“Goldfield”)
(an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Fine
Star Holdings Limited (“Fine Star”) and Mega Success Limited
(“Mega Success”) entered into a shareholders agreement,
pursuant to which (a) Goldfield will subscribe for 100 shares,
being 50% of the total issued share capital, of Mega Success
and (b) Goldfield and Fine Star agree to manage and operate
the property development project of Mega Success at
Castle Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong in accordance
with the terms of the agreement. It is expected that the total
capital commitments of Goldfield towards Mega Success
for the property development project will be approximately
HK$200,000,000 (Please see Company’s announcement dated
24 May 2019).
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Contingent liabilities and future commitment

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$6,144,000 (2018: HK$13,675,000).

Charges on the Group’s Assets

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties,
properties held for sale, time deposits and financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss with a total carrying value of
approximately HK$1,943,288,000 (2018: HK$1,970,549,000)
were pledged to secure general banking, trade finance and
other facilities granted to the Group. In addition, rental income
generated in respect of certain investment properties of the
Group was assigned to banks to secure loan facilities granted
to the Group.

Foreign exchange exposure

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions as at 31 March 2019 and for the year ended
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi,
respectively. Majority of the sales, purchases and expenditure
incurred by the operating units of the Group during the year
were denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a
result, the Group does not anticipate significant transactional
currency exposures, except for the outstanding consideration
receivable in relation to the disposal of Hunan Carrianna
Group of approximately RMB466,360,000 (equivalent to
HK$544,335,000) as at the reporting date. The Group has not
used any derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign currency
risk.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 1,100 employees
in Hong Kong and approximately 1,100 employees outside
Hong Kong (Mainland China). Employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Business and Financial Review set out on pages 26 to 38 of
this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 71 to 260.

The Directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK3 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March
2019. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be
paid on or before 11 October 2019.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Wednesday, 21 August 2019 to Monday, 26 August 2019, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 August,
2019.

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Monday, 23 September 2019 to Friday, 27 September
2019, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 September 2019.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The table set out below summarises the results, assets,
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

BB B R E

TRES AR EEE AN REEZE R0
R4 AE - BERITRES  HER A A
EEEERABRE LA ELTEAE
ERHBARZBS -

Year ended 31 March/At 31 March
HE=A=t+-ALEE /R=A=1-H

2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“E-NE ZE-\F§ ZET—t4§ ZT—RE CZT-1%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TET TEL
RESULTS E
REVENUE KA 970,210 932,620 867,468 867,178 670,292
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 300,720 331,402 149,725 134,426 157,263
Attrioutable to: B
Owners of the parent [SYNGIEZ=PN 277,958 317,017 127,446 121,030 120,744
Non-controlling interests FEERER 22,762 14,385 22,279 13,396 36,519
300,720 331,402 149,725 134,426 157,263
ASSETS, LIABILITES ANDNON-  BE -8fR
CONTROLLING INTERESTS FERER
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,261,702 6,306,272 6,084,115 5,834,498 6,263,881
TOTAL LIABILITIES “weg (2,431,636)  (2,348,599)  (2,554,531)  (2,299,906)  (2,446,308)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS iR #E% 39,744 (215) (90,728) (96,744) (183,263)
3,869,810 3,957,458 3,438,856 3,437,848 3,634,315




SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2019.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2019, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision of The
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to approximately
HK$215,306,000, of which approximately HK$37,713,000
has been proposed as final dividend for the year. In addition,
the amount of approximately HK$1,397,359,000 previously
included in the Company’s share premium account may be
distributed in the form of fully-paid bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling approximately HK$534,000 (2018: HK$717,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders, which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares, had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report
conducted by a professional third party will be published in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Non Executive Director:
Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman®)
Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
Ng Yan Kwong

Ng Sze Ping (appointed on 19 July 2018)

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam

Wong See King

* since 28 June 2019
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DIRECTORS (Continued)

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Leung Pak Yan will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Wong See King will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr.
Lo Man Kit, Sam will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as the date of this report still considers them to
be independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 8 to 12 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Leung Pak Yan, Mr. Ng Yan Kwong and Mr. Ng Sze Ping
had entered into a service contract with the Company. The
contract has no fixed terms of engagement and is subject to
retirement by rotation as required by the Company’s Bye-laws
and termination by either party giving three months’ notice in
writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John had no service contract with the Company as at the end
of the reporting period.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

(Continued)

The non-executive directors of the Company have been
appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2019 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executives’ interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ EHERFERABRN KD KM
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN ER A X ¥
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests and short positions of the W-ZE—AF=A=+—8B ARG ZESE
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, NMEZ/THRA B8R ARQE sk E AT {82 A F)
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of (F&ER (BEHFLHEEEE) ([ (BEMPE
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of  {&5I) 1)EXVEL) 2 i BRI MK M & AT+
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”) as recorded A Z X KA R  BELRANRAGIRE (&
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant % R EIEEH]) FEI2ERMEBATEE 2 ER
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the iR : SR 1% F TR B 2 HZ#E<FBIZBE B1TH
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model &R QR MBI ZEZEIABIT
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) The Company (@) A2
Underlying Percentage
Number of ordinary shares held shares of the
and nature of interests pursuant to Company’s
Capacity/ Personal Family Other  share options issued share
Name of director nature of interests interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REEREZ HALT
BREERROEARERENE HERG#E BRTRE
BEpng B/ BEME BAES EQY 4 Hipi s (Fi3E1) At Bl
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, 247,130,421 7,050,000 259,129,025 - 513,309,446 (1) 40.83
ENE security interest in shares, (note 2) (note 3)
interest of spouse and GEZ) GER)
beneficiary of trust
ERAAA ERRDER
REEERERREA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, 104,685,149 3,200,000 101,201,040 1,200,000 210,286,189 (L) 16.73
SN security interest in shares, (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
interest of spouse and GED (Bt =E576)
beneficiary of trust

BaEEA ERRER
ERREREEXEA

Leung Pak Yan Beneficial owner - - - 9,000,000 9,000,000 (L) 0.72
28R EREAA
Ng Yan Kwong Beneﬁfial owner 13,000,000 - - 2,000,000 15,000,000 (L) 1.19
REK E&EBA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 580,000 2,044,000 - - 2,624,000 (L) 0.21
et interest of spouse (note 7)
EnlR AREBER (Mi3E7)
Ng Sze Ping Interest of spouse - 126,428,754 - - 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.98
REER REEs (note 8)
ik

L - Long position & &
S — Short position X &
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)
(a) The Company (continued) (a)

Notes:

(1) The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the Directors and senior executive under the
Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the Company,
further details of which are set out in note 36 to the
financial statements.

(2)  The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

(8 Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

(4)  The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

(5) Ma Kai Yum and his family are the objects of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

(6)  Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

(7)  The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.

(8) The shares were owned by Rainbow Choice Holding
Group Limited, a company wholly-owned by Chen Chu
Zhen, the spouse of Ng Sze Ping, of which 62,714,377
shares were charged in favour of Ma Kai Cheung, and
62,714,377 shares were charged in favour of Ma Kai Yum.
These charged shares were included respectively in the
amounts of personal interests of Ma Kai Cheung and Ma
Kai Yum.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(b) K E 2

Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share

Name of Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary director Capacity shares held (L) shares shares)
) P
ERTRABDN
WEAREE EBpE 54 FiERO#E L) R 40 & R (EBR)
Ginza Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 2.5
Company Limited
EUEERBRATF BNE ERBAA gl
Ginza Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Company Limited
EVHEREBRLA BN FERAXHEA LiEk
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited deferred
FREREABR AT BENE ERBEBA BRERE TEA
B
Gartrend Development Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
Limited deferred
FRERARAA BN ERBEBA BRERE TEA
ERERD
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
BNE ERfBA BRERE TR
RERG
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
BN ERBEBA BRER TER
BRI
EBEERRM Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BRAT
BNE ExEBA TNEA TER

L - Long position &F &
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as detailed in note 46 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company terminated the 2005 Option
Scheme and adopted a new share option scheme (the “2015
Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10 years.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the Option Scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Participants of the Option Scheme

The eligible participants are eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

3.

Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 31
March 2019

The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2015 Option Scheme was 125,388,753 shares
representing 9.97% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2019.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group including the 2005 Option
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant in any twelve (12)-month
period shall not exceed one per cent. (1%) of the
issued share capital of the Company for the time being
(“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options in excess
of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month period
up to and including the date of such further grant shall
be subject to the issue of a circular to the shareholders
and the shareholders’ approval in general meeting of
the Company with such participant and his associates
abstaining from voting. The number and terms (including
the exercise price) of the options to be granted to such
participant must be fixed before the shareholders’
approval and the date of board meeting for proposing
such further grant should be taken as the date of grant for
the purpose of calculating the exercise price under note
(1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not be
deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an option.

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

7. The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
options (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) Business Days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares.

8. The remaining life of the 2015 Option Scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfilment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had 14,200,000 share
options outstanding pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION FRBERESSNE R 9
SCHEMES (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s FXRIBEBFARARNRGRIE - T — A FHEE
share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme =T &|IE T M ATT(F 2 BEAEE F)
during the year:

Number of share options
BREHE

Cancelled/ Date of Exercise
At1 Granted  Exercised forfeited At 31 grant of Exercise price of At grant
April during during during March share period of share date of
2018  the period  the period  the period 2019 options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
" , HKS per share  HKS per share
“E-)0\% R RER REA —R-hE B TEBRE TEBRE RERE
mA-H i 8 BHE/RK ZA=+-B  BRERH il B RHZAM
(K1) (B3i2) o
BRET BRET
Executive Directors
HTES
Mr. Ma Kai Yum 1,200,000 - - - 1,200,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
BNk E 15-10-2020
Mr. Leung Pak Yan 3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2016 to 0.81 0.81
RERRE 31-7-2020
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2017 o 0.81 0.81
31-7-2021
3,000,000 - - - 3,000,000 16-10-2015 1-8-2018 to 0.81 0.81
31-7-2022
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
REXEE 15-10-2020
12,200,000 - - - 12,200,000
Other employees 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
HtbER 15-10-2020
1,300,000 - (1,000,000) (300,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2016 to 0.81 0.81
15-10-2019
1,300,000 - (1,000,000) (300,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2017 to 0.81 0.81
15-10-2020
1,300,000 - - (1,300,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2018 to 0.81 0.81
15-10-2021
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2019 o 0.81 0.81
15-10-2022
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2020 to 0.81 0.81
15-10-2023
7,900,000 - (20000000 (3,900,000 2,000,000
In aggregate
& 20,100,000 - (2,000,000) (3,900,000) 14,200,000
Notes: B AT

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the 1.  BEMRER FHEFMNERE SRR HE BETE
grant until the commencement of the exercise period. BEETHEHOMSGA -

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment 2. BEIIER 1T B 2 X B 03 1T I HE IR R 3%
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in AR - SR A B AR AN R ) 5 B 3 2 o
the Company’s share capital.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEMES (Continued)

Save as disclosed above during the period under review,
no options under the 2015 Option Scheme were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2019, the Company had 14,200,000 share
options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme. Should
they be fully exercised, the Company will receive approximately
HK$11,502,000 (before issue expenses). The fair value of these
unexercised options measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial statements)
amounted to approximately HK$3,855,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2019, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the Directors, the following persons or corporations
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which was required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO:

T M R R B ORE (a0

B EdFEEEN REERRE —F-0F
B EI R T BRI EETE
R o

R-ZEZ—NAF=ZA=+—HB RBE-_ZT—F
FREARMERT &) - KA R 14,200,00017 B AR 1
B ARTTIE o Wi i SR EITE - AJA R RHE IR
5 4911,502,0007% 7T (R #EITH X AI) <% %
iH ARATEE BB AR 2 A F(E 493,855,000/ 7T T
BIBEAEE 2 HBURE = (M MK T
2.4)

T ® ik K

RZB-NF=ZA=1t—H REXQFZ
(BHLHEERD) F336FFE2ELMA
FrR ARESFAA - T ALHARER
REZBD RABRDEERESIOAE L
AR (EHFRHERE) EXVERE27 8 &
E3D EWEALRFEHIKE

Number of Percentage of the
Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued
Name of shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital
=] EARRAT
TERR 27V +:1:3-1 B & AREBRYA ERTRATHL
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, a 518,309,446 (L) 40.83
SNE security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
ExEAA BRR
s BB ER
RERXHA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, b 210,286,189 (L) 16.78
BN security interest

in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
ExEAA BRR
i BEER
RERXHA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued) ¥ % & % ()

Number of Percentage of the
Capacity/ ordinary Company'’s issued
Name of shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital
2] BART
TERR 517/ EntE B aE AREBRHA ERTRABHL
East Asia International Trustees Trustee c 360,330,065 (L) 28.66
Limited (TN
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled d 259,129,025 (L) 20.61
corporations
XEARER
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation d 184,121,625 (L) 14.65
BEEERAT
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled e 101,201,040 (L) 8.05
corporations
XEARER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation d 75,007,400 (L) 5.97
BEEERAT
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation e 74,651,040 (L) 5.94
BEEERAT
Rainbow Choice Holding Beneficial owner f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.98
Group Limited EnEAA
FREREEBRAQA
Chen Chu Zhen Interest in controlled f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.98
R g corporation
XENFE R
Ng Sze Ping Interest of spouse f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.98
REE Ao (B &=

L — Long position #F &
S — Short position & &
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes:

a.

The 513,309,446 shares comprised:
i. 184,416,044 shares owned by Mr. Ma Kai Cheung;

i interest in 7,050,000 shares owned by Ms. Cheung Lin
Kiu, the spouse of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung;

iii interest in 259,129,025 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and
his family are the beneficiaries (same block of shares
disclosed in (d) below); and

iv interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Mr. Ma
Kai Cheung (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

The 210,286,189 shares comprised:
i 41,970,772 shares owned by Mr. Ma Kai Yumn;

i interest in 3,200,000 shares owned by Ms. Kwok Kit Mei,
the spouse of Mr. Ma Kai Yum;

iii interest in 101,201,040 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Yum and his family
are the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (g)
below);

iv interest in 1,200,000 underlying shares pursuant to
options granted under the Share Option Scheme to
acquire shares of the Company; and

\ interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Mr. Ma
Kai Yum (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

East Asia International Trustees Limited (“EAIT”) is the trustee of
a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden
Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”), EAIT was indirectly
interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Mr. Ma Kai Yum
and his family are the objects and through its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Wealthy Platform Limited (‘Wealthy Platform”), EAIT
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company.
As at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively
interested in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.
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East Asia International Trustees Limited
(TEAT ) ABNEEERERKIEAR
HAMKIH—BE2EELHELA L
B E 2 B B A FGolden Yield Holdings
Limited ([Golden Yield ]) M EE# A A D
A]259,129,025[% % 17 © Itk 5N+ EAITIR B B &
ENREERERKIEAT T AMKILAL
—EHEEEANETA TERAEZ2EN
J& A & Wealthy Platform Limited ([ Wealthy
Platform | ) i &2 # A A< 2 §]101,201,0400%
B 7 RIREHIR EATEZBEBEA AT A K
360,330,065 A 17 °



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World and
Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in “Other
interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirect owning the entire
issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful World,
was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the Company.
The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful World and
Real Potential are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Mr. Ma Kai Yum under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited (“Rainbow Choice”)
is wholly owned by Ms. Chen Chu Zhen, the spouse of Mr.
Ng Sze Ping. 62,714,377 shares in the issued share capital of
Rainbow Choice were charged in favour of Ma Kai Cheung and
62,714,377 shares were charged in favour of Ma Kai Yum.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2019,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATION OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF
CHAPTER 13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:

7B b ko e B MR R 2 4 E J AT
REZ®E (51 =% $13.18f%)

TIETAEEER 2 AR EARR ZE
B RARERITEE:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2019 banking facilities obligations
HK$’'000
R-E-NAE=A=+—H BITERBREIBA HEBITELE
REBRITERERE
FHET
118,706 12 August 2021 (Note)
—E-—®/\A+=H ()

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding 40.83% shareholding interest in
the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding 16.73% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain a total of at least 42% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which
need to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of
the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in
this annual report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 46 to the consolidated financial statements

contained in this annual report is a connected transaction.

BeE:
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by Directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard under the
Model Code for the year ended 31 March 2019.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 13 to 25.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The audit committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2019.
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Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

According to the Corporate Governance Code, the Company
has established its Remuneration Committee in April 2005.
The Remuneration Committee comprises three independent
non-executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Man
Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles and Mr. Wong
See King. A set of written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the remuneration committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012.

The Remuneration Committee’s objectives are to establish and
maintain an appropriate and competitive level of remuneration
to attract, retain and motivate directors and key executives to
run the Company successfully. The Remuneration Committee
will ensure that the remuneration policies and systems of the
Group support the Group’s objective and strategies.

The remuneration details of directors during the year are set out
in note 8 to the financial statements.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive
director and three independent non-executive directors of
the Company, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman), Mr. Lo
Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendation to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Board confirmed that the Company has received from
each of its independent non-executive directors an annual
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and still considers all of the independent non-
executive directors to be independent.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholders’ value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B 52 ¥ R o

e
EY:

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 71 to 260,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2019, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BEEREEZRERLQT
BT AR R
(REREZELMAELZ HERLA])

ER

AAZERED (AT RS TR ) EFZVERE
TME260B 2 EEMEBIERBER AR ([E
rEl ) REMBAR ([EEE]) NERE M
WK WEREUBERERBER-_ZE—NEF=
A=+ —HMEGREBRAREHZ=ZA b
FENGEERER HFEAE2EBRARE K46
EREHRNGEEERER UREKEH
BHREKE AEETEStBRRBE-

BRRR ZRAMBEBRREREF LGSR
GRMZ (FBMBHRSEL) EEMAF
kg EKRER-_F-NAF=ZA=1+—H8
WA BRRARBEZ A LFENGS
MBRBAMGAESRE UERREB (A
AP WREREL SRS -



BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (‘HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’'s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfiled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statermnents section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
LA QR

B

HMEREBEGTASRMZ (FER
R EITRZ - RIPVERFERIR TAA
BE2EENEIRERLUMAF LA SN EH
KAREZ BT —HNE— T - RIEFE
SRR SBM c EX BT A& TR ([5F
A1) - BABYLR BEXE YCOETTRH
ME M R BEEE - HFIAE - RIIFTER
ZEZBRBRARLEEWA/EMzERRE
AR -

CE 3% 3

MRBEZERDIRERMANEXZHE  RAY
TG EMBRRZBERRER ZER-
BUEERNERMELERGEASV BRI R
HABREETERIEN MEMIEHELS
HEHERNER B TISEEFENS - &
PIsLE B HIF L B 2 BRI A XX 1R

RMERBTTABRELHUMAF A SN EH
KAFREZEF -GNz EE BREZS
FHRAMCEE - RAZEZBREAT
Prasatmigfr - MEH MRS B HRi+
BERERRARER G -RPI2EZERF
(BREAEETHEEMERRZERF) &R
BEMEBERGRAMBREMERZELE
SIRHLERE -




Independent Auditor’s Report
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
AREXER

B F T (8

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BMzERNMEERREREE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”)

G ERAYERIFIEHEYF (7 [WE]).Z A
B FEE

The Group had properties under development
and properties held for sale of approximately
HK$366,912,000 and HK$527,622,000, respectively,
as at 31 March 2019.

RZZE-NE=R=+—H EBE&BEZEEH
W R ER &Y E 5 Rl %) /R366,912,000/8 7T &
527,622,000/ It ©

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable value of the Properties of the Group is
highly dependent on management’s judgements and
estimates, including the estimated selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, the estimated selling
expenses and the expected costs to be incurred to
completion.

MERKARTERFERNEP 2REEAR-E
T OEEEYEZAERFESEKRKBEERE
B & e BN BB EBRIER 2B EE A5
HERZ REPTIH TES 2GR AR

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of net realisable values of the Properties
included, among others, the following:

B BOE AR FEMETZEREFE
BH(HEPEE)ATRE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;
o  FRMEFEINEHEMETEN e KRBT

2k,
BE

o we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques,
key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuations; and

e FHFMEEFHRMzZABEEERBEKRFIFGE
HERABZEERE T2RELEAZBIE: &



KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEELER

Independent Auditor’s Report
LA QR

B ot % 2 (a0

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMzERNEERRERER

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”) (Continued)

G ERAYERIFIEHEYE (7 [WE]).Z A
B )FE (E)

The Group engaged a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers (the “external valuers”)
to perform valuations of the Properties based on
prevailing market conditions and information available
at the time of the valuations, and by applying
valuation techniques considered as appropriate, so
as to assist management in assessing whether any
write-down of the Properties to their net realisable
value is required.
EREZE-—RMBVEXSERMEEMAR ([HMNE
i ERD ) ARIBRITH R LR ER AT EE R E R
ERERRBEE 2 HEHEEYEETHE KM
MHERENHESAEME AR FEELE
fA] HORL

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BN R @R NDARAEZ EXRE T #
i M fh A RPIER R EIE -

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 22 to
the consolidated financial statements.

EREAESHNER A M B RARM E3R22

o we also assessed certain key assumptions
and estimates including, among others, (i) the
estimated selling prices of the Properties based
on prevailing market conditions by comparing
the estimated selling prices to, among others,
the recent market transactions of comparable
properties; (i) the estimated selling expenses
by comparing the historical average selling
expenses to revenue ratio; and (jii) the estimated
expected costs to be incurred to completion
for PUD by checking the estimated costs
against budgets approved by management
and examined, on a sample basis, construction
contracts and other reliable evidence available.

e HBAMTEFEETEIERRIRLMAEE B8 (Af
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

HEELER

B F T (8

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BB NEERRERER

Assessment of fair value of investment properties

FEREY R 2 FlE

The Group had investment properties of
approximately HK$1,822,580,000 as at 31 March
2019.
RZE—NF=R=+—8H"
49 41,822,580,00078 7T ©

BEEBZREME

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair
value and are revalued at the end of each reporting
period by a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers (the “external valuers”) engaged
by management of the Group. The valuation of
investment properties involves significant estimations
and assumptions, including, among others, the
estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for
the income capitalisation approach and the estimated
market price for the direct comparison approach.
EEECREMERATAEIERRERERR
B EXEEREZE B YEXSERMGER
(TOMNEEMEER ] EFHE - REVERBESIREKR
hEt RRFZ - B (AR 8 KABERLEZ hEt
HEBERERMEURBEELBEZEEME-

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

RS RERZ BN N ARAIREZEANG
i M fEE PSR R EE-

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

HRAWERNER A B RARMEIR14 -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of fair value of investment properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRTEREME L AT EMETZIERIEFE
BH(HEPEE)ATRE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;

o  HMBEEIINEGHEMZFEMN st KRBT
ks

o we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques
used and assessing the underlying key
inputs and assumptions through enquiry with
management and the external valuers and
with reference to relevant historical and market
information; and

e HBMEEFHRMZARBBEZRBGEHFER
MERERINEGHEMELEARZZERHEE
25 E R AT PR ER AR 2 (R B 77 0% KRAT ik A8
X2 AR LRR:

° we also performed market value benchmarking
against comparable properties on a sample
basis.

o HMIMEMERATTELRYEERELEGEDT
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Yat Fai, Peter.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

22/F, CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

28 June 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss

Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=-F—NWF=H=+—HIFFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FTET FHT
REVENUE WA 5 970,210 932,620
Cost of sales $HE AR (499,896) (477,427)
Gross profit EH 470,314 455,193
Other income and gains, net H U A KUz - F R 79,218 245,429
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (206,806) (203,679)
General and administrative expenses — #& 5 77 B 32 (147,680) (144,413)
Other expenses, net HEmAX 588 (55,952) (51,522)
Finance costs BF S R R 7 (53,345) (48,696)
Share of profits and losses of FE (LB & R B B N E5 18
associates 256,623 231,767
PROFIT BEFORE TAX % A 52 R 6 342,372 484,079
Income tax expense Frigfim sz 10 (41,652) (152,677)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERBRR 300,720 331,402
Attributable to: FEAG -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZFS DN 277,958 317,017
Non-controlling interests FEVERR HE 2= 22,762 14,385
300,720 331,402
HK cents HK cents
AL (L
EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEREZFEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EEERER
ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT 12
Basic R 22,12 25.27
Diluted e 22.11 25.21




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e m A wmE

Year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—hNF=HA=+—HIFE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERR 300,720 331,402
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE HitbZEKA (EE)
INCOME/(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) R HZEIRAIEHHES
that may be reclassified to profit or Bz 2z Hb2E WA~
loss in subsequent periods: (BE) :
Available-for-sale investments: AHHERE:
Changes in fair value NEEZEH - 23,624
Exchange differences: MEHER:
Exchange differences on BMEBINEBIEREZR
translation of foreign operations K& REUH M EIN
and reclassification adjustment EB BN BEAR
on disposal and deregistration of
foreign operations (146,543) 188,275
Share of other comprehensive bal el R /N=l v
income/(loss) of associates Hpz2mEmk A (EBE) (44,517) 52,666
Net other comprehensive BRERBENTENSESR
income/(loss) that may be BHRzEMEEmEA
reclassified to profit or loss in (B18) %8
subsequent periods (191,060) 264,565
Other comprehensive loss that will SR EZ BRI EFH OB
not be reclassified to profit or loss ~ ZEi8# 7 E b2 EEE -
in subsequent periods:
Equity investments designated at 5 E RBIENTFEYER
fair value through other FOH b 2 E UM A R R 12
comprehensive income: Z R E:
Changes in fair value N EEE (70,902) -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE AEEHMEE
INCOME/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR W A~ (#518) (261,962) 264,565
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE AFEERHEBAERE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR 38,758 595,967
Attributable to: AL -
Owners of the parent UNGIE X =DN 18,881 576,142
Non-controlling interests SRR R = 19,877 19,825
38,758 595,967




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EAMBRRE

31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hE —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
BT FET FHT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y% BB M 13 807,215 744,965
Investment properties WEYE 14 1,822,580 1,764,648
Prepaid land lease payments A T EE IR 15 31,315 12,954
Goodwill B 16 50,207 58,928
Other intangible assets HmpEE 17 - -
Interests in associates NN I 18 993,174 786,548
Available-for-sale investments AR ERE 19 - 295,959
Equity investment designated BEAEAFEIERER
at fair value through other REMZEHBRAFREEZ
comprehensive income BmITE 19 175,098 -
Derivative financial instrument PTESMTA 33 41 139
Properties under development BRERPYE 22 298,520 366,693
Deferred tax assets BETIREE 32 49 -
Debtors, deposits and prepayments [EUWERA - H& MFENHIE 24 304,069 426,548
Pledged time deposits EEAE TR 26 35,492 35,018
Total non-current assets EMBEEMAE 4,517,760 4,492,400
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Properties under development BREPYE 22 68,392 -
Properties held for sale HIELEMSE 22 527,622 560,536
Inventories A 23 24,220 26,212
Tax recoverable AT 4R o1 74 18 535 590
Debtors, deposits and prepayments EUWERFR - & MFENHIE 24 679,907 487,057
Due from directors JE W = = IR 25 10,498 6,661
Due from non-controlling JE W IE 5 AR AR 3R FRIR
shareholders 46(b) 206 207
Due from an associate JE Y — R B & 2 B SR IE 18 60,736 81,960
Financial assets at fair value EAFEIEREREBERT
through profit or loss BEZEREE 20 197,097 112,482
Equity investment designated EEBZATFEYERR
at fair value through other REMZEHKAFRERE
comprehensive income BmiTE 19 37,643 -
Structured deposits HEIB TR 21 817 124,264
Restricted cash PR #1382 26 90 602
Pledged time deposits EEAEEBFR 26 9,920 9,151
Cash and cash equivalents ReLRESFHEER 26 126,259 348,950
1,743,942 1,758,672
Investment properties classified DERFIEHE 2 IREYHE
as held for sale 14 - 55,200
Total current assets RBEERE 1,743,942 1,813,872




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5T FET FH&T
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade creditors BB ZEBER 27 (51,012) (45,537)
Other creditors, E M FETARSR - FERT
accruals and deposits received BRANMEWIEZSE 28 (341,790) (363,044)
Provisions B 29 (1,050) (2,037)
Due to directors FERTE B IR 46(b) (485) (5,069)
Due to non-controlling shareholders & {5 FE 42 B% I 38 7008 46(b) (22,391) (28,051)
Interest-bearing bank and M E2iRITREMEES
other borrowings 30 (976,323) (827,680)
Finance lease payables ERmERE 31 (18) (18)
Deferred income PEAEUT A 34 (35,328) (22,461)
Tax payable FERT TR (248,556) (244,486)
Total current liabilities MEREE (1,676,953) (1,538,383)
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEE 66,989 275,489
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EZELERABAER
LIABILITIES 4,584,749 4,767,889
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Accruals and deposits JEETE A RIE® (56,735) (59,539)
Interest-bearing bank and MEZiRITREMEES
other borrowings 30 (308,576) (830,227)
Finance lease payables ENEERE 31 (25) (43)
Deferred income PEAE U A 34 (142,646) (168,013)
Deferred tax liabilities BEBIBEEE 32 (243,289) (249,133)
Provisions B 29 (3,412) (3,261)
Total non-current liabilities EMEBBEMESE (754,683) (810,216)
Net assets EEFE 3,830,066 3,957,673




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
G A M IR %

31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET— )\
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5E TET FET
EQUITY [N
Equity attributable to owners of BRAIHEGAEN B
the parent
Issued capital BT 35 125,709 125,509
Reserves & 37 3,744,101 3,831,949
3,869,810 3,957,458
Non-controlling interests FEE R (39,744) 215
Total equity miEE 3,830,066 3,957,673
Ma Kai Yum Ng Yan Kwong
BN REK
Director Director

EF EF




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GEMRE R

Year ended 31 March 2019 B Z=-F—WF=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

SRAEEAEL
Leasehold Avallable-
[and and for-sale
Share  building Share Exchange Capital investment Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation opton  Goodwil fluctuation  redemption Reserve  revaluation Captal  Retained controling Total
capital  account reserve Teserve Teserve reserve reserve funds reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
HELH AfE
25560 iy REF  BRE 31 s RESf R
Bx  EBE  EfEE #E HERE BRE EERE B2 Bk AREE  REEN &3t BE  BR4E
Notes ~ HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
LGS Tér Tén  TAr  TEn  TEn  TEn  TEx  Tér  TEr  TEr  TEn  TEn TEn  TER
At1 Apr 2017 RoE-t%
RA-A 125,389 1,394,299 56,060 5801 (86,230) (2,116) 316 581 41,402 (21,188 1,924542 343885 90,728 3,529,584
Profit for the year RER T - - - - - - - - - - T 317017 14385 331402
Other comprehensive TERABERE
ncome for the year: WA
Change in fai value TREEREL
of avalable-forsale LTERY
investments - - - - - - - - 23624 - - 23624 - 23624
Bxchange difierences RERNERY
on translation of EfZBRIE
foreign operations and Rivgi s
reclassifcation adjustment  £K2EHAE
on disposal and EL
deregistration of
foreign operations - - - - - 1828% - - - - - 1828% 5440 188275
Share of other A-HBERT
comprehensive income of  ZEMZERA
an associate - - - - - 52,666 - - - - - 52,666 - 52,666
Total comprehensive income ~ AEE 2
for the year [loN::+ - - - - - 2350 - - 23 - 3TN 576142 19825 595967
Deregistration of subsicieries ~ BUEMHBAZ 40 - - - - - - - - - 203 - 293 645 938
Disposalof subsideries ~ HEKEAT 0 - - - - - - - - - 2y S 2w e (0018
Acquisiton of non-controling B -EHBAFZ
Interest n a subsidiary FhRiEs - - - - - - - - - 202 - 202 (750) (548)
Issue of shares upon exerclse A\ TFERER
of share options R 35(a) 120 1,122 - (310) - - - - - - - 932 - 932
Controution from non- FERBRLE
controling shareholders - - - - - - - - - - - - 300 300
Diidend paid to non-controling. 2352 BAE 2
shareholders [%:) - - - - - - - - - - - - (2565 (32,569
Equity-setlled share option W 58 2 B RiE
amangements R - - - 876 - - - - - - - 876 - 876
Transfer of share option reserve NBREANEZR
upon lapse of share options - BB G E - - - (1,376) - - - - - - 1376 - - -
Final 2017 dhidend E-tF
FERE 1 - - - - - - - - - N I - e
At 31 March 2018 RZF-N\E
Zf=1-A 125509 1,395,421 56,080 4991 (86,280 233385 316" 581" 65,026"  (42907) 2205306" 3,957,458 215 3957678




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
GatnEEk

Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=-F—NWF=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRIREARE
Available-
Leasehold for-sale
land and investment
Share building Share Exchange Capital revaluation/ Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option  Goodwil fluctuation redemption  Reserve fair value Capital  Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve funds reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
ke
HE1H REEH/
2Eff R it 53 BRE E} oS AVE #ER
Bx  BEE  EHER ff HERE RIBR  WEER fke BE  EABE  REE it BE  ERSE
Notes HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000
i Thr TR T TE1 T T T T T T TE1 T T TE1
At 31 March 2018 SIS
Zf=t-A 126,609 1,395,421 56,060 4991 (86,2300 233,385 316 581 65,026 (42.907) 2,205,306 3,957,458 215 3957678
Fflectof adoption of HKFRS 9~ BB EREBHE
e - - - - - - - - e - s )
At 1 Aori 2018 restated) RIZ-\E
mA-A
({E5)) 126,609 1,395,421 56,060 4991 (86,2300 233,385 316 581 56,371 (42907 2,167,529 3910,026 215 3910241
Proft for the year TERRT - - - - - - - - - - 798 2798 2762 300720
Other comprehensive loss RERENRE
forthe year; B
Chenge i farvalig of equity ~ RAFEFIER
investments at fai value REMRE
thvough other comprehensie. AR EEZ
ncome, net of tax EERELTE
28 1BHH - - - - - - - - - - o) V]
Exchange diferences on BERNERL
translaton of foreign EfzE
operations - - - - - (143659 - - - - - (143658 (2,885 (146,543
Share of other comprehensie A5 —REBEAT
income of an assodiate ZEBZERA - - - - - () - - - - - (s - M)
Tota comprenensive ncome.~~ REE2E
forthe year WALE - - - - - (i8817) - - o) - omes 88t 198 7%
Acquistion of a subsidiary hE-EHEAE % - - - - - - - - - - - - 2,834 2,33
Disposal o a subsidary LE-HHBAT - - - - - - - - - - - - (417) (@)
Acquistion ofnon-controling BB AT 2
inerest i a subsidiery FoRES - - - - - - - - - 1802 - 1,802 (1,915) (119
Issue of shares upon exercise of  RTERERHER
e oplons Bk %) W 198 - 518 - - - - - - T )
Divdend paid tonon-contoling 2 FH3EERREZ
shareholders e - - - - - - - - - - - - (983 (59839
Equity-setted share option NEREE BlRE
anangements 473 - - - 3% - - - - - - - 3% - 3%
Transfer of share option resene. MR MEREEER
upon forfture of share options R IEEE - - - (1,009) - - - - - - 1,009 - - -
Final and special 2018 chidend ~ —%—/\F
FEREHRS - - - - - - - - - N LTI X - e
At 31 March 2019 RZF-NE
ZA=t-A 125,709 1,397,359* 56,060 3799 (86,280)" 45,10 316" 5811 (15531)  (41,108] 2,383642" 3,869,810 (39,744) 3,830,066

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~ * Ut E EE%(\JB,?MJ 91 L0007 7T (ZF2—N
approximately HK$3,744,101,000 (2018: HK$3,831,949,000) in % :3,831,949,0008 L) B R A 47 & M 75
the consolidated statement of financial position. MAR 2 ERE Bz




Conso]idated Statement of Cash Flows
.»vT 0 iﬂ % E. i'%

Year ended 31 March 2019 B Z_-F—NF=A=+—HIFZ
2019 2018
—ZE-h#&F ZTE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt 5 FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEKFIEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B 350 Al i A 342,372 484,079
Adjustments for: RN
Finance costs BA TS BN 7 53,345 48,696
Share of profits and losses of FEAG B & A alE F &
associates EE (256,623) (231,767)
Bank interest income SITRI B 6 (1,816) (2,911)
Investment interest income TEF BUA 6 (5,779) (4,753)
Other interest income H ’rHE 2 HA 6 (33,295) (25,381)
Dividend income from EE BN EY R
equity investments designated &B’:\H fth 2 E YA P
at fair value through other BEZERTE
comprehensive income/ AHBEREY
available-for-sale investment f& B UL A 6 (12,073) (10,779)
Dividend income from financial BEAFEYERERRIERF
assets at fair value through BRBZEMEEZ
profit or loss & B A 6 (1,364) (2,208)
Gain on disposal of investment HERENE 2 W
properties 6 (8,697) (730)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of HEME - BER&E
property, plant and equipment, net BEZEER (k)
PR 6 (117) 77
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARZEE 6 - 14,122
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries EBUEFMIB AR 2 Wzm 6 - (3,601)
Impairment of goodwill EERE 6 8,721 31,390
Fair value loss/(gain), net: DY T%%JES’ B, (M)
/ I~ "
Financial assets at fair value YNSEEEIE YN
through profit or loss BEPEREZ
TRIEE
— held for trading -BEEE 6 (3,474) (15,548)
— designated as such upon - RIS R
initial recognition ZILIEE 6 (878) (1,724)
Derivative instruments TTHETE
— transactions not qualifying OGICE Dl -%i
as hedges LR 6 (3) 107
Depreciation e 6 52,231 46,903
Changes in fair value of BREMENFE
investment properties, net o 6 9,079 (128,034)
Change in fair value of SRERFBIELE 2 —ER
an investment property EMENTEE
classified as held for sale 6 - (592)
Impairment of trade debtors, net e E 5‘1 /TAZ
E F 6 3,161 549
Impairment of other debtors, net H b f& 145( EE FOREFE 4 5,603 -
Amortisation of prepaid land SR L
lease payments FEFRIE 2 8 5 6 507 429
Release of deferred income I FE L iR B 34 (165) (467)
Unwinding of discount on e FRIE 2 IR (B R Bl
receivables 6 (11,643) (2,565)
Equity-settled share option expense LA zS 45 & 2 BERRAERT 2 335 876
139,427 196,170



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GoallenER

Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=-F—NWF=H=+—HIFFE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
Increase in properties under TERME ZEM
development (34,649) (71,024)
Decrease/(increase) in properties BIEHEMEZ
held for sale B, (3G ) 9,830 (52,048)
Decrease in inventories FERD 3,473 286
Decrease/(increase) in debtors, JERERFR 1R e &
deposits and prepayments B ZRERLD
(3&) (135,902) 10,376
Decrease in amounts due from FEWE EFIER D
directors 251 21,588
Increase in trade creditors FERTE 5 BRFRIE N 7,607 855
Increase/(decrease) in HERAERR
other creditors, accruals and EstEARERIZES
deposits received #an Crd) (5,258) 165,328
Decrease in amounts due to ERTEEFIAR D
directors (4,664) (673)
Decrease in provisions B iER (1,125) (12,833)
Cash generated from operations KEEBHB2HEE (21,010) 258,025
Hong Kong profits tax paid ERNEANEBHR (2,409) (2,109
Overseas taxes paid EAE N (21,542) (78,255)
Net cash flows (used in)/from KEER (FTR) P8z
operating activities REMEFE (44,961) 177,661




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SEBLHER

Year ended 31 March 2019 B Z_-F—NF=A=+—HIFZ

2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
{hr=g FET FH&T
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZH2HRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received B HERTTF B 1,816 2,911
Other interest received HAth 2 W) B 34,811 9,916
Realised fair value loss/(gain) on PTESMTAZEEE
derivative financial instruments ANFEEE (W)
— transactions not qualifying as — I EEREEH
hedges X5 101 (163)
Dividend received from equity BRI TE BIR A FESIRR
investment designated at fair value REMZEHERAFREREZ
through other comprehensive RRITE 2 RE
income 12,073 10,779
Dividend received from financial EUR A AR RN B
assets at fair value through profit PREBZEHEERES
or loss 1,364 2,206
Purchases of items of property, BEBAYE -FHEX
plant and equipment B (157,034) (178,371)
Purchase of investment properties BAKEYSE (82,775) (94,047)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BE &
property, plant and equipment RBIE B TSR 3,457 9,414
Receipt of consideration receivables/ — YgEX UK (B /&M EB A
proceeds from disposal of Bl Z {5518
subsidiaries 24, 40 132,726 195,233
Purchases of financial assets at fair BAZRAFEIERER
value through profit or loss RBRPREEZ
TREE (92,702) (41,564)
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEZAFEYERER
assets at fair value through profit or ~ RIBZHFERIE 2
loss S REEMSA 12,439 109,900
Proceeds from disposal of investment &% & ¥ % A5 78
properties 63,897 69,648
Acquisition of a subsidiary Ug BE B B A A 39 (3,494) -
Decrease/(increase) in pledged time 2 E HFR Z
deposits A () (474) 7,908
Decrease in restricted cash 2R HI3E & 2B 473 1,205
Investment in structured deposits EBUTRZRE (817) (124,264)
Redemption of structured deposits BE&EBETER 116,248 17,939
Investment in an associate & — [ E R A (77,927) (35,607)
Repayment of loan to/amount due BY—RMBERRZERS
from an associate Y — B & A R R IE 2
BN 108,894 37,521
Addition to prepaid land lease FE A+ b A & FRIE AN
payments (18,322) -
Deposits for acquisition of investment  UgBEIR & W2 2 % &
properties (167,389) (5,647)
Net cash flows used in REEREBFMAZ
investing activities REenEFHE (112,635) (5,083)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GABLWER
Year ended 31 March 2019 BZ=-F—NWF=H=+—HIFFE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
Bt T FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM RMETEHRBZRERE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares TERERRE M 31T
upon exercise of share options B 10 2 FriS 3018 1,620 932
New bank loans FIZIRITE R 614,781 324,959
Repayment of bank loans EERTTEX (484,784) (346,672)
Acquisition of non-controlling U B R B 2
interests (113) (548)
Contribution by non-controlling IEERRR R T E
shareholders - 300
Changes in balances with non- IR AR R ep RS & - F
controlling shareholders, net 35} (5,864) 2,714
Capital element of finance lease Bl & M A 2 1 A
rental payments BARE S (18) (17)
Dividends paid ERE (62,854) (37,629)
Dividends paid to non-controlling BT IEE R AR R AR B
shareholders (59,838) (32,565)
Interest paid AT B (53,189) (48,979)
Net cash flows used in financing BMEFBMAZ
activities Beh= 35 (50,259) (137,505)
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE BeRESZEER
IN CASH AND CASH ORA) /& S8
EQUIVALENTS (207,855) 35,073
Cash and cash equivalents at FUzHeskReEE
beginning of year HH 342,433 288,337
Effect of foreign exchange rate HNERTE R G E R Fo 2
changes, net R (12,081) 19,023
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS H&ZzB&R
AT END OF YEAR ReEEER 122,497 342,433
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES HERBEEEE
OF CASH AND CASH HE&BRZ DN
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as stated 4R & B EAR R RN 25 2 18
in the consolidated statement of S RRESEMEIEE
financial position 26 126,259 348,950
Time deposits with original maturity ~ Ug BB R EI|HA B 4>
of less than three months when R=EA 2 EBFR
acquired 9,920 9,151
Bank overdrafts BITEX 30 (13,682) (15,668)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated #FAEEREXRNEN 2 IH
in the consolidated statement of e hReFEER
cash flows 122,497 342,433




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
G A M B W KN

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda.

7 R 9 B

EEMBEEZERER AR ([ARAF])
—ERBREFMKLZBRAF -

NN &) 5 i =5 R L 7 Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda °

FR-ARBREMBAR (5 [R%
BMEEXBRAREZR MEKRE
RBERARGERE R RMER -

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

Wt & 2> 5 A B & R
ARAEBHBARZFHEMT

follows:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration Class of equity registered interest attributable to
Name and bysiness interest held share capital the Company Principal activities
EMARL BRAEE/ ERFEMGERE
a8 MR E K FrisREER HERBRA BAl TEEY
2019 2018
ZE-RE | ZE-0F
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Property investment
BENMEZRERAF EiE LER 28T MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Invgstment holding
EREXHES Lidk e REZR
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 82.5 77.5  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited*
EEH CAN ) ERBEBRRA &A EER 8,000,0007% 7T i Sl
arrianna Chinese Foo ong Kong rdinary shares , nvestment holding
Carri Chi Food Hong K Ordi h HK$900,000 100 100 | holdi
(Hong Kong) Limited
&%ﬁﬂlﬁqﬂ ARm(FE) Eit Lidk 900,000 70 REZR
RAA
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100 Property investment
and development
EEREEERAF EiE LER 25,000,000/ 7T MERERER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd.*® of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China investment and
development
E?ﬂﬁ (RN ®E EP%Q;E#)@@ AMER 80,000,000/ 7T REABREMERE
RARFO [FE ) REE
RELR R




Notes to Consolidated F]'}mndd Statements
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31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 k&EE &R @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W8 2 &) M B & R )
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration Class of equity registered interest attributable to
Name and business interest held share capital the Company Principal activities
B3 BERTLE/ ARRELRE
£ HEMREE L FrislREER HEMRA BAk TEEH
2019 2018
—g-AF | ST\F
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 83 83 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
ERERMEHERRE BB Limik 1,000,000/ 7 REZR
Delicious Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,733,601 60 60  Restaurant operations
Services Limited
REXEERRBEAERDA &F LER 10,733,601/ 7T il S
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
AEEEERRAA EBEXHEES LER e REZR
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited”*
BEERERAA" EBEXEES LER e REZR
Goldfield Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
FYEXERAA Eit Lmk 2B MERE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
ERERERAR" EEEXHES Limk E REZK
Max Honour Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
EREBRAR Eit Lmk 187 REZK
Profit Smart Group Ltd. Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 60 60  Food business
MERmEEERAAF &k LER 5,598,059/ 7T RmES
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100 Property investment
Eit Limk 200 7T MERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
BRZE 1,000,000/ 7T
RIER A
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited* (!
BEHMERREERLRY B/ REAE HREA 51,000,000 7T MERE
Wealth Mark Group Limited ~ Byitish Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$10 90 90  Investment holding
EEEXHES Limk 10%7T REZK
EE (FL) PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAGF"O operations
RE/ REAE HfE R AR 814,700,000 BEEREREE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 2 k&EB&EH @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W 8 2> 5] M BB R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration Class of equity registered interest attributable to
Name and business interest held share capital the Company Principal activities
MR/ ORTLE/ AR R ELRE
£ R E FrisREER R AR AR Aotk FEER
2019 2018
“E-hE [ Z2-N\F
FIEEFEREE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARO HE/REAE AR A #5,000,0007C i
BEEBPRRAEMRAR®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
RE/REAE HE R AR 831,000,000 ALEH
R EEREREEE R PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operations
BRRAAR R B AR AfER AR BIELE
100,000,0007T
ERAREMIESAE  PRC/Manland China  Registered capital US$46,000,000 83 83 Property investment
(EEH)ERAF R B AR FEX 46,000,0005 7 and development
NERBRER
RIEEHPHRRERAF®  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 68 68  Restaurant operations
HE/REARE AR AE%6,000,0007 it
FYTEBRPERAER LD A)E PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 - Restaurant operations
RE/REAE HfE R AR %6,000,0007 il £y
EBH (BM)EEMELE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB40,000,000 100 - Property investment
ERBERAR HE R E AR &R AR 40,000,000 NERE
BHEEPERRE PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRARO RE/ REAE HE R AR 850,000,000 il £y
EHEEZHRMAEMAEY  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital 1US$2,000,000 75 75 Food business
HE/REARE HREA 2,000,000% 7 RREB
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares USs$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited (“Sleek Treasure”)
J\\Eiﬁg&]ﬁ')ﬁﬁﬂﬂ RERELHE Lak 77,200% 7T BEER
EE




CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

* Direct subsidiaries of the Company

# The statutory financial statements of these companies
were not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another
member firm of the Ernst & Young global network

M Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies

® Domestic enterprises

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion
of the net assets of the Group, as well as certain
investment holding and other companies, which in the
opinion of the directors, are of specific importance to or
of specific purpose for the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (‘HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties,
derivative financial instrument, and certain financial assets
which have been measured at fair value. These financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all
values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

2.1
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued) 2.1 HREE m)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2019. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

RAEMBRREEARRLEMB AR
BHE"Z-NF=A=+t—RHILFEZ
MBEHRR-MBRARAARFEELH
EEFINER (BREBLEER) - EX
SEAXXFZFELERBEHREBHE
MR R E - AEBBHRESRNE
A(AETFARERAENTEREY
SHEREBNREFREN) R EZFER
BF - BVERAS 22 il o

AR ERAMEREEINRELHR
REBORERBURN AR EER
HEEERHAHREHRNENE
SEEMARBEERBER 2%

(@) BEREBEHRHMEERERANA
WLk

b) BEMEHNRIRIELNERN: &

© AEEMEZEENRBERERE-

BB R R A B S AR M FR S B AR A A
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NEZ EKERAREEEGER#E 2 AE
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the period
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation.
Due to the nature of such business, its normal operating
cycle is longer than 12 months. The Group’s current
assets include assets (such as properties under
development and properties held for sale) which are sold,
consumed or realised as part of the normal operating
cycle for the property investment and development
business even when they are not expected to be realised
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 €3 B %k kB & H

AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and Measurement
of Share-based Payment
Transactions

Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

Clarifications to HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with
Customers

Transfers of Investment
Property

Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration

Amendments to HKFRS 15

Amendments to HKAS 40

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22

Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and
2014-2016 Cycle HKAS 28

Other than as explained below regarding the impact of
HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the adoption of the above new
and revised standards has had no significant financial
effect on these financial statements.

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments replaces HKAS 39
Financial Instruments.: Recognition and Measurement,
bringing together all three aspects of the accounting for
financial instruments: classification and measurement,
impairment and hedge accounting. The Group has
recognised the transition adjustments against the
applicable opening balances in equity at 1 April 2018.
Therefore, the comparative information was not restated
and continues to be reported under HKAS 39.
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AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(Continued)

Classification and measurement

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The following information sets out the impacts of adopting
HKFRS 9 on the statement of financial position, including
the effect of replacing HKAS 39’s incurred credit loss
calculations with HKFRS 9’s expected credit losses

(“ECLS").

A reconciliation between the carrying amounts under
HKAS 39 and the balances reported under HKFRS 9 as
at 1 April 2018 is as follows:
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EAEMBHEME

31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

22 FE MR R HE 2 EH (@)

FHMERERAFOR LM T
H (#)

DB R E

AT BB B R E BB TS R A
OB BB E T HE AU BN
BmE R o Y EHEEER ([T
HIEEER]) R BB e 5 £ 85305
CEEAEEEESEIYE.

RIFFE ST EREI95 2 FRE(EER
“E-N\EFHUA-BREEBVBHRE
HRAFOR WM ERRZ BRI T

HKAS 39 measurement HKFRS 9 measurement
BBEELS0HHE BN BREELSNGE
Re- Re-
Amount classification measurement ECL Amount
Ex) BH4E BHiHE BHGEEE £8
Notes Category HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  Category
Wizt EHl TiEn T TiEn Tix TiER EHl
Financial assets SREE
Due from an associate EY—-FEBERARE L8R' 81,960 - - - 81,960 AC?
Available-for-sale investments MRINERE N/A
i) AFS® 295,959 (295,959) - - - TER
Equity investments designated at T BEATEYIEER
fair value through other Et2ERARERL
comprehensive income BaitE (i, i) NATER - 295,959 (9,655) - 286,304  FVOCH
Financial assets at fair value BATEFIERRBET
through profit or loss RENEREE FVPLS 112,482 - - - 112,482 FVPL
Financial assets included in debtors, 5 ANEIREEZ - & R
deposits and prepayments ANTEZEBEE L3R 824,117 - - (37,777) 786,340 AC
Derivative financial instrument fTESRIA FVPL 139 - - - 139 FVPL
Due from directors EYEFHA L&R 6,661 - - - 6,661 AC
Due from non-controling shareholders  FESFE IR 7B L8R 207 - - - 207 AC
Structured deposits ERERR FVPL® 124,264 - - - 124,264 FVPL
Restricted cash XRARE L8R 602 - - - 602 AC
Pledged time deposits BEATHER L8R 44,169 - - - 44,169 AC
Cash and cash equivalents BekRe%ERR L8R 348,950 - - - 348,950 AC
1,839,510 - (9,655 BrII 1,792,078
Financial liabilities SRER
Trade creditors EREHEH AC 45,537 - - - 45,537 AC
Financial liabilties included in AR
other credtors, accruals and EHERREKREZ
deposits received SREE (i) AC 193,772 - - - 193,772 AC
Due to directors ERESHE AC 5,069 - - - 5,069 AC
Due to non-controling shareholders ~ FEAFE2 R R ZUR AC 28,051 - - - 28,051 AC
Interest-bearing bank and WeZRIREMES
other borrowings AC 1,157,907 - - - 1,157,907 AC
Finance lease payables ERRERE AC 61 - - - 61 AC
1,430,397 - - - 1,430,397
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Continued)

Classification and measurement (Continued)

1
2

L&R: Loans and receivables
AC: Financial assets or financial liabilities at amortised cost

AFS: Available-for-sale investments

FVOCI: Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

FVPL: Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Notes:

(0

(i)

(iii)

The Group has elected the option to irrevocably designate
its previous available-for-sale investments as equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income.

Upon re-classifying an unlisted equity investment stated
at cost from available-for-sale investments to equity
investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group re-measured this
unlisted equity investment at fair value and recognised
the corresponding fair value loss of approximately
HK$9,655,000 as an adjustment to the opening balance of
the fair value reserve under HKFRS 9 as at 1 April 2018.

The gross carrying amount of the financial liabilities
included in other creditors, accruals and deposits received
under the column “HKAS 39 measurement — Amount”
represent the amount after adjustments for the adoption of
HKFRS 15, and includes contract liabilities. Further details
of the adjustments for the adoption of HKFRS 15 are
included below.

22 FEF MR R HE 2 EH (9

EEMERERIFEIR ST
H (@)

i

2

(i)

(iii)

K it & (4)

L&R : B3k M e U 5k 78

AC BB A EroREES S
BB E

AFS : A HERE

FVOCI : 22 FEFBR KA E 2 UL
AFEEZSREE

FVPL - A ESIR RN IB A EE
ZEmEE

AEEEEET AR T H A
AHHEREREERAFEIER
REMEEBAPEEZERKE -

BIZRAZY 2 EmEREE AR
HEEREEFHDEZETEATE
TERREMEERAREZ #5518
Bk AEBEFFEZEATEF2
ZIE LTI E W EEATES
18 499,655,000/ LN —Z — \F M A
—AREE B REENFIFER
BN T EREESRTAE-

SAATERB G LR ERFE—2
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 &3tk ki ZE 2 % 8 (@)
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FHMBEHREENEOR LM T
(Continued) H s
Impairment N
The following table reconciles the aggregate opening TRHFH BB G ERFEIRIE TRE
impairment allowances under HKAS 39 to the ECL BEFUBEEE BN GRS LERZE
allowances under HKFRS 9. Further details are disclosed FRETHEREERENSER -E—F
in note 24 to the financial statements. FIERTBmERMT24ANEE-
Impairment ECL
allowances allowances
under under
HKAS 39 HKFRS 9
at 31 March Re- at 1 April
2018 measurement 2018
R=B-N\#§
R-Z-N\F mA—A
=ZB=+—H RIEEBHK
REZBST HEERFOK 2
% R 5E395% 2 EHEE
HERE EHGE EERE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FExT TR
Financial assets included FARKERT Ee Rk
in debtors, deposits and BNREZEHEE

prepayments 30,447 37,777 68,224
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)
HKFRS 9 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BHEMBREEAFOHE LM T
(Continued) H (@)

HEHEEARBGEAN Y E

BB T B A R A BSR4

RIRBRAZZEMT

22 FEF MR R HE 2 EH (9

Impact on reserves and retained profits

The impact of transition to HKFRS 9 on reserves and
retained profits is as follows:

Reserves and

retained
profits
RER
REBER
HK$’000
FTET
Fair value reserve under HKFRS 9 RESBHKERELEAFEF 2
(available-for-sale investment revaluation ATEREE (REFBSHER
reserve under HKAS 39) FEIFE o HEEREEHREE)
Balance as at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 R _Z—N\F=ZA=+—HREEH
SR E305, 2 AR 65,026
Re-measurement of equity investments B ELANREBE A ERF39
designated at fair value through other RO RRKAGTEAHEERE
comprehensive income previously ZHEEZEATFEYERREMEE
classified as available-for-sale investments WARERIE 2 EmZE
measured at cost under HKAS 39 (9,655)
Balance as at 1 April 2018 under HKFRS 9 RZZE-N\FHA-RREES
BT SR AR R B OS2 A R 55,371
Retained profits RE &R
Balance as at 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 R=-Z—N\&F=ZA=+—H
RIBEE G ERE395% < A8k 2,205,306
Recognition of ECLs for R ABWERN - Ee RFER A
financial assets included in debtors, ZERMEECEREERE
deposits and prepayments (37,777)
Balance as at 1 April 2018 under HKFRS 9 RZE—N\FOA—HRERSE
B TS M R R B O5% < AR 2,167,529




2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS

HKFRS 15 and its amendments replace HKAS 11
Construction Contracts, HKAS 18 Revenue and related
interpretations and it applies, with limited exceptions,
to all revenue arising from contracts with customers.
HKFRS 15 establishes a new five-step model to account
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. Under
HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an amount that
reflects the consideration to which an entity expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or services
to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive
qualitative and quantitative disclosure requirements,
including disaggregation of total revenue, information
about performance obligations, changes in contract asset
and liability account balances between periods and key
judgements and estimates. The relevant disclosures are
included in note 5 to the financial statements. As a result
of the application of HKFRS 15, the Group has changed
the accounting policy with respect to revenue recognition
in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 15 using the modified
retrospective method of adoption. Under this method,
the standard can be applied either to all contracts at the
date of initial application or only to contracts that are not
completed at that date. The Group has elected to apply
the standard to contracts that are not completed as at 1
April 2018.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS (Continued)

No adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits of the Group as at 1 April 2018 is required for
the cumulative effect of the initial application of HKFRS
15. The comparative information was not restated and
continues to be reported under HKAS 18 and related
interpretations.

Set out below are the amounts by which each financial
statement line item (including its components) was
affected as at 1 April 2018 as a result of the adoption of

22 FEF MR R HE 2 EH (9

BEMEBEREENBIGEAL
EPRLHZHA (8)

AEER T —/\EMA— B8R
BB |4 65 BB Bk B R TE P B R A TS 3R
SRR FISHM B P ERRAE It
AR E B BB R E A A
1S RABRES R

TXEIR =F—\FMUA—BREERRA
F 78 W5 s YR 1 657 M B & B %
RZEBETRE (BREMD)ERFEL

HKFRS 15: TR
Increase/
(decrease)
®m, CR)
Note HK$’000
s FHExT
Liabilities =L
Receipts in advance included in other creditors, 5T A E b JEBEFX
accruals and deposits received A ERRERIES 2
TE W RIA (i) (19,692)
Contract liabilities included in other creditors, F A E A FE AT BR AR
accruals and deposits received B ERRERIESZ
BHEE (i 19,692
Net impact on other creditors, accruals and HEMENRR BT EA
deposits received REWike o B FHE -

The adoption of HKFRS 15 has had no impact on the
Group’s profit or loss and other comprehensive income
for the year or on the Group’s operating, investing and
financing cash flows for the year. Set out below are
the amounts by which each consolidated statement of
financial position line item (including its components) was
affected as at 31 March 2019 as a result of the adoption
of HKFRS 15. The first column shows the amounts
recorded under HKFRS 15 and the second column shows
what the amounts would have been had HKFRS 15 not
been adopted:

RNEBMGREERF 165 H AR E
AEEZBmMEMEEPRASAEKE
AEENKE RERBEREREL
BEZE - UTHIRARABEMERE
ERIEISEMH —FT-NF=A=+—
e MBHRAKRETHRE (BHEES
DEEFENSRE - F-RBTRES
BB HRELEINFISRARNESE  F
“ RN E LB RAE B M B REE
AIZE155% I ASREV 58
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 22 &3tk ki ZE 2 % 8 (@)

AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

HKFRS 15 REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS
WITH CUSTOMERS (Continued)

FEMEREEUNBIGRLAH
EPAEHZWA ()

Consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 RZZE-NF=ZRA=1+—BNEREHH%
March 2019: AR -
Amounts prepared under
BREUTERGRSHE
Previous Increase/
HKFRS 15 HKFRS (decrease)
EERURRE LABEHK
R 551558 WmEEA  ®M CRL)
Note HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 TR TR TER
Liabilities &8
Receipts in advance STAEMERER: 0)
included in other FEETERRE UK
creditors, accruals and & & 2 FBUFIA
deposits received - 17,319 (17,319)
Contract liabilities included & A E A fEAFBR 5K+ 0]
in other creditors, EEAEARENR
accruals and deposits Be2EHNEE
received 17,319 - 17,319
Net impact on other HH A ETERRR
creditors, accruals and EEFER KRB
deposits received B R EFE -
Note: B 5T

)

Consideration received from customers in advance

Before the adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group recognised
consideration received from customers in advance as
receipts in advance included in other creditors, accruals
and deposits received. Under HKFRS 15, the amount is
classified as contract liabilities which is included in other
creditors, accruals and deposits received.

Therefore, upon adoption of HKFRS 15, the Group
reclassified approximately HK$19,692,000 from receipts in
advance to contract liabilities as at 1 April 2018 in relation
to the consideration received from customers in advance
as at 1 April 2018.

As at 31 March 2019, under HKFRS 15, approximately
HK$17,319,000 was reclassified from receipts in advance
to contract liabilities in relation to the consideration
received from customers in advance.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,
in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business®

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation’

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKAS 28 (2011) between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
HKFRS 16 Leases’
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of MateriaP
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’
Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and

Joint Ventures’

HK(FRIC)-Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax

Treatments’
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 3,
2015-2017 Cycle HKFRS 11, HKAS 12 and
HKAS 23!

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2020

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for early adoption

5 Applicable to business combinations for which the
acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 and to
asset acquisitions that occur on or after the beginning of
that period
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about certain of these new and
revised HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below. Of those standards, HKFRS
16 will be applicable for the Group’s financial year ending
31 March 2020 and are expected to have certain impacts
upon adoption. Whilst management has performed a
high-level assessment of the estimated impacts of these
standards, that assessment is based on the information
currently available to the Group, including expectation
of the application of transitional provision options and
policy choices. The actual impacts upon adoption could
be different to those included below, depending on
additional reasonable and supportable information being
made available to the Group at the time of applying
the standards and the transitional provisions and policy
options finally adopted.

Notes to Consolidated Fmanmal Statements
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE 23 MMM RERZEE MY

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17 Leases, HK(FRIC)-Int 4
Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease,
HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets
out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees
to recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The
standard includes two elective recognition exemptions
for lessees — leases of low-value assets and short-term
leases. At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee
will recognise a liability to make lease payments (i.e., the
lease liability) and an asset representing the right to use
the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-
of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the
definition of investment property in HKAS 40. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest
on the lease liability and reduced for the lease payments.
Lessees will be required to separately recognise the
interest expense on the lease liability and the depreciation
expense on the right-of-use asset. Lessees will also
be required to re-measure the lease liability upon the
occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the
amount of the re-measurement of the lease liability as an
adjustment to the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting
under HKFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from the
accounting under HKAS 17. Lessors will continue to
classify all leases using the same classification principle as
in HKAS 17 and distinguish between operating leases and
finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees and lessors to
make more extensive disclosures than under HKAS 17.
Lessees can choose to apply the standard using either
a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.
The Group will adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 April 2019.

B o & 4R (a0

BRI REERF16FRE S G
HAUNBNTHREE B (BB BHRE
%ﬁ%% BE) RBERIRETLHE
BEEHE &5 (REBEKEZ8g) —
a%%%%wﬁ,ﬁ&“%éﬁg—/ﬁm RES (2
BEBEEY) —RBRTHFBEHLR
HEZLREAKXGHEE - EEEE'J%ZEIJ
WR FE 2V REBRHENRA I
%"é:ﬁﬁw’rﬁ/\?ﬁﬁy%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁwéé&ﬁ
B 2R BIEMIB A A AR IEHRE
RERIEE - KEEEEHREREHE
E-RHEMBBEH ABAEERIR
HERELHRENRABE (BHEES
B)RRERAFEHAEFAEENENRE
E(NEEREEE) BRIFBFEAEE
ENaTEGTERBI0RKREMEN
T BRABFEAREEREBZKAR
R MERAMBEBEFZE-HESR
BEEESRREEEEERN S MENR
EBRER M o A& A G ED B
REEEENMNERIREFEAEEE
MITERZ - BANRERE TEHEHE
ERENGEHESE FINBREE
HEFSAREBETZENE E’J—Iﬁ?a%(
S EREFEMSIBARKREENREE
ARA— ﬂiﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁi%ﬂﬁﬁﬁmiﬁﬁ
BRAEFRAEEENAR -BAYHK
HEAF16HEABL AR LR
FI7THEALHEANSTEES X B HE
ANBEEFREBEEGTERE179RE
BErSERAEFBHEEETHE I
D RCEHERBMERE - BEY
BMEERFE16F R EFARBARLEA
EHBRBEBGHERFEITREMEZ D
BB - AMATEREBUNEZEBHELES
KRR P EERAZERN - AKEE
HR =T NEFNA —HRERNE B
TS EHERIZE165% o



2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

The Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in
HKFRS 16 to recognise the cumulative effect of initial
adoption as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits at 1 April 2019 and will not restate the
comparatives. In addition, the Group plans to apply
the new requirements to contracts that were previously
identified as leases applying HKAS 17 and measure the
lease liability at the present value of the remaining lease
payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate at the date of initial application. The right-
of-use asset will be measured at the amount of the
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the lease recognised
in the statement of financial position immediately before
the date of initial application. The Group plans to use the
exemptions allowed by the standard on lease contracts
whose lease terms end within 12 months as of the
date of initial application. During 2019, the Group has
performed a high-level assessment on the impact of
adoption of HKFRS 16. As disclosed in note 43(B) to the
financial statements, at 31 March 2019, the Group had
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in aggregate of approximately
HK$185,020,000. The Group currently is still assessing
whether, upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts
included therein may need to be recognised as new right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further detailed analysis
will be needed to determine the amount of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but
not limited to any amounts relating to leases of low value
assets and short-term leases, other practical expedients
and reliefs chosen.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE 23 MMM RERZEE MY

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating or
obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. The amendments clarify that materiality
will depend on the nature or magnitude of information.
A misstatement of information is material if it could
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made
by the primary users. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1 April 2020. The Group
currently is still assessing whether the amendments will
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23 addresses the accounting for income
taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12 (often
referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation
does not apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of
HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements
relating to interest and penalties associated with uncertain
tax treatments. The interpretation specifically addresses
(i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments
separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes about the
examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities; (jii)
how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses,
tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts
and circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use
of hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect
of application as an adjustment to the opening equity at
the date of initial application, without the restatement of
comparative information. The Group expects to adopt
the interpretation from 1 April 2019. The Group currently
is still assessing whether the interpretation will have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s interests in associates.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwiill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties, derivative
financial instruments and certain financial assets at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the
most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets,
investment properties and non-current assets classified
as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements
Mﬁﬁimi

31 March 2019 :? jlfﬁ =HA=+—H

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

JF & B R W

A H 3R BE AN B EETTF ERE
AR (FE eREE BETCHAEE
BREMERDBAFELEZIFRBE
ERIN BRI - MEhtEEZR
WogE - EEZ A MR HBEREEN
ReELEU 2 ERBERERAFER
HEKAZRRZE  WHLERIE ZE
o BRIFZIAEEREELEANR DB
REMEEXEEMARNZBRERA-HE
BIERT - AT SR B E TR 23R
TELEMMHEE -

REZEEZHREEBHEAKEE
h BEREES T IAER - ErHEERE
B EEHRRRS R E IR AR
W RERFNRE MBATHTRE
DRMBEREMSHERRREENIEE
R LR 2 7P - BUEB R ARE
ARz BRERT EREEENER
SRR ARERBREZEGLEE
ZEBEtBREE -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment
loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vi)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred after
items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of
property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Hotel properties Over the lease terms
Leasehold land Over the lease terms
Buildings 2.5% to 3%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
10% to 20%
15% to 20%
20% to 25%

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

EN Y& 1Y S

BREZTRUINZYE - BFE M&RET
BRRAME S ER R T E R FRE
ERINE - W% - BB LREEE ZKA
BEREEBEENEMNSREEERER
EEENR LI 2 HEBIEKRA 1)
X BEMRBHRBRAEEREEZ
P (MBI RIRE) —RIZEEEZH
fE] 1 B af % N HNBR © W 1 & MR R 1
AEARECHAXERNEERAETE
AMefE BB - HYE BEMRREBZE
REnBEHE SR MAKESKZF
MOERASARENERFHRFTEZ
&5 & 2

82 B AR EENE  BE R
B R R R E B
SEM SR B FRAEEENE
T

B IEY BT
Gizk o) RHEOFEH
BF 2.5%%3%
HEMEEE RHEOFHRE

20% 2 BE#E
TR 55 Ko 1 25 10%2£20%
R B REE 15%%220%

RE 20%E25%



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that
item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts
and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating
lease for a property which would otherwise meet the
definition of an investment property) held to earn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured initially
at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to
initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

Investment property is transferred to non-current assets
held for sale when it is expected that the carrying amount
will be recovered principally through sale rather than from
continuing use. For this to be the case, the property must
be available for immediate sale in its present condition,
subject only to terms that are usual and customary for
the sale of such property and its sale must be highly
probable.

For the sale to be highly probable:

° the board of directors must be committed to a plan
to sell the property and an active programme to
locate a buyer and complete the plan must have
been initiated;

° the property must be actively marketed for sale at a
price that is reasonable in relation to its current fair
value; and

o the sale should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from
the date of classification.

Investment properties classified as held for sale are
presented separately as current items in the statement of
financial position. On reclassification, investment property
continues to be stated at fair value.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN
GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset
may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

The Group’s prior years’ intangible asset balance
represented the rights to purchase pre-determined lots
of land pursuant to legal binding agreements. These
intangible assets were stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. These intangible
assets were amortised to properties under development
as part of land costs in accordance with the actual
acquisition patterns of these pre-determined lots of land.

LEASES

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and
risks of ownership of assets to the Group, other than
legal title, are accounted for as finance leases. At the
inception of a finance lease, the cost of the leased asset
is capitalised at the present value of the minimum lease
payments and recorded together with the obligation,
excluding the interest element, to reflect the purchase and
financing. Assets held under capitalised finance leases,
including prepaid land lease payments under finance
leases, are included in property, plant and equipment, and
depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of
such leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss
so as to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over
the lease terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a
financing nature are accounted for as finance leases, but
are depreciated over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor,
assets leased by the Group under operating leases are
included in non-current assets, and rentals receivable
under the operating leases are credited to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable
under operating leases are charged to the statement
of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are
initially stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. When the lease
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the land
and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise land costs,
construction costs, borrowing costs, professional fees
and other costs directly attributable to such properties
incurred during the development period. Net realisable
value is determined by reference to the sales proceeds
of properties sold in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable selling expenses and other estimated cost
necessary to make the sale, and the estimated costs
of completion or by management estimates based on
prevailing market conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade debtors
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade debtors that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable from
1 April 2018)” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets, or
both.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if
both of the following conditions are met:

° The financial asset is held within a business model
with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows.

° The contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 F

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
include financial assets held for trading, financial assets
designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to
be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified
as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also
classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to
be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or
significantly reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4
&

Financial assets of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and receivables, or available-for-
sale financial investments, as appropriate. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair
value plus transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial assets, except in the case of
financial assets recorded at fair value through profit or
loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and financial assets
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for
trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless
they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. These net fair value changes do not
include any dividends or interest earned on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition (applicable
before 1 April 2018)” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss are designated at the date
of initial recognition and only if the criteria in HKAS 39 are
satisfied.

Derivatives embedded in host contracts are accounted for
as separate derivatives and recorded at fair value if their
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are
not held for trading or designated as at fair value through
profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if
there is either a change in the terms of the contract that
significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise
be required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of
the fair value through profit or loss category.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. After initial measurement, such assets
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method less any allowance
for impairment. Amortised cost is calculated by taking
into account any discount or premium on acquisition
and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation and the loss arising from impairment are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity and debt
investments. Equity investments classified as available
for sale are those which are neither classified as held for
trading nor designated as at fair value through profit or
loss. Debt investments in this category are those which
are intended to be held for an indefinite period of time and
which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in
response to changes in market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial
investments are subsequently measured at fair value,
with unrealised gains or losses recognised as other
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale investment
revaluation reserve until the investment is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, or until the investment
is determined to be impaired, when the cumulative
gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the statement of profit
or loss. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as
interest income and dividend income, respectively and are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance
with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition
(applicable before 1 April 2018)” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments
cannot be reliably measured because (a) the variability
in the range of reasonable fair value estimates is
significant for that investment or (b) the probabilities
of the various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment
losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention
to sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near
term are still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances,
the Group is unable to trade these financial assets due
to inactive markets, the Group may elect to reclassify
these financial assets if management has the ability and
intention to hold the assets for the foreseeable future or
until maturity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4
&

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-
sale category, the fair value carrying amount at the date
of reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and
any previous gain or loss on that asset that has been
recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the
remaining life of the investment using the effective interest
rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and
the maturity amount is also amortised over the remaining
life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If the
asset is subsequently determined to be impaired, then the
amount recorded in equity is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018 AND
POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL

ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018 AND
POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018) (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)

The Group recognises an allowance for ECLs for all debt
instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss.
ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual
cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash
flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL

ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)

(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade debtors and contract assets which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade debtors and contract assets that do not contain
a significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment
exists if one or more events that occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset have an impact on the estimated
future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence
of impairment may include indications that a debtor or
a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal
payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation and observable data
indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears
or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

SREEZWME (HEEEMBE
WmEEANEIRE T~ NEN
H—H&#EHZW%E) (@)

fij {b 7 &
HRUEBSEAREXDHEKE S
BRARENEE NHARERAAT
REZFMIREARERSNTEE
THE AEERGAERREEERE
FERBEIE - REBEBEITE  AEEAL
EEMEERRNE(L RMNERE
AHREENEREREEBREREER
ﬁi$$gﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
A AR - W RLE S A REE R
BVRFE RTRE A=A H AR -

>
]
b
Rk
N4
=
mF
==
S5
i
¥
IEp
=

B E39E N —F — \FENH
— H B M Z BK)
REERZEREPRIEEEEEE
@miﬂéﬁi—@éﬂéﬁﬁﬁﬂ
B-MRENTHREEREE AN
ZIHREN MZBEFHHZEXZAS
MEEZRBAARKRBESREMERKZ
B TR M A] S T AL AT RS - BIROR
FHERE REFRAIBE—BH—F
BEFALEERERMBRE ZELHLK
BEEENEHARE KEB AR AEK
EITEMMBER URAABEHE
BRAFTRKRERELB A ER
Lol R S BB R EELHR
TARRE 2 B



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group
first assesses whether impairment exists individually
for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the Group determines that no objective
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed
financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the
asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit
risk characteristics and collectively assesses them
for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed
for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a
collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not yet been
incurred). The present value of the estimated future
cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans
and receivables together with any associated allowance
are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been
transferred to the Group.

Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements
40w i% M &

31 March 2019 :? jlfﬁ =HA=+—H

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

SHEEZWE (REEE e
ERHEI9EN T NENH
—Hu#EHZHE) (#)

¥ S0 RA B Bk 2 & Rl TR
RILBERAARZEREEMS - &
SEEAHENERZERMEE B8
EITRERS  HENTEXZEME
B AftETTRERH - MAKRERED
ERETREAACEREE (BR
REDR) W EZE TR BN LBRRE
AlZEEEER A —HEAFRLUEER
BRMECEREEN  AHETTRENR
A o KERIFHERENEE - HRERE
TR EERRBAR M AEHA
RAEREARZA-

TEAADRE 5 18 & BR IR & B B e (B R A 5t
AEXRERE (FTEELREEZRK
EEER)REIZHE - B REKR
%7‘%%2%@%%%&‘1%%2%%%%%
(A RERETE ZERME) IR -

ZEEZRRERLERBEGRDR
A IENME R EE R - M B U AR H
g2 BREETREES WA
EREBERAUTRAKREGREZ
MEEHE - 1h%§f£t51§:4ﬂf%1&lilﬂ

JNA&F’EH&EE,TA $HEHE$H%§ZT¥
1S T AMES ©




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortised cost
(Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is increased or
reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-
off is later recovered, the recovery is credited to the
statement of profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has
been incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is
not carried at fair value because its fair value cannot be
reliably measured, the amount of the loss is measured
as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the present value of estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a
similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets
are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group
assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that an investment or a group
of investments is impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any
principal payment and amortisation) and its current fair
value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss, is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment
below its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the
original cost of the investment and “prolonged” against
the period in which the fair value has been below its
original cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the
cumulative loss — measured as the difference between
the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any
impairment loss on that investment previously recognised
in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through
the statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair
value after impairment are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL
ASSETS (POLICIES UNDER HKAS 39
APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (Continued)

In the case of debt instruments classified as available for
sale, impairment is assessed based on the same criteria
as financial assets carried at amortised cost. However,
the amount recorded for impairment is the cumulative
loss measured as the difference between the amortised
cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss
on that investment previously recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Future interest income continues to be
accrued based on the reduced carrying amount of the
asset using the rate of interest used to discount the future
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment
loss. Impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed
through the statement of profit or loss if the subsequent
increase in fair value of the instruments can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1
APRIL 2018 AND HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (POLICIES
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1
APRIL 2018 AND HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018) (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGHURZME (9
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (POLICIES cRAR(REFEMBHREE
UNDER HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 95 E —F — N H—H
APRIL 2018 AND HKAS 39 APPLICABLE REHZHE R RREEEGS
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018) (Continued) BHEREN -FE—-NENA

—Hui#EMHZHR) (8)

Subsequent measurement (Continued) HEHE (5

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKFRS 9
applicable from 1 April 2018)

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets (policies
under HKFRS 9 applicable from 1 April 2018)”; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Financial guarantee contracts (policies under HKAS 39
applicable before 1 April 2018)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: () the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES (POLICIES UNDER HKFRS
9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018 AND
HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL
2018)

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (POLICIES UNDER
HKFRS 9 APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL
2018 AND HKAS 39 APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(POLICIES UNDER HKFRS 9
APPLICABLE FROM 1 APRIL 2018 AND
HKAS 39 APPLICABLE BEFORE 1 APRIL
2018)

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined by
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses and other estimated costs necessary to
make the sale or by management estimates, based on
prevailing market conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets
similar in nature to cash which are not restricted as to
use.

PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE
FROM 1 APRIL 2018)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE
FROM 1 APRIL 2018) (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

()

(i)

(i)

()

V)

Restaurant and bakery operations

Revenue from restaurant and bakery operations is
recognised at the point in time when/as control of
the asset (a promised good or service) is transferred
to the customer at the respective restaurant/bakery
shop.

Sale of food products

Revenue from the sale of food products is
recognised at a point in time when control of the
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on
delivery of the food products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations,
as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Sale of properties

Revenue from sales of completed properties is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the control of the completed properties,
being the point when the legal title of the completed
property is passed to the customer and the
collection of the consideration is probable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE
FROM 1 APRIL 2018) (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vi)  Property agency services
Revenue from property agency services is
recognised at a point in time when the services
are rendered which is generally the time when the
transacting parties first come into an agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018)

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the
economic benefits will flow to the Group and when the
revenue can be measured reliably, on the following bases:

(@ from the sale of properties, when the significant
risks and rewards of the properties’ ownership
are transferred to the buyers, which is when the
construction of relevant properties has been
completed and the properties have been delivered
to the purchasers and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to
the date of revenue recognition are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (APPLICABLE
BEFORE 1 APRIL 2018) (Continued)

(b)

@

from the sale of goods (other than properties), when
the significant risks and rewards of ownership have
been transferred to the buyer, provided that the
Group maintains neither managerial involvement to
the degree usually associated with ownership, nor
effective control over the goods sold;

income from restaurant and food businesses, at the
point of sale to customers;

rental income, on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms;

hotel, property management and other service
income, in the period in which such services are
rendered;

interest income, on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset; and

dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (APPLICABLE
FROM 1 APRIL 2018)

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received a consideration (or an amount of consideration
that is due) from the customer. If a customer pays the
consideration before the Group transfers goods or
services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised
when the payment is made or the payment is due
(whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

e A Bl 52 (
H Huaﬁﬁi) (.%E)
b) HEER (WERIN)  DHEEBE
uumijﬂ—w PNEN Ry = Pl SN
EREBERRETES B
ZEIE(L%%E%EEEW*) DIE:

BEFEE RO ERIEGIE:

“F-NENA -

) BREBRA DRETEREA
BE

(o) HEWA DHREEFHZERL

K

=

© BEE -MREENEMRBKA
TR IR ARG B AR -

M MBRA RESATARERTA
B EFF IS B I (@A)
REBRFZEGARRMGNRER
ABRESBMEENKREFE: &

@ BBERA DREEBRRZBEZE
BRERHER -

a8 aR (B
Hi i)

BHAEEARENEREFKIKE
(HEHHMRESH) MBERNTFEESR
mARBHEL - WEPRAEERE
FPHEEERIRBZAARE AR
TR SRR R BN (ABREE RE)
ERANAB AHNBERAKERETT
BRREIRSEA -

F-NENA—



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates share option schemes for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Employees (including directors) and advisors of the
Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees/advisors render services
as consideration for equity instruments (‘equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 36 to the
financial statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 THGHBKZHME @
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued) VA Mk 13 s 2 B 3 A ()
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in J’/\HX$§1—JLZ§Q%Z/5X$ ERIE=AE
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding FEIE N5 - FEE RS BRFS K 1 1
increase in equity, over the period in which the ?%E??ﬁﬁ?aﬁﬁﬁ@é!ﬁaﬂﬁfilﬁﬁﬁw ves
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. SERHR BE®REHARERZ AR
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled $§Z1¢Z§T%Z§%éﬂ?ﬂ§ = Bk 5 BB B
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the EHEBORAEREERESRE 2
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period BRATEEE 2 &EM -EX—HME
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number NEEm KT AR GERNERE TR
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge B 2 51 5 S 7R HR ) B HR AR RE SRR A B
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period -

represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not AR 75 I FE T IS 48 RUG 1 IEE B I 2D
taken into account when determining the grant date fair ERATEZEEREZ BEESWEZ
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being FARM 2 FIRE MBI AR S laﬂrfﬂﬁm
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of )%ZF”;IE:%(EZE?THEJ—*B

the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. MIHERIGHE RN E L EFRE B Z
Market performance conditions are reflected within the NAF o {n) B2 52 4B B o EL b A -
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an BABRERRE L Z GRS 5ERIE
award, but without an associated service requirement, FEER B IR o BRIEMT AR 7S IS B
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting R JERBIRME RN B 2 AT
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and Bz B BNFt AR A

lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non- R IETIBE N S AR A5 16 14 AR B
market performance and/or service conditions have MR AERBEB R TSERAR
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where X o BREBEE AT SAIEFBE GG
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the K REMBHAMESR LR IﬂfF
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether EER TmmisaERRIGTR

the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided ERBEXZHUESHRAEESB-

that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.




2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (Continued)

Pension schemes (Continued)

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEGH K ZME 4

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong
Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period and their statements of
profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at
the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate
component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which arise
throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of these properties which are
leased out on operating leases.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to whether their net realisable values are lower than
their costs, with their net realisable values based on
the realisability of these properties taking into account
management’s estimates of the selling price based on
prevailing market conditions, less applicable estimated
selling expenses and other estimated costs to make
the sale, and the estimated costs of completion. As at
31 March 2019, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
properties under development and properties held for
sale were HK$366,912,000 (2018: HK$366,693,000) and
HK$527,622,000 (2018: HK$560,536,000), respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The carrying amount
of goodwill at 31 March 2019 was HK$50,207,000 (2018:
HK$58,928,000). Further details are given in note 16 to
the financial statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

The Group engaged a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers to perform the valuations of the
investment properties of the Group at the end of the
reporting period.

The valuation of investment properties involves significant
estimations and assumptions, including, among others,
the estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for the
income capitalisation approach and the estimated market
price for the direct comparison approach.

The carrying amount of investment properties of the
Group as at 31 March 2019 was HK$1,822,580,000
(2018: HK$1,764,648,000). Further details, including the
key assumptions used for fair value measurement, are
given in note 14 to the financial statements.

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of
the fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been
confirmed/determined by the relevant tax authorities,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies,
and interpretations and practices in respect thereof are
required in determining the provision for income taxes to
be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have an impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s estimates and according
to their understanding of the requirements of certain
PRC tax laws and regulations, and interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the relevant tax authorities
upon the completion of the relevant property development
projects. As the relevant tax authorities have not yet
finalised their LAT assessments for certain property
development projects of the Group, the final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such an
indicator exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in
an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable
market prices less incremental costs for disposing of the
asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon
the recognition of the sales of completed properties.
Before the final settlement of the development costs
and other costs relating to the sale of the completed
properties, these costs are accrued by the Group based
on management’s best estimate.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
costs of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are allocated to individual phases based on the estimated
saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EARGEAE kA

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of loans and receivables

Before 1 April 2018, the Group assessed at the end
of each reporting period whether there was objective
evidence that a loan/receivable was impaired. To
determine whether there was objective evidence of
impairment, the Group considered factors such as the
probability of insolvency or significant financial difficulties
of the debtor and default or significant delay in payments.
Where there was objective evidence of impairment, the
amount and timing of future cash flows were estimated
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar
credit risk characteristics.

The Group maintained an allowance for estimated
impairment of receivables arising from the inability of its
customers and debtors to make the required payments.
The Group made its estimates based on, inter alia,
the ageing of its receivable balances, customers’ and
debtors’ creditworthiness, past repayment history and
historical write-off experience. If the financial condition of
its customers and debtors was to deteriorate so that the
actual impairment loss might be higher than expected, the
Group would be required to revise the basis of making the
allowance and its future results would be affected.

ANl E A Bt o

Bk B B Wk TR R
R-ZZE—-N\FOA—HA AEEEF
MEMEPRREFEEREUYFRIEA
MEZEBRE RETREFERE
LEBER AKBECERBEHARED
EEHAAB AT BRI LEL LR
BB ATRE M F R - W F R
BExEBER MRBEAEHELUEER
BB BE R BEREREFTRK
Reng ek -

AEEREEEP MEBARERER
3R 2 A Y R MR SRR S AR B AT HE
e AEERE (HP ) HRWFIR
R TP REBANGEE  BE
B KR 2 S S M AR SR A L A A o fi
B P RIER AN BARR B AT ERR
MEEEXENES  AEBKAEER
BEEE MERRXESEITE-



3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost

After 1 April 2018, the Group uses a provision matrix to
calculate ECLs for trade debtors and contract assets.
The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer
type). The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward looking estimates are analysed.
The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of debtors’ actual default in the
future.

After 1 April 2018, the Group uses the general approach
to calculate ECLs on financial assets at amortised cost
other than trade debtors and contract assets, which are
determined with reference to, inter alia, the estimation of
the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral
values when determining impairment losses and the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, change in
which can result in different levels of allowances. The
information used by the Group in ECL calculations may
also not be representative of debtors’ actual default in the
future.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER

INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment which
engaged in the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses; and

(b) the property investment and development segment
which comprises the development and sale of
properties and the leasing of residential, commercial
and industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax is
measured consistently with the Group’s profit before tax
except that bank interest income, certain fair value gains
or losses from the Group’s financial instruments, finance
costs as well as corporate and unallocated expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties or at the agreed prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE»HER (90
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019/At 31 March 2019 BE-Z-hE=A=+—-HLEES
R=-ZB-hE=A=+—8H
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
8- MERE
RRRERE RER @t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TEr TER TER
Segment revenue (note 5) DEWA (KiFES5)
Revenue from external customers REMNFER ZBA 855,723 114,487 970,210
Intersegment revenue DERE 2 WA 1,406 7,574 8,980
857,129 122,061 979,190
Reconciliation: Eil
Elimination of intersegment revenue W% A EEZ A (8,980)
Total revenue BsUA 970,210
Segment results DEE 93,795 293,770 387,565
Reconciliation: FHAT -
Bank interest income AT B WA 1,816
Unallocated other income and gains, net 7 7 Bt E A I A J 2 -
FE 38,480
Corporate and unallocated expenses PERROER T (32,144)
Finance costs B R AR (53,345)
Profit before tax FR B AT A 342,372
Other segment information Hitrp HER
Changes in fair value of investment REME 2 ATE
properties, net 2% 38 - (9,079) (9,079)
Gain on disposal of investment properties &R EME 7 Iz - 8,697 8,697
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER (90
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2019/At 31 March 2019 BE-Z-hE=A=+—-HLEES
(Continued) R-EB-AE=A=+—H (&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel  development Total
28 MERE
BRRERE REE @i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER
Other segment information Hittm HER
(Continued) (&)
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ JE{4 b A Al% | R & 18 - 256,623 256,623
Impairment of goodwil HERE 8,721 - 8,721
Other interest income HioF S WA
- segment — & - 8,386 8,386
- unallocated N 24,909
33,295
Impairment of trade debtors, net ERESERZRE F8 3,244 (83) 3,161
Impairment of other debtors, net HiERERTORE 58
- segment - - 4,072 4,072
- unallocated —-xDH 1,531
5,603
Depreciation e
- segment - 44,209 6,915 51,124
- unallocated xR 1,107
52,231
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment ! 141,147 101,737 242,884
- unallocated XDl 2,992
245,876*

*

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property,

plant and equipment and investment properties, excluding
assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEFTHBER w0
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018/At 31 March 2018 HE-_Z-N\F=A=+—RHLFE
RZF-N\F=ZA=1+—H
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel developmept Total
£ UES Y _
RmRBE RER @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk FibT T
Segment revenue BB
Revenue from external customers RESEEF ZHA 813,085 119,535 932,620
Intersegment revenue 7 EBFEZ A 1,866 6,414 8,280
814,951 125,949 940,900
Reconciliation: 8D -
Elimination of intersegment revenue fi 357 EP 2 A (8,280)
Total revenue ‘A 932,620
Segment results AR 98,309 453,576 552,385
Reconciliation: ﬁﬁ/? :
Bank interest income RITFIBHA - 2,911
Unallocated other income and gains, net RABEMPA RN - F8 27,939
Corporate and unallocated expenses ﬁ%&ﬂiﬁﬂﬂi i (50,460)
Finance costs FIBRA (48,696)
Profit before tax BRI AR F 484,079
Other segment information ﬂf&ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬂ
Changes in fair value of investment &%#@%;QW&
properties, net k@) R - 128,034 128,034
Change in fair value of an investment 93\%7%%1/55 &2 IE
property classified as held for sale B& %%Z RFEXY - 592 592
Gain on disposal of investment properties HERENE 2 K - 730 730




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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plant and equipment and investment properties, excluding
assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.

31 March 2019 —ZE—hWEF=A=+—H
4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEFTBER (90
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2018/At 31 March 2018 HE_Z-N\F=ZA=+—RHLFE
(Continued) RZE—NF=A=+—8 (&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development Total
%ﬁ‘ MERE .
R KBS RERE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET
Other segment information Rt H &R
(Continued) (&)
Share of profits and losses of associates ~ JE kBt & A Al | & 18 - 231,767 231,767
Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries UM B 2 Bz s 1,143 2,458 3,601
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEMNBLARZER - 14,122 14,122
Impairment of goodwil HERE - 31,390 31,390
Other interest income HF 2 A
- segment -nE - 20,216 20,216
— unallocated vl 5,165
25,381
Impairment of trade debtors, net ERESERZRE 8 549 - 549
Depreciation e
- segment - 41,374 4,472 45,846
- unallocated Vel 1,057
46,903
Capital expenditure BARRX
- segment —’\"B 105,561 174,735 280,296
- unallocated ) 127
280,423*
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, * BARYE BIERNEME BB MRER

KEDE TREKBEHBARMSE
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPBER (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION i & & kL
(a) Revenue from external customers (@) KEMBEFZWA
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Hong Kong s 404,406 390,814
Mainland China N2 565,804 541,806
970,210 932,620
The revenue information above is based on the FHWA BRI TRIEE FEIE
locations of the customers. % i1 5E °
(b) Non-current assets b) FHBEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Hong Kong B 397,287 284,894
Mainland China Fh B K B 3,605,723 3,449,842
4,003,010 3,734,736
The non-current asset information above is based FHiIERSEEER IR EEM
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial EzHEmMELRTEEERTAR
instruments and deferred tax assets. EERRIBE E -
INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR FHTEEPZER
CUSTOMERS
No revenue from any single external customer accounted HE-_ZTZ-hNF=-A=+—RHEKZ=Z%
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the years —N\FE=ZA=+—HIEFE WEKE
ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018. EAE IR P 2 WAGERER AU

AZ10%3L A £ o
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5. REVENUE 5. WA
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHTIAT
2019 2018
—E-AF —T—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
(under
HKAS 18)
(REBEEBGE
ERIZE185%)
Revenue from contracts with KEEFELZUARIE
customers/Revenue under HKAS 18 &5 &5 BRI E 185 2 A
Income from restaurant, food and B ReMBIEEBRA
hotel businesses 855,723 813,085
Proceeds from sale of properties, HEMETSRIEA
property management service MEERREBA KR
income and commission income B A 25,723 36,829
Revenue from other sources G A R A
Gross rental income He W A@zE 88,764 82,706

970,210 932,620
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5 WA )
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KBEEPGHZWA
CUSTOMERS
() DISAGGREGATED REVENUE O BWATEEH
INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 BEr —FE-NF=ZA=+—HIFF
<
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and and
hotel development
Segments z28-
o BEmRBIE NERERERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FExT
Types of goods or services ERBBHEEE
Restaurant and bakery BN ELE
operations 560,075 -
Sale of food products RmigE 244,126 -
Hotel operations o JE 4 51,522 -
Property management services 4 % & ¥ AR 7% - 559
Sale of properties Y HE - 23,477
Property agency services — MERERE BB A
commission income - 1,687
Total revenue from contracts RERFALHZBIA
with customers 855,723 25,723
Geographical markets ih 3 T 5
Hong Kong & 345,514 1,687
Mainland China AR A+ 510,209 24,036
Total revenue from contracts RERFPALHZBIA
with customers 855,723 25,723
Timing of revenue recognition U A 7 52 B 5
At a point in time RE—FEE 804,201 23,477
Services transferred over time B i [ 8 7 IR 7% 51,522 2,246

Total revenue from contracts RERFPALHZBIA
with customers 855,723 25,723
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5. REVENUE (continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(D

DISAGGREGATED REVENUE
INFORMATION (Continued)

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue

5. A m)
XEEFRAHZWA (8)

O WAZEEH )

IXHEIIREBEFEHZ WAL

from contracts with customers with the amounts EBERIHE ©RE R
disclosed in the segment information:
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019 B - FE-NF=HA=+—HIF
Z
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
E28-B8mK MELRER
Segments BIE BE @it
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FAET FET
Revenue from contracts REEFEHZHBA
with customers
External customers IR 855,723 25,723 881,446
Intersegment sales A EEEE 1,406 - 1,406
857,129 25,723 882,852
Intersegment adjustments and 7 BRI 52 R 85
eliminations (1,406) - (1,406)
Total revenue from contracts RERFANZWMANEE
with customers 855,723 25,723 881,446




5. REVENUE (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

M

(ID

DISAGGREGATED REVENUE
INFORMATION (Continued)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2019
(Continueq)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period.
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5. WA (@)

XEBEEFAHZWA (8)

M

LONE B SEXE
BE—F-NFZA=1T—HIF
E (%)

TRETRARE HRERT AR

BERV2ENBBEZBASHE-

2019
—E-hF
HK$’000
FERT
Revenue recognised that was ~ sF AR RE B9 2
included in contract liabilities EHBEZ
at the beginning of B HERUA
the reporting period:
Restaurant, food and hotel B -RmMBE 11,420
Property investment and YERERER
development 8,272
19,692
PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS Im m&&EAT

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Restaurant and bakery operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied at
the point in time when/as the promised goods or
services (i.e. an asset) is transferred to a customer,
being at the point the customer purchases the
goods at the restaurants and bakery shops.
Payment of the transaction price is generally due at
the point the customer purchases/obtains control of
the promised goods or services.

Sale of food products

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the products to the customers
and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days,
extending to a longer period for major customers,
from the date of delivery, except for new customers
or certain food products, where payment in advance
is normally required.

BRREERABE 2ERSIMA
T

%ﬁ?&@@ﬁ,ﬁg“

XV EAE— MR PR & an IR TS
(MEE)BRETEFPZHHEHME
K- EEFRERERERERER
M- BFRBE MEHAHE
an B AR TS 2 45 Il R S — AR R ST <2
BB

R &
BHEE—MRRAE PR ERE
ERC — RN E H%30E90H
AR (EEFFELEREE R
R) HEEFPRATRMBIN E
BEEEBAR
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA a)

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6.

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(II) PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

Hotel operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are provided and payment
is generally due when the services have been
rendered.

Property management services
The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Property management service
contracts are for periods of two to five years and
payment in advance is required.

Sale of properties

In respect of the sale of completed properties, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the legal title of the completed property
is obtained by the customer. Payment of the
transaction price is in accordance with the terms of
respective sale and purchase agreements.

Property agency services
The performance obligation is satisfied when the
services have been rendered and payment of the
transaction price is generally due within 30 days
from the agreement date.

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

KEEFEHZIA )

I &&&EAE 5

B JE AR &

B HYE 1T — R B A AR 7% B i B )
EZR R —RRE RERGEE
%q o

YEE IR

J& 4 B AL R M AR 75 By B By R 2
KoMEREBRGBEHRBMER
RF WARELNRK-

RERTHEZHEMS  BHEE
REFPBSERIME ZEERE
ISR RIER - X HBRTIIRE
BEmRAS B ZERM e

YE LR
BHEEREHRSEERX X
R 5B % A HIEFT30A
MEIH -

AEBMBBATENE MG (FEA) AT

(crediting): £IF
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ZE-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt 5 FET FH&T
Cost of inventories sold and EETERBRERSE
services provided 7R 499,896 477,427
Depreciation wE 13 52,231 46,903
Amortisation of prepaid land Mt HEERE Y
lease payments 5y 15 507 429
Minimum lease payments under A B i M F L&
operating leases in respect of A7 HIEHEE
land and buildings 83,763 81,362
Contingent rents under operating 4 8 £ i [ 18 F 4% &
leases in respect of land and Mz Ale
buildings 424 734
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. Fx B w7 Al s
2019 2018
—E-AF —ZT-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5T FExT FHET
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 R 5 B 4,639 4,935
Employee benefit expense EERFMAX
(excluding directors’ (EEFM (KizE8)
remuneration (note 8))*: BRON) #
Wages, salaries and bonuses T & - ¥ & KIE4L 246,248 229,693
Equity-settled share option NEREE 2
expense BRER 212 350
Pension scheme contributions Rk & 5T &It 5
(defined contribution (REMHKEED
schemes) 9,655 7,850
256,115 237,893
Foreign exchange SNEZEFE  FEE
differences, net 38,085 (87,108)
Impairment of A T&IBZRE: 24
— trade debtors, net —EWE SRR FE 3,161 549
— other debtors, net —H AU AR R - 58 5,603 -
Direct operating expenses RO o REMEESE
(including repairs and ZEEEETH
maintenance) arising from (BIEHEBRRE)
rental-earning investment
properties 770 1,100
Changes in fair value of KEMENTEEE:
investment properties, net R 14 9,079 (128,034)
Change in fair value of an DEABELHEZ
investment property classified ~ —IAREWE N FE
as held for sale & 14 - (592)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: ANFEBE (W)
FRE -
Financial assets at fair value BAFES R R
through profit or loss RERFPEEZ
— held for trading —BEEE (3,474) (15,548)
— designated as such upon — R HERE
initial recognition RILIEE (878) (1,724)
Derivative instruments PTET A
— transactions not qualifying — T /&
as hedges HHAEE IR S (3) 107
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. BB wEA @
2019 2018
—E-AF —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000
Bt FHExT FH&T
Bank interest income |ITH B UA (1,816) (2,911)
Investment interest income FERSWA (5,779) (4,753)
Other interest income H A A B A (33,295) (25,381)
Dividend income from equity EERZAFEYER
investments designated REMZEBASER
at fair value through other ZHERIRE A E
comprehensive income/ &2 RBEWA
available-for-sale investments (12,073) (10,779)
Dividend income from financial & A F (&% BE R R EZFH
assets at fair value through BEZERMEEZ
profit or loss iz B A (1,364) (2,208)
Gain on disposal of investment &R EWE 2 W
properties (8,697) (730)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of HEWME - BRER&E
items of property, plant and BB Z2ER (W)
equipment, net FEE (117) 77
Gain on deregistration of BUHEMM B A R 2 fa=
subsidiaries 40 - (8,601)
Impairment of goodwill* 2R E” 16 8,721 31,390
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries H & KB 72 &8 40 - 14,122
Unwinding of discount JE W FRIE 2 SR E R
on receivables (11,643) (2,565)

# Inclusive of an amount of HK$173,470,000 (2018:
HK$183,189,000) classified under cost of inventories sold

and services provided.

* The impairment of goodwill is included in “Other expenses,
net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

BEIBEAEETFTEREREREZ
B AK173,470,0008 7T (=& — )\ F:

183,189,0007 7T )

BEREFALRE
HEEI A

ZEE-
BER [HMmREX
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7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WA
2019 2018
—ZE-h#EF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Interest on bank loans, RITER - BIR
overdrafts and other loans ﬁﬂléf K2 FE 56,059 51,917
Less: Interest capitalised /Jﬁ B MEF R (2,714) (3,221)
53,345 48,696
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHWM 2
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant RIEEBMERSMARARESR L™
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The MAN(TEMAAL)  BBREEHE
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 383(1)(@)  (0): (R (MG REELR (HE
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong BEEFEER) BOEREBEARAFEE
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong EMET
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2019 2018
ZE-NF —ZE-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Fees we 600 600
Other emoluments: Hih & :
Salaries and allowances e MoERL 9,445 9,031
Bonuses paid and payable* B R IEAT 3,889 7,276
Equity-settled share option expense Az &S E 2 BEIAEM X 123 526
Pension scheme contributions RIRET B
(defined contribution schemes) (FREMHKEE) 225 220
13,682 17,053
14,282 17,653
* Certain executive directors of the Company are entitled O ARBETHTEFRVESZIEAR
to bonus payments which are approved by the Group’s BRAEEZHFNEESHERZER
remuneration committee with reference to the Group’s SEEFHMNEEFEAREMERE -

current year profit and the individual performance of the
directors.
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. HEM2 =
(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A) BrEHRITESF
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive REEESNBYIFRITESHEES N
directors during the year were as follows: Nk
2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T-N\F
Fees Fees
e we
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BA B0 5 200 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BN E 200 200
Mr. Wong See King HEEBEE 200 200
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the REFE B E A BB IEMITE
independent non-executive directors during the year ENFHH(ZZE-N\F:|)o

(2018: Nil).
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9
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. EFHM L s
(Continued)
4= N 4=
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A B) WITEFR R &S
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
e 21 NEREE Bi#e
® REM ZERE i kA
e 41 AL X R bl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FET FTET FTET FET FET
2019 “E-hE
Executive directors: WHES:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum ENSiE - 2,401 1,750 - 70 4,221
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REKEE - 1,984 972 - 62 3,018
Mr. Leung Pak Yan REBKE - 2,540 1,167 123 11 3,841
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SRk - 606 - - 18 624
Mr. Ng Sze Ping REREE - 421 - - 12 433
Sub-total Nt - 7,952 3,889 123 173 12,137
Non-executive director: FiES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBEAE - 1,493 - - 52 1,545
- 9,445 3,889 123 225 13,682
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
2 Bt NEREE RS
R RIER ZBERE iE Be
e 28 bz % % o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHT TR FTHT FTHT FTHT FTHT
2018 —E-N\E
Executive directors: HirES:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNREE - 2,404 3,274 - 70 5,748
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REK%EAE - 1,986 1,819 - 62 3,867
Mr. Leung Pak Yan 2EREE - 2,540 2,183 526 18 5,267
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BBk - 607 - - 18 625
Sub-total Nt - 7,537 7,276 526 168 15,507
Non-executive director: FniTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENEEE - 1,494 - - 52 1,546
- 9,031 7,276 526 220 17,053
There was no arrangement under which a director waived RERRBRI TR T H AR EENE

or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year. HKEBRETAME -
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9.

10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2018: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
of the remaining one (2018: one) non-director, non-chief
executive and highest paid employee are as follows:

9.

DA 5 # R B 2 #

<

RAEE AfusksHEERENE (=
T-N\F:OB)EF EHFMFERT
REXHE8 T —HR (ZF—N\F:
—R)FEF FETBTBRABERES
HEE ZHBMFEBHT:

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FAET

Salaries e 1,403 1,416

The remuneration of the non-director, non-chief executive
and highest paid employee for the year fell within
the band of HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2018:
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000).

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of
16.5% (2018: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits
arising in Hong Kong during the year. Taxes on profits
assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the
relevant rates of tax prevailing in Mainland China.

10.

HEFE FTEBTBRAEAARSHFE
B R AR F S 2 % B EE 521,000,0017% 7T
21,500,000 tHER (ZZ— N\F:
1,000,0017 7£ 1,500,000/ 7. ) °

Fii 1% Hi
EERER R E AR BB E A2 I
S8 3R B0 F 1R16.5% (= — \F -
16.6% ) 2 BL KB 5 - P L ATE B3R
Bes R 2 BRI EA R 2 AR T
GESIEE

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —ZT-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FHET

Current — Hong Kong BNE— &%

Charge for the year RFEEZH 1,158 2,529
Current — Mainland China BVER — A B K e

cIT REMRER 53,976 130,989

LAT T IR ETR - 167

Overprovision in prior years BEFEBRERE (9,577) (7,826)
Deferred (note 32) B (HI5E32) (3,905) 26,818
Total tax charge for the year AFEERIBY HBTE 41,652 152,677
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10. P 15 8 (a)

BEBEEMEFEFARBRBADGF
ZRBH Y BIRERHR R E 2 RS

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax

charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: SHERINT
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Profit before tax B 54 A4 A 342,372 484,079
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEETE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2018: 16.5%) —E-NF:16.5%)
AAHEZHIE 56,491 79,873
Higher tax rates for specific provinces 45 7F & 17 3k & H B8 8 #fh 2
or enacted by local authorities LISy e 17,448 52,397
Adjustments in respect of HBEHMEZ
current tax of previous periods EHATIE R (9,577) (7,826)
Profits and losses attributable to FEAL B & Bl ) S B 1B
associates (42,343) (38,242)
Income not subject to tax BARBUA (22,800) (12,941)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR 35,524 36,510
LAT THIIERER - 167
Taxes relating to disposal of ERLENB AR ZHIEA
subsidiaries - 41,690
Tax losses utilised from EylERERER: ol
previous periods HIEEE (1,646) (4,537)
Tax losses not recognised RIER B IAEE 8,555 5,586
Tax charge at the Group’s AN EEETR X
effective rate AFEZMIEX 41,652 152,677
The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to DEESE —MEBERQ ﬂ I A
approximately HK$99,125,000 (2018: HK$82,618,000) is 99,125,000/ 7T ( —E-NF
included in “Share of profits and losses of associates” in 82,618,000/ 7T) E qu)\%?\/m\T,\ R [ JE
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. HEERRRAREE] -
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31 March 2019 —F—NWF=HA=+—H
DIVIDENDS 11. |k &
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Proposed final — HK3 cents (2018: BEARE -SRI EARIEL
HK3 cents) per ordinary share ZE-NF 3B 37,713 37,653
Proposed special — Nil BEzEr-SskREBRE
(2018: HK2 cents) per ordinary share ( —Z — J\4F : 27&1ll) - 25,102
37,713 62,755

12.

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,256,654,659 (2018:
1,254,363,152) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as
used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed
to have been issued at no consideration on the deemed
exercise or conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares into ordinary shares.

12.

REFZZBRYRBAFARARIR
KAV AR ZBRBFERNE L1 /ER
JTRIEE

B 7% 6 3 8 Mk PE 5O\ EAG
5 Ik B A

BREABNSEDIRES AR EBER
%ﬁﬁ}\%{aﬁirg,ﬂuxzﬁwaﬁéﬁ
TR 2 N 719 801,256,654,659%
(—Z— )\ :1,254,363,1520% ) st &

BREERMNSEIREY AR EEK
BEBEARGAFEGBNAE -EFE
R RTERA 2 BB P8R EE
BREXRBNAEAZ FAEHTERR
BB URRBTERBRAABLS
BEARASEBRRBREEEETH
EER TR
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. B 2 6] % 8 Ik B+ A O\ e S
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY RN D)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ERERREERN DIREA T SIER
are based on: =
2019 2018
—E-hEF AN S
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Earnings ZF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ IRt E SRR EAR KL #E
holders of the parent, used in the ARz &R aE)EERE
basic and diluted earnings per share 5 4& A FE15 % 7
calculations 277,958 317,017

Number of shares

BB
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Shares i &l
Weighted average number of ordinary FR st EFREREF ~
shares in issue during the year used HFABE 377 E @A
in the basic earnings per share N5 8
calculation 1,256,654,659 | 1,254,363,152
Effect of dilution — weighted average — ## 2 22 — @Ak
number of ordinary shares: DItEF I &
Share options IR AR 749,055 2,928,205
1,257,403,714 | 1,257,291,357
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. WE-FBERk&H

EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plantand fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER &
BEENE IhREF  WEEE #E RERRHE R ERIR e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT  THR  TER  TER  TER TR TR TEx
31 March 2019 —“E2-AF=F=t+-H
At 31 March 2018 and RZZE-NEZA
at 1 April 2018; =T-RRZE-NF
mA—A:
Cost or valuation REAEREE 410,599 326,257 197,904 45,189 112,155 23,975 70,74 1,186,253
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (117,570 (73,095) (119,795) (24,388) (85,435) (21,005) - (441,288)
Net carrying amount FEFE 293,029 253,162 78,109 20,801 26,720 2,970 70,174 744,965
At 1 April 2018, net of accumulated R =Z—/\FWA—H"
depreciation and impairment ENREHNERRE 293,029 253,162 78,109 20,801 26,720 2,970 70,174 744,965
Additions RE - 23,843 29,790 36,292 11,693 2,596 53,240 157,454
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 39) W —MEHBAF
(Fit3£39) - - 4,493 467 160 - - 5,120
Transfers B - - - - - - - -
Depreciation provided FRFERE (H156)
during the year (note 6) (11,088) (10,424) (18,532) (2,394) (8,981) (812) - (52,231)
Disposals HE - - (1,579) (676) (1,076) 9 - (3,340)
Exchange realignment ERHAE (19,326) (15,721) (3,705) (596) (522) (166) 4,717) (44,753)
At 31 March 2019, net of RZZ-n%=A
accumulated depreciation =t+—-B BHBZ
e 262,615 250,860 88,576 53,894 27,994 4,579 118,697 807,215
At 31 March 2019: RZE-NE
ZA=+-8:
Cost or valuation ERAEREE 383,493 331,320 217,406 79,095 116,480 25,688 118,607 1,272,179
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRAE
impairment (120,878) (80,460) (128,830 (25,201) (88,486) (21,109) - (464,964)
Net carrying amount REFE 262,615 250,860 88,576 53,804 27,994 4,579 118,697 807,215




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B W8 Ok I aE
—F-NEZA=+—A

13. ¥~ Wi &t o

31 March 2019

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles i progress Total
BE % R &l
BEME  tHRET  DERE BE KERRA B ERIR okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT FAL FAT FAL TAT FET TAT TR
31 March 2018 —E-\¥=A=1+-H
At 1 April 2017: RZT—tEmA—-A:
Cost or valuation REAERIEE 373,592 233,997 164,148 40,546 95,146 23,565 26,862 957,856
Accumulated depreciation and ZEFERAE
impairment (95,915) (61,983) (98,768) (19,450) (73,194) (21,240) - (370,550)
Net carrying amount FEFE 277,677 172,014 65,380 21,096 21,952 2,325 26,862 587,306
At 1 April 2017, net of accumulated R=ZT—+FmA—F"
depreciation and impairment BNREHTERAME 277,677 172,014 65,380 21,006 21,952 2,325 26,862 587,306
Additions RE - 77,903 26,032 1,709 12,887 2,106 64,342 184,979
Transfers i - - 2,697 - - - (26,195) (23,498
Depreciation provided FRTEERE (Fiz6)
during the year (note 6) (11,181) (8,408) (14,810) (2,838) (8,454) (1,212) - (46,908)
Disposals & 2,739) - 6,311) - (413) (28) - (9,491)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40)  HEH B2 A ([i40) - (8,828) (409) - - (428) - (9,665)
Exchange realignment ERAE 29,272 20,481 5,530 834 748 207 5,165 62,237
At 31 March 2018, net of RZE-NE=A
accumulated depreciation =t+—-B BHKZ
e 293,029 253,162 78,109 20,801 26,720 2,970 70,174 744,965
At 31 March 2018: RZZ-N\F
=A=+-8:
Cost or valuation REAEREE 410,599 326,257 197,904 45,189 112,155 23,975 70,174 1,186,253
Accumulated depreciation and ZEHMERAE
impairment (117,570) (73,005 (119,799) (24,389) (85,435) (21,005) - (441,288)
Net carrying amount FEFE 293,029 253,162 78,109 20,801 26,720 2,970 70,174 744,965
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. W% -MhE kil

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80AA of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equijpment, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, their total carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$807,000 (2018: HK$839,000).

At 31 March 2019, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$184,718,000 (2018: HK$205,621,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 45).

The net carrying amount of the Group’s property, plant
and equipment held under a finance lease included in
the total amount of furniture, fixtures and equipment at
31 March 2019 was approximately HK$43,000 (2018:
HK$62,000).

BYSXAERMGEMCRERRER
B EEERATER-NANEF=A
=t REAKEETHELMEET
ETER -B-ANEFE AEEZHE
B REFIEBETE-SEML R
AAAEEFHEREE S ERIZE16
SR BE K AR T FEBOAAB T2
BRGXR B Z B eHZERNERIRG
BIRZME BENRRBETE—F
EfMZBRE-

Mz EHE i RIEF LR £ A AR
2RI E MMERREBEAR B8R
M B FE #) 5807,000/ T (ZF— N\F:
839,000/ 7T ) °

RZE-AF=ZA=+—0 KE£EE
T % (B 49184,718,0008 7t ( — & — )\
£ :205,621,000%& 7T) 2 & TYE &
ERZECDEER ERATSEERSE
FRITEE 2 EIR (K13E45) o

R-ZT—NAF=ZA=+—8 KNEBH
ARG HERRBREC BRERET
BEZYDE BEREGZEDFED
A43,00078 7T ( =& — J\4F : 62,0008
JT) °
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. K& W *
2019 2018
—B—hE | —T\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B EE FER TET
Carrying amount at beginning of R E¥] 2 BREE @ IR 4 1E
year, at valuation 1,764,648 1,527,202
Additions AR 88,422 94,047
Transfers LLE - 38,776
Net gain/(loss) from fair value NTFEAREEZ
adjustments Wz, (E518) %58 6 (9,079) 128,626
Exchange realignment bE i B (21,411) 31,197
1,822,580 1,819,848
Less: Amount classified B D BRARHERE 2 25
as held for sale* - (565,200)
Carrying amount at 31 March, W=A=+—HZKAEE"
at valuation mitE 1,822,580 1,764,648
* In the prior year, the Group entered into a provisional sale * RNE—FF AEFE—ZEBYFE=FH
and purchase agreement with an independent third party ot DA 48 1% (B64,380,0000% T E BEE
to dispose of an investment property located in Hong {8 /A55,200,0008 T2 A REBEHBZ —
Kong with a carrying amount of HK$55,200,000 for a TR A EF LGB s bl
total consideration of HK$64,380,000. The above asset, PR —E—NEFE=/=+—H+—
which was expected to be sold within twelve months from BMEARNLEYEEDR -_E— N\FE=
31 March 2018, was classified as an investment property B=+—HoEABEELEZ%
held for sale as at 31 March 2018 and was presented BYEIRGEAERMBRIAENERS
separately in the consolidated statement of financial Gl o AR BB IELE IR EYE
position. During the year, the investment property held for D e

sale was disposed of.
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. £ EW ¥ ()

The directors of the Company have determined that
the Group’s investment properties consist of three
classes of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and
industrial properties, based on the nature, characteristics
and risks of each property. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 March 2019 based
on valuations performed by Vigers Appraisal &
Consulting Limited, independent professionally qualified
valuers, at approximately HK$1,822,580,000 (2018:
HK$1,764,648,000). Each year, the Group’s management
decides to appoint which external valuers to be
responsible for the external valuations of the Group’s
investment properties. Selection criteria include market
knowledge, reputation, independence and whether
professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
management has discussions with the valuers on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for financial reporting. Certain
investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are
included in note 43(A) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s investment properties with
a carrying amount of approximately HK$1,618,605,000
(2018: HK$1,622,055,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking facilities granted to the Group (note 45).

Further particulars of the Group’s principal properties are
included on pages 261 to 271.

RAREFCREBESWHEEE  FiE
kEBEEASEREMER-BEE
A (BEE mERIEDE)HERK-
R-ZE-NE=A=+—H AEE2
BREMERBERABYEESERGE
MERITEEF GEMERAREITZ
HEEGE A1,822,580,00008 T (—F
— J\%E :1,764,648,000/8 7T ) - BFE -
AEEZBERBERELZEINEGEME
EASBREYE ZINBME  BELE
AIBEMSAE B8 B ERESH
SEHEEE - REBE ERERM R
HETHEREGER N REERR
HEER ETREMENRLCERE
MYE=F E—THEFBLHNY
TE K M FE43A) A ©

MN_BE-AE=F=+—08 &x&£EE
T 8 49 /1,618,605,00058 7T ( =& — )\
F :1,622,055,0008 ) 2 EWED
EER EAREBERETRITEE
R (BF5E45) o

AEBIEVEZE - TFBIARE
261F2718 °
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. &Y ¥ (50

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY NR W
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINTAEBREMHE 2 AT ETE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: [E 4% -

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2019 using
R-E-AE=ZR=+—H
FAUTEEETZATENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE EATEE EXTUEE
ZHE BAE BAE
(%5-%) (B=%) (B=4) @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THIT THL THL FHT
Hong Kong: Bk
Commercial properties HEME - - 128,500 128,500
Industrial properties TIEM% - - 118,542 118,542
Residential properties FEME - - 6,828 6,328
Mainland China: A B A B
Commercial properties HEME - - 1,495,877 1,495,877
Industrial properties T¥M% - - 72,833 72,833
- - 1,822,580 1,822,580
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) ~ 14. & & % % (s
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) ARSVEIED

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2018 using
RZBE-NF=A=1+—H
FRAATSEETZATENE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERMSE EATBER EXTUER

ZHE BAE BAE
(F—4) (B=8R) (B=4) et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR T8 TBT TET

Hong Kong: Hik:
Commercial properties BENE - - 104,701 104,701
Industrial properties TEME - - 108,628 108,628
Residential property =t //ES - - 2,400 2,400
Mainland China: A B A
Commercial properties BENE - - 1,528,168 1,528,168
Industrial properties T¥M% - - 75,951 75,951
- - 1,819,848 1,819,848
Less: Commercial property B BARBELEL
located in Hong Kong fInEEZ
classified as held for sale HEME - - (55,200) (55,200)
- - 1,764,648 1,764,648
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER BEESEENEMNE -—REF
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no BZAFEAERTBERE=RFPEA

transfers into or out of Level 3 (2018: Nil). R (ZE-N\F E)o
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. &Y ¥ (50

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) NFEEH )
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BERE=ZMATFEERAN 2 A FER
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHER:
Hong Kong Mainland China
E# PEAKE
Commercial Industrial Residential  Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties properties
BENE IEM% FEHE mENE TEN%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET Tir T FET Tir

Carrying amount at 1 April 2017 RZZ—+EMA—-HY

FHE 26,700 97,075 - 1,394,181 9,246
Additions NE 79,824 - 3,065 - 11,158
Transfers BA - - - - 38,776
Net gain from fair value adjustments ~ RBEER  ATERE
recognised in profit or loss W&m5% (1,823) 11,553 (665) 107,642 11,919
Exchange realignment EHA%E - - - 26,345 4,852
104,701 108,628 2,400 1,528,168 75,951
Less: Commercial property B OBABENEL
located in Hong Kong fiAEEZ
classified as held for sale EEUES (55,200) - - - -
Carrying amount at 31 March 2018~ W=E—/\F=A=+—H
and 1 April 2018 R=Z-\¥WA-A
ZEEE 49,501 108,628 2,400 1,528,168 75,951
Additions NE 82,585 - 5,837 - -
Net loss from fair value adjustments ~ RERBERZ ATFEHRE
recognised in profit or loss EEFE (3,586) 9914 (1,409) (14,577) 579
Exchange realignment ERA% - - - (17,714) (3,697)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2019~ R=Z—-NE=A=1—H
ZEREE 128,500 118,642 6,828 1,495,877 72,833
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. £ EW ¥ ()

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) 2V B % ()
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TR EYEGERR 2 MERM
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REEHAE:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
fhE & il EATTBEBAE &E
2019 2018
ZE-hE | ZZ-NF
Hong Kong:
BE:
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$17,000 to | HK$16,500 to
(er square foot) HK$40,000 | HK$101,000
EEIUES ERLBE fhst B (B FHER) 17,0006% | 16500512
40,000 | 101,0007% 7T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$2,250 to HK$2,050 to
(per square foot) HK$3,250 HK$3,000
IEm% BERLIBE fhat B (B FHER) 225082 | 205081L%
3,250/ 1T 3,000 7T
Residential properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$7,000 to HK$6,700
(oer square foot) HK$8,500 6,700/ 7T
FEME BELRE fhstmfE (B FRER) 7,000 L £
8,500/ 1T
Mainland China:
h B :
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$22,807 to | HK$22,213 to
(per square metre) HK$81,871 HK$83,177
BEME BERLIBE fhat & (8 FAK) 280TBTE |2213BTE
81,871 T 83177 T
Income capitalisation approach — Estimated rental value HK$58 to HK$62 to
(per square metre per month) HK$175 HK$188
WAERILE fhstEE (BT HRKER) 582 62ELE
1758 1T 18878 7T
Capitalisation rate 8.5% 8.5%
YN[
Industrial properties Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$16.4 HK$15.6
(per square metre per month)
IX0% WAERIE fhstBE (BEARKER) 16,438 T 15.6/8 70
Capitalisation rate 8.5% 7.5%
BERfLE

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to recent transactions for similar
properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,

etc. between the comparable properties and the subject

properties.

RIBEZLEL RFETD2EBOE
RO B LG XA E
LEMEBRNME XS A Bk
BHEESEZZRIELAE-



14.

15.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
metre in isolation would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the investment properties.
A significant increase/decrease in the discount rate in
isolation would result in a significant decrease/increase in
the fair value of the investment properties.
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- & /EXE )
NI TE R o)

BRI E A% AT EDE LD
$H2 AR ST REE 2 ERE
GIELE

AEtiEERGEATE (BFHR/ K E
BAEEN, OB ERIREYEN R
FEKREZM B FREEFAE
g/ RO EBREMENRTER
bER A I 0 e

PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 15. 78 1f &+ s M & 3% 18
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year R &E 4] 27 BRE & 13,409 27,107
Addition during the year FRNARE 20,157 -
Transfer to investment properties EEEREYE - (15,278)
Recognised during the year (note 6) A& R #ER ([t 5£6) (507) (429
Exchange realignment b i A (916) 2,009
Carrying amount at 31 March R=A=+t—HzZERHEE 32,143 13,409

Current portion included in debtors,  BNHAER > B & £ JE UK BR 3K »

deposits and prepayments e REMNRIEZRN (828) (455)
Non-current portion JEBNERER o 31,315 12,954
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16. GOODWILL 16. /&
31 March 2019 —E-AF=A=+—H
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2018: RZZE-NFNA—QR:
Cost DN 95,269
Accumulated release upon sale of HEBERMERAEL
developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment RETRE (35,053)
Net carrying amount EEFE 58,928
Cost at 1 April 2018, net of RZZE—NFMNA—BZKA"
accumulated release and impairment Mk R EL RRE 58,928
Impairment during the year (note 6) FEREE (FEE6) (8,721)
Cost at 31 March 2019, net of R-E—NFZA=Z+—H2ZHKK"
accumulated release and impairment Mk REFEBE RRE 50,207
At 31 March 2019: RZE—NF=A=+—8:
Cost BN 95,269
Accumulated release upon sale of developed HECBRREMERTED
properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment REHRE (43,774)
Net carrying amount R FE 50,207




16. GOODWILL (Continued)

31 March 2018
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16. 7 & (g)

—E-NF=A=+—8H

HK$’000
FET
At 1 April 2017 N-TE—+&EmM/—A:
Cost DN 95,269
Accumulated release upon sale of HEDERVFRTELD
developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment 25 E (3,663)
Net carrying amount BREFE 90,318
Cost at 1 April 2017, net of RZE—+FMA—BZKA
accumulated release and impairment Mk 2T EL MRE 90,318
Impairment during the year (note 6) FERRE (KE6) (31,390)
Cost at 31 March 2018, net of RZE—NFZA=+—BZEAX
accumulated release and impairment Mk R EL RRE 58,928
At 31 March 2018: RZFE—-—NF=A=+—8:
Cost BAR 95,269
Accumulated release upon sale of HECERMERSELD
developed properties (1,288)
Accumulated impairment ZEHRE (35,053)
Net carrying amount BREFE 58,928
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16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16.
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units (group of
units) for impairment testing:

° Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel;
° Hong Kong restaurant and food; and
o Property investment and development.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (group of units) are as follows:

EEEXE D

78z W
HERAHAMKE SEDAREUT
34 7 A B AT (BRI R LA R B B

o HEAEER RMMEE:
s FBREBERM K
s YMERENER-

PERERRESELEM (FLER) 2B’
ZHREEMNT:

2019 2018
=EB-hE | ZFN\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET

Mainland China restaurant, FEAREZRE  R@&BE
food and hotel - 8,721
Hong Kong restaurant and food HEEBERR M@ 50,207 50,207
Property investment and development #1318 & & 3 & - -
Carrying amount at 31 March RZAZ+—HZEREE 50,207 58,928

The Group’s recoverable amount of the above cash-
generating units have been determined based on a
value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets/forecasts covering a five-
year period, the remaining land use right period and the
expected development project period for the Hong Kong
restaurant and food cash-generating unit, Mainland China
restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit and
property investment and development cash-generating
unit, respectively, which were approved by senior
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections range from 10% to 11% (2018: range from
10% to 13%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the
cash flows of the Mainland China restaurant, food and
hotel cash-generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant
and food cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period
was 3% (2018: range from 3% to 5%).

AEB MR SEEEN ZTKRESEE
EFEARERREBABHEZRSF
H-AEEEREMBEELASM -+
BEAEZSR RmREERSELEN
NEMERERERBCEABNSH
ZHT T RENERERERIER
Mz MEBE BB RETE A
ZEREBEFEET -ReneBAE
BZIBRENF10%E11% (ZZE— N
FNT10%E183% ) cHBBRFH 2+
BAEESR BRMABEERSEEEMN
URBEBAERRGRSEEEM 2T
EREUNEBREAZ% (ZT—NF N
T3%E5% ) HETTHE A -



16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2019
and 31 March 2018. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwiill:

Budgeted revenue/gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted/forecast
revenue/gross margins is the average revenue/gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget/forecast year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and/or expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of approximately
HK$8,721,000 relating to the goodwill allocated to
the Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel cash-
generating unit, being the carrying amount thereof (before
deducting the impairment loss) that it could not recover.
The impairment loss arose mainly due to increasing
intense competitions and other negative factors affecting
that cash-generation unit.

In the prior year, in contemplation of the disposal of the
Group’s equity interest in Carrianna (Hunan) Enterprise
Co., Ltd. (“Hunan Carrianna”), the Group recognised an
impairment loss of approximately HK$31,390,000 relating
to the goodwill allocated to the property investment and
development cash-generating unit, which was attributable
to Hunan Carrianna and its subsidiaries that reported
under the property investment and development operating
segment, being the carrying amount thereof (before
deducting the impairment loss) that the Group could not
recover.
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16. 7 & (g)

A 2 W E R s

AE-T-NF=-A=t—HKkZ
—NF=A=1+— EIZJ:}EIE@F’_{
Iz EREER SEARRK EEER
HR SR ETRAETT R ERER AT K
BEZETERREAMT

TBEWA EEREN-AEETEE
BRI A BB EFIFTIEEEE s HE%E
AEREEE BAFTEN —FREZF
BHRAZBEER - WE FTERABERE
R/ KBTS ERMAS -

730 5 — T P 2 3 B s R B BB AT
BRB BB SRR

HE-Z-—NF=-A=1+t—HLFE"
AEBECRREEIREPEREE
FRERBERESELEMZHER
EE1E4 58,721,000/ 7T BNE AT Uk
Bl BREE (RBEEER) - RES
BFEHRHEFE AR N 2R
CELEMNBERZMM-

REFE REBELEASEREERH
(R EXBRAR ([ABEE=EH])
ZHRER AEBORREMAREE
ﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁfﬁ}%“ﬂr&{Ezm%%&ﬁ&
BREEEDHERCNEEYMHELER
BRESELSE uZPﬁ%mEEﬂ\,ﬁ
31,390,000/ 7T+ Bl AR E A A i |l 2
BREE (FNBRIREEIERT) -
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17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 17. £ & & &

2019 2018
—E-hEF —TE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FET
At beginning of year: NG
Cost B - 533,559
Accumulated amortisation BT 5 - (174,165)
Net carrying amount BREFE - 359,394
Cost at the beginning of year, REF KA - bk 25T #H
net of accumulated amortisation - 359,394
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) HE KB AR (M FE40) - (359,394)
Net carrying amount BREFE - -
At 31 March: R=ZA=+—8:
Cost B AR - -
Accumulated amortisation REt# i - -
Net carrying amount BREFE - -

As further described in note 2.4 to the financial AN AE IR R T A2, 4P - BE BRI 2
statements, the amortisation in the prior periods was BT ASERPMEERT NN 2 —
included in properties under development as part of the oo

land costs.
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 18. it W & 2 6l Z HE i

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FET
Share of net assets DIEEE 733,595 439,300
Due from associates P LI B o Z IR 273,114 300,092
Loans to an associate wY—ME NAalzE 47,201 129,116
1,053,910 868,508
Portion classified as current assets 7 f8 A& EZHD (60,736) (81,960)
993,174 786,548

As at 31 March 2019, the amount due from an associate RZE—-—NF=ZA=Z+—8"'%4

60,736,000/ 7T ( —ZF — \F - ,\)ZF’E
WHt & AR 2 RIAABEIE R TR -
%%wuﬁj uiﬁgﬁﬂ—ﬁkﬁﬁféﬁ .JJ:tu+

amounting to approximately HK$60,736,000 (2018:
Nil) is unsecured and interest-free. In the opinion of the
directors, this amount will be repaid on demand and is

thus included in current assets as at 31 March 2019. %E@:;ﬁ—ﬂiiﬂ =+—HZRBE
The remaining amounts due from associates and certain FEM 2 R A)Z R SURIA AR T —H
loans to an associate of approximately HK$47,201,000 Bt N Rl 2 B T ' 4K47,201,000% 7T
(2018: HK$47,156,000) are unsecured, interest-free and (=& — /\E 47,156 OOiO/%TE)%Eﬁ
have no fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the AR BRI li}(%’_mi KR EER
directors, these balances are unlikely to be repaid in R LR ﬂﬁﬂ%?ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ’\]ﬂﬁﬁ’\l‘i
the forseeable future and are considered as part of the T\Zﬁ H?E%EZ%ZK%@E’\\\%%@ET S E
Group’s net investments in the associates. /?%EZ o
As at 31 March 2018, a loan to an associate amounting R-ZF—)\F=A=+—H 66T M
to approximately HK$81,960,000 was secured by HﬁﬁMAEZﬁEﬂE@ﬁ“ BRI R 5
the pledge of the entire share capital of South China FLBERA z Al ([FEREER]) 2 HRA
International Purchasing Exchange Centre Limited (“SCI”) YEH 7 &?ﬁziﬂ E12%s B2 EHRA B
and bore interest at 12% per annum. In the opinion of the 81,960,000/87C * EERR N —F—/\
directors, the loan at 31 March 2018 was then expected F= )i —+—ACZERERERRKE
to be repaid on demand and was thus included in current EREE AT ARZE-N\F=A
assets as at 31 March 2018. =t—RBZRBEE-
Particulars of the material associate are as follows: FEBENAFHOT:
Place of Percentage of
Particulars incorporation equity interest
of issued Business and attributable
Name shares held structure business to the Group Principal activity
AT R
% BFRERTRAFHE ERER EEME rEEELERESE FEER
2019 2018

ZE-AE | ZE-N\F
§CI*‘ Ordinary shares (unlisted) Corporate Hong Kong* 50 50  Investment holding
ERER L@k (L) N e REER
# SCI'S financial statements were not audited by Ernst & ’ ERRIRR 2 B R I A BB LK

Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of the Ernst & B EBIN L KR EBA D
Young global network RAB 4R < ALK B & 5HAD %i‘%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
Mainland China is the principal place of business of SCI's * FREAESZEERRE 2 EZZEMBER

principal subsidiaries ZEBEEME,
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18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

SCI and its subsidiaries (collectively the “SCI Group”) are
mainly engaged in property investment and development.
The SCI Group is considered as a material associate
of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, is strategic to the Group’s property
investment and development operating segment and
has been accounted for using the equity method in the
consolidated financial statements.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any

18. P B AE 2 (8)
EEER L EIBAR (5 [EHE
EE )T EREYLEELBRER-
B EE RS AN EE S S
BN AATBERA HHAEE
TRIRE B R
B RS A B RS SR 2 AR 5 A BE -

L0 BB AR BRI

TRINREMBEREE 2 MBEENRE
(EMEEBERZEMNEREHAR) K

differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the HREMBHmRAANZREEYR:
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2019 2018
=E-NF —E—)\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Current assets mEE E 267,277 713,591
Non-current assets FERBEE 3,186,195 1,977,546
Current liabilities TEE E (628,273) (1.035.452)
Non-current liabilities EI bR (1,578,628) (840,027)
Net assets BEF 1,246,571 815,658
Less: Non-controlling interests B IEIERR R (2,397) 579
Net assets attributable to EmEREEER A
owners of the SCI Group EihEEEFE 1,244,174 816,237
Recongiliation to the Group’s interest E2:t AJERENE E 2 A&
in the SCI Group included in non- REMBEREE 2 K
current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7N £2 [ B A 4 2t 1 50% 50%
Group’s share of net assets of AEFEEGEREREE
the SCI Group BEFE 622,087 408,119
Unrealised interest income eliminated 7k %38 F 8 Ug A ¥ §4 (109) (4,372)
Amount due from the associate JrE U Bt 2 N B 5K IR 212,205 299,920
Loans to the associate BT ENF 2ER 47,201 47156
Carrying amount of the interest RERZERKEEE
therein® 881,384 750,823
Profit or loss and other EmEREEEE ARG
comprehensive income attributable 1828 R H b 2 EU A -
to owners of the SCI Group:
Revenue WA 42,321 508,612
Profit for the year NSl 516,971 487,895
Other comprehensive income/(loss) ~ Hfh 2 EK A (&) (89,034) 105,331
Total comprehensive income AFEE2ERABRE
for the year 427,937 593,226
* Excluded an amount due from the associate of * R-ZB-hE=A=+—0 T8k

approximately HK$60,736,000 as at 31 March 2019
(2018: a loan to the associate amounting to approximately
HK$81,960,000).

Wi Bk & x A 2 IR K] /%60,736,00078
T(ZE—N\F B TFHERTNERY

81,960,000/ 7T, ) °



18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial
information of the Group’s associate that is not individually

Notes to Consolidated Fipancial Statements
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18. U & A8 2 W (8

THRIFAEEERNTEAZ YL AT
BB AR

material:
2019 2018
—E—hE | —z=—nf
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Share of the associate’s loss FAREEEE R FERE
for the year (1,863) (54)
Aggregate carrying amount of the REBRBEAR ZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates BEETHEE 111,790 35,725

19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED

19. 45 % B 4% 22 F i 51 Bk ot /L

AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH i A T WA H R B 2 g 4k
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE BN ERE
INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS
2019 2018
—E-nE | —Z—N\%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Equity investments designated BERERAFEIERERR
at fair value through other Hth2HEWAPEEZ
comprehensive income RERE
Listed equity investment, at fair value MR E LA FE 175,098 -

Unlisted equity investment,
at fair value

FLTRERE RAFE

37,643 -

212,741 -

Available-for-sale investments AHEHERE
Equity investment listed in
Hong Kong, at fair value

Unlisted equity investment, at cost

/NS ]

REBLTRSRE

FLMREERE  ERA -

- 245,971
49,988

- 295,959
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19.

20.

NF=ZH=+—H

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME/AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE
INVESTMENTS (Continued)

The above equity investments were irrevocably
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income as the Group considers these investments to be
strategic in nature.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the fair value loss
in respect of the Group’s equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income (2018:
available-for-sale investments) recognised in other
comprehensive income amounted to approximately
HK$70,902,000 (2018: gain of HK$23,624,000).

As at 31 March 2018, unlisted equity investments with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$49,988,000 were
stated at cost less impairment because the range of
reasonable fair value estimates was then so significant
that the directors were of the opinion that their fair value
could not be measured reliably. The Group then did not
intend to dispose of them in the near future.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

19.

20.

EEBBEAFHEIERNHE
m%ﬁWA*Eﬂzﬁﬁ&
&Mt ERE @

HRASER S LS E BT
G AR E SN R B 1 T R F R
BRAFEINRENEMZEEAPEZ
o

HE-ZT-NF=-A=+—HLFE"
AEEREMEEMBRARRZIEEBIE
AFEFERAREMEEBRAFERE
BmEE (ZE—\F JHEEERE)
2 AF{EE B4 A70,902,000% 7T (=
T — \F : W 2523,624,000/8 7T ) °

RZE—N\F=ZA=+—H EKAEY
/49,988,000 7T 2 3E E s Txﬁhz
RANBRRES R BEREEQATE
B SHEARNEZUABEERABEATF
BEEEARTE - ANEEER RN
RBEREEZEFLMERKRE -

0 50 Bk R R 4R & R

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BZzLMEE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Listed equity investments, FiEREE wAYE
at fair value 35,911 30,745
Listed debt investments, FTHEBERE BEATFE
at fair value 149,547 63,573
Unlisted investments, at fair value FELEM®RE  ZRFE 11,639 18,164
197,097 112,482




20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

21.

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The listed equity and debt investments at 31 March 2019
were classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments at 31 March 2019 were
fund investment products issued by banks. They were
mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are
not solely payments of principal and interest.

The fair values of the listed and unlisted investments
were based on the market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions or quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period.

At 31 March 2019, the Group’s financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$83,564,000 (2018: HK$75,287,000) were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 45).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed with banks. The
Group designated the structured deposits as investments
at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31 March 2019,
the aggregate fair value of the structured deposits was
approximately HK$817,000 (2018: HK$124,264,000)
and total realised and unrealised fair value gains of
approximately HK$530,000 (2018: HK$2,098,000) were
recognised by the Group during the year.

The fair value was based on the market values provided
by financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

20.

21.

Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements
Mﬁﬁimi

31 March 2019 :? jlfﬁ =HA=+—H

%A 1 50 Bk & R 4R g R
MWz & E s

RZZ-NF=A=+—H8 ks
REBRERBEDFHEEEM D B AER
NPEFABGZC EREE-

FHRFLFTRER-_ZFT-NLF=A
ST BEORBITRTZIESREE
meBHREAHNRERELIHESLRS
BB E I BOR 6 0 BRE AT
BIRMABETRENSREE -

R EETRE 2 R FETIZS R
BROHZTE/DXFEINREHRZ
MIGWE RELE-

RZZE—NEF=ZA=+—H A&£EE
B %) 583,564,000 70 (= F — )\ F :
75,287,000/ 7T ) 2 & R FEV R KR
BaPRECEREEDEER EA
REEMERE TRITEE ZER (K
5¥45) ©

& B A K
KSR T AR TV R A TEI R RIS B

fﬁmZ%{%ﬁm AEEBDBEBET
FIEEREATFEIERRABEHEE
& F:E@—nﬁzﬂEnL—El-
ERM T B AT ERZ817,000/8 7T
—ZT— \fF 124,264,000/ 7T) A K E

I8 N AR N F AU S ARZE47530,000
B (ZZ— )\ :2,098,000/% 1) 2

RERNBANEERER -

NHEDREHEBERNRE
MER/EE-

HREHRZ




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

22. PROPERTIES UNDER

22. BRI YERFELED X

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES

HELD FOR SALE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT HRh %
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T—)\4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
At beginning of year R F A) 366,693 962,701
Additions NE 34,649 71,024
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) &M B AR (MFE40) - (712,048)
Transfer to properties held for sale  EREFHFELEWE (11,307) (839)
Exchange realignment BE 5, 53 & (23,123) 45,855
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 366,912 366,693
Properties under development TEHAR A TR T 2 R
expected to be completed: ER
Within normal operating cycle BERRBEEZ ARKLE
included under current assets* R I 68,392 -
Beyond normal operating cycle BEBERIERBEEZ
included under non-current AE K& R
assets” 298,520 366,693
366,912 366,693
Properties under development TEEIR AT H B2 BEEN
expected to be completed within W T RA ez B RAP Y%
normal operating cycle and
recovered:
Within one year* —F R - -
More than one year* Bl —F 68,392 -
68,392 -

*

senior management.

The Group’s properties under development are located in

Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Based on the current best estimates made by the Group’s

*

B e

REASESREREEFH 2ER&

fEfhat e

REME 2 ERPWERLN T BIARENRE

AAREBZBEERMERN-ZT
—hWEF=ZA=Z+—"BHLEEAEY
£294,679,0008 L (ZF — N\ F:
314,128,000/ 7T ) 2 T Hb {5 FAfE

Included in the Group’s properties under development
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$294,679,000 at 31 March 2019 (2018:
HK$314,128,000).
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22. PROPERTIES UNDER 22 BRI ERFIELEY X

DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES (%)
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE e &Y%

REERIELEMEMRPRRERE
BR-_ZE-NE=ZA=+—H E@
428 4910,989,0008 7T (=& — \F :
23,417,000/ 70) 2 FHIEH EME D E
ER (ERASEMERE THRITEE
R (BF5E45) ©

The Group’s properties held for sale are located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong. As at 31 March 2019,
properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$10,989,000 (2018:
HK$23,417,000) were pledged to secure certain banking
facilities granted to the Group (note 45).

23. INVENTORIES 23. F &
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T Tt
Food and beverages B &k 24,220 26,212
24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 24, MEWBR X~ 2 K T X A
PREPAYMENTS
TRADE DEBTORS JEW B 5 IR 3

18 4 5 8 5 #923,571,000% 7T (= F

Included in the total balance is an amount of s
— J\%F :38,103,000/8 7T ) &AL E 2 fE

approximately HK$23,571,000 (2018: HK$38,103,000)

. WE Z R
representing the trade debtors of the Group.
2019 2018
—B-hE | —TNF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THETT
Trade debtors FEUE BERR 46,868 68,550
Impairment A (23,297) (30,447)
23,571 38,103
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24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 24, JMEWER & ~ % 2 T A ft 2K E

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

TRADE DEBTORS (Continued)
CREDIT TERMS

For restaurant, bakery and hotel operations, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on cash
or credit card settlements. For sale of food products,
customers are generally given 30 to 90 days credit terms,
except for new customers or certain food products,
where payment in advance is normally required. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
trade debtor balances. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

Generally, the Group does not hold any collateral or
credit enhancements over its trade debtor balances,
except in the prior year, the Group received a guarantee
from a related party in respect of certain trade debtors
amounting to approximately HK$15,911,000 as at 31
March 2018 (note 46). Trade debtors are non-interest-
bearing.

An ageing analysis of trade debtors as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

(80

B 55 0 3 (o)
fi 55 3%

SBE  HEEBEEBNE AEHE
BERFPZEZHRREBAREHER
TEE -RMIFEMS B —REXR
30E90H 2 EEH EMEFPHNETR
amAFRIN - EE—RAFLNR - AKHE
SREERAEEREE SERFGEHRE
TERER SREEETHHAME
PRETTERR -

— s AEETESEEKE FR
REBBFAEEARERSEERA B
REFEE AEBBERIIKEREEALT
BN -—Z—N\E=A=+—HHET
FEUS B 5 BR £ 4915,911,0005% 7T B & (R
(MIzE46) - B E BRI BTETE -

RBEHR BREZERRIZEZAH
KR EEBE R ITAT

2019 2018

—E-hEF —FT-NF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTET FHT

Current to 30 days BNE§ZE30H 15,649 11,153
31 to 60 days 31E60H 4,038 3,037
61 to 90 days 61Z290H 1,939 948
Over 90 days HE90H 1,945 22,965
23,571 38,103




24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

TRADE DEBTORS (Continued)
CREDIT TERMS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade debtors are as follows:
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24. JE W Bk K~ 4% & S TE A Ak R

(&)

el B 5 IR & (8)

fa B R (8)
KRB SER 2 REEEREZSH N
T

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T—)\4F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHET

At beginning of year T EFA) 30,447 28,356

Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 BRANE B I s AR

FOR T E 7,999 -

At beginning of year (restated) REF] (LEEH) 38,446 28,356

Impairment losses, net (note 6) BEEE FRE (MFE6) 3,161 549

Amount written off as uncollectible  {EA& A U [l 2 il 5 & 58 (17,397) (505)

Exchange realignment ME W R (913) 2,047

At 31 March W=A=+—H 23,297 30,447
OTHER DEBTORS H i JE i R 5k

Included in the balance of debtors, deposits and
prepayments is amounts due from third parties of
approximately HK$216,626,000 (2018: HK$50,867,000),
which are unsecured, except for certain other debtors
totalling approximately HK$203,375,000 as at 31 March
2019 (2018: HK$35,746,000) which are guaranteed
by certain third parties, bear interest at 2% to 33.33%
(2018: 5.35% to 16%) per annum and repayable within
one year. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
senior management.

EWERR IR e RENRBZ &R BE
FEU 55 = 77 FIB#9216,626,000/8 7T (=
= — )\ : 50,867,000/ 70) * B @ E
AEER(BRZE—NF=A=1+—
HRETE=ZFAERZETHMEK
BRRA $£49203,375,0008 7T ( —ZZ— )\
£ : 35,746,000/ 7T ) 1) ~ I EFIE2%
%383.33% (=T — /\F :535%%E16% )
AERER—FABEE-aREEERT
S E A R T T R B o
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24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 24, JMEWER & ~ % 2 T A ft 2K E

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
OTHER DEBTORS (Continued)

In addition, included in the balance of debtors, deposits
and prepayments are outstanding consideration
receivables for the disposal of Hunan Carrianna
of approximately RMB436,776,000 (equivalent to
HK$509,805,000) (2018: RMB543,281,000 (equivalent
to HK$678,940,000)), which are unsecured, interest-
free and are repayable in four (2018: five) installments
with approximately RMB331,913,000 (equivalent
to HK$387,410,000) (2018: RMB223,086,000
(equivalent to HK$278,790,000)) repayable within
one year being classified as current receivable. The
remaining consideration receivables of approximately
RMB104,863,000 (equivalent to HK$122,395,000) (2018:
RMB320,195,000 (equivalent to HK$400,150,000)) is
the last installment repayable by September 2020 being
classified as non-current receivables.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE DEBTORS UNDER
HKFRS 9 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2019

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (including, inter alia, by geographical region,
product type and/or customer type). The calculation
reflects reasonable and supportable information that is
available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

(&)

H A 7 IR 3K (s

BEAh - FEURERER - B & RIEN FIBZ 5
BIELESHEER 2 HREERERE
W R IE A A R #436,776,0007T (FBE A
509,805,000/ L) (ZE—NF: AR
#543,281,0007T (16 & 7678,940,000
f%r‘n) ) BEREAEEREAR RER
BARMNH(ZE—N\F: ﬂﬁﬂ)taaa
”‘EP%’JAE%S& 913,000t (#E &
387,410,000 L) (ZZE— N\ F: AE
#223,086,0007T (18 & $278,790,000
BI) )/,\EA FANEE BHEAER
BEKRBEB - FRRESKBOARE
104,863,0007T (18 & 122,395,000/
L) (ZZF—)\F: AR#¥320,195,000
7 (#88 $400,150,000/8 7T) ) A& 1%
—HER-_ZT_TFNAREE HH
BAIIERIERFRIE

I AE AT A6
MR AWM B R EENBIRER
“EF-AFE=ZA=t+-HILFEZ
JE W B 5 MR Sk i
REHRE B R W TR
ST - AR BIEREEATE - BER R
BB A ELERER (B15 (HhaiE)
HE - ERERR REFER) %
55 5E R RS BT - R E
&%ﬁﬁiaﬂT BB BB B
BRI RR R A R
R



24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE DEBTORS UNDER
HKFRS 9 FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2019 (Continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade debtors as at 31 March
2019 using a provision matrix:

Notes to Consolidated Fipancial Statements
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24. JE W Bk K~ 4% & S TE A Ak R

(&)

R ELEE P

MEFEREREENLORHE
“E-AE=ZH=t+—-HI%&E2
JEWCE 5 IR 3O (g
TXHFIERE AR EEET EAEE
RIE—NE-A=-+—AZREKEZES
EREERBHER:

Expected Gross Expected
credit loss carrying credit
rate amount losses
HHEE BHEE
S REAE EiE
% HK$'000 HK$'000
% FET FHET
Trade debtors aged: EWE 5 RN BRER
Current to 3 months past due BOHAZ %60 HA = (& A - 21,933 -
Over 3 months past due B HRER R = E A 93.4 24,935 23,297
Total et 46,868 23,297

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE DEBTORS UNDER
HKAS 39 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2018

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
debtors, which was measured based on incurred credit
losses under HKAS 39, as at 31 March 2018 was
a provision for individually impaired trade debtors of
approximately HK$30,447,000 with a carrying amount
before provision of approximately HK$31,096,000.
Such provision was determined after taking into
account the ageing of individual debtors’ balances, the
creditworthiness of the debtors, the repayment history
and historical write-off experience. The individually
impaired trade debtors as at 31 March 2018 related to
debtors that were in financial difficulties or were in default
in payment and only a portion of the debtors is expected
to be recovered.

MEFEGTENLEIREEZZF
—NE=ZA=+—-HILFEZEK
B 5 MR

R - E-NE=ZA=+—H2zEK
EoRRCRERE (ENREEES
STERIERE TN ZEEAEEEIEA
)P BEERNDRAERKE S ERRE
2 B 4930,447,00058 T © 7% 55 B IR
AR A B B AT BRI (B %) £31,096,000/8
TLo kB BRI R BEEERNER
ANEBRZERR - BHEAZERTER &
FREMBIMERELCHR IV E - RZF
—N\FE=ZA=+—HZERBRERK
B O RNEmBR BRI R
B AE G T8EE AT Uk Bl 265 e Uk B

o
A °
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24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND 24.
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF TRADE DEBTORS UNDER
HKAS 39 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2018 (Continued)

The ageing analysis of the trade debtors as at 31 March
2018 that were not considered to be impaired under
HKAS 39 is as follows:

MEWR B A % @ R TR AR
(#)

R

RERFEGTEUNFIORBE_F
—“NE=ZA=Z+—-HIEFEZEK
B 5 W W (8
R-E—N\GE=A=+—AREE5e
SHERIE39% 2 RIERRE L ERE 5
BERBERITNT

2018
—E-NF
HK$’ 000
FET

Neither past due nor impaired R AR R OBE
Less than 1 month past due BE LR —EA
1 to 3 months past due mH—Z==[@A
Over 3 months past due 180 B A 38 = {5 A

11,414
3,153
609
22,278

37,454

Trade debtors that were neither past due nor impaired
related to a number of trade debtors for whom there was
generally no recent history of default.

Trade debtors that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of debtors that had a good track record with
the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of
the Company were of the opinion that no provision for
impairment under HKAS 39 was necessary in respect of
these balances as there had not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances were still considered
fully recoverable.

REHTRARRIE 2 EUE 5 BR85Sl
WATEIN R RO 2 EULE Z AR

EERHERREZEBKESRRES R
HEASBRERIFEGRBEZEBAE
B RIBBERR ARAEERS M
REEBRME AR EEERYREL
BEXEH ARFAERDRARAIBH
Wm - B ERIEE S & 5T 2 RIF 395
FAUEVE AR (B R o



24. DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND

PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER DEBTORS UNDER
HKFRS 9 FOR THEYEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2019

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed
at each reporting date by considering the probability
of default of counterparty. As at 31 March 2019, the
probability of default applied ranged from 1.0% to 51.0%
and the loss given default was estimated to be 51.6%.
Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to, inter alia, the industry of
debtors, credit quality of debtors or historical loss record
of the Group and/or other reasonable and supportable
information available. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect
the current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied as at 31
March 2019 was 4.8%.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other debtors are as follows:
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24. JE W Bk K~ 4% & S TE A Ak R

(80

UREREEE

MEFEMBERERENFOREE
“E - AE=ZHA=Z=+—-HItEEZ
H A e i AR A
REBZERT BEIMIIREHRE
HEBEBEBERSEFHELHZAIEMNE
HET-R-_ZT—hLh&EF=ZA=Z+—H8 B
JER N F1.0%ZE51.0% 2 & £ 0] sE 14 -
EE Qi EE 2 BB A{hET A51.6% o
TEHEEERNERERBIEEHAE
TET W2 E (KR EE) BBAZIT
¥ EBAZEEEEZSIAEEELE
Btk K/ R EMAI S AEAREE
e BIEREEAR R E TR R &
RIRGEBEAMR AR (MBER) - RZF
—NWNFZRA=+—HBHEAZEBEEXA
4.8% °

HihEWERR 2 REBEREEZH N
T~

2019

—ZE-hEF

HK$’000

FET

At beginning of year REH] -
Effect of adoption of HKFRS 9 FRME B HmEER

FR T E 29,778

At beginning of year (restated) REY (KKE5) 29,778

Impairment losses, net (note 6) REEE - F5E (MisEe) 5,603

Exchange realignment ME B (233)

At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 35,148

IMPAIRMENT OF OTHER DEBTORS UNDER
HKAS 39 FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH
2018

None of the other debtors at 31 March 2018 was either
past due or impaired, and there was then no recent
history of significant default of other debtors.

MEFEGHEUEORBE_F
“NF=ZA=+—-HIbFEZ LM
M R R K O
R-F-N\F=ZA=+—B HELbE
W BR AR R EA TR AR - B 30 A
o W BR 3 2 EAR AT ESL -
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25. DUE FROM DIRECTORS 25. JEW & F K
Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed BIEE B A BMEGIE383(1)(d) Rk R EHE
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong NE(BBREENEER) ROIE3E .2
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong RMEBRBZERESTIEEELT

Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:

At Maximum

Maximum 31 March amount

At amount 2018 outstanding
31 March outstanding and 1 April during the At
Name 2019 |during the year 2018 prior year 1 April 2017

RZT-\F

REEE =ZA=+—H RE-FER
R-B-h% HEEE RZIT-NF HAEE RZT—+F
] =B=+-H ZEREH mA—H LEREH MA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FHT TR FAT AT
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENEEE 7,408 31,697 5,648 34,195 34,195
Mr. Ma Kai Yum BNt 522 5,687 - 1,837 -
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SEHEE 2,568 2,568 1,013 1,519 1,344
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong RENEE - 65 - 9% -
10,498 6,661 35,539

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest- JEWEEFBEAEER 2ERKEX

free and repayable on demand. EE-
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26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, 26. e kB SFHEEH - ZMH

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED

B¢ Rk B W e 8 fF

TIME DEPOSITS
2019 2018
—E-hEF T N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Cash and bank balances Re MEITER 125,837 335,258
Time deposits T BiTFE R 45,924 58,463
171,761 393,721
Less: Pledged time deposits for B AREARITER
long term bank loans B2 EHFER (35,492) (35,018)
Pledged time deposits for AREERTER R
short term bank loans and HiiR1TEEEMZ
other banking facilities EHFR (9,920) (9,151)
Restricted cash (note) ZBRHIZRE (M) (90) (602)
Cash and cash equivalents RekRe&FEEE 126,259 348,950
Note:  According to the relevant contracts/agreements, PisE: RREEAN BE AEEZY

property development companies of the Group are
required to place at designated bank accounts certain
amounts as deposits for potential default in payment
of mortgage loans advanced to certain property
purchasers. Such guarantee deposits will only be
released either after the property ownership certificates
are submitted to the banks as collateral or when the
property purchasers have repaid the full mortgage

loans to the banks.

EERQARBTR —ESBENIETE
RITRPIERE S RABERIR
BERZETHREREHRER-
ZARESFREREERITER
FEEEEMKZMEERART
B2 B IRIBERE T T #ERR -
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26.

27.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS,
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated
in Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$65,231,000
(2018: HK$246,774,000). The Renminbi is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on daily bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE CREDITORS

An ageing analysis of the trade creditors as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

26. e kP FEHEEH - ZRH

He kP H®MEHFR @

RBEEHR AEBUARBEE
WReRBITEHEGFEREHFTFRAH
#4965,231,0008 L (=& — )\ &F :
246,774,000/ 70) - AR I IER] B M
HIMBEMERE - AT - IR B R REER
CONEE Hll 5B K 4508 - SIE AT EE
BIRPIRE)  AEBREEFBIFTHE
TINEEBIRITHIBMARBAEME
iﬁgo

ETRATRSEE ARTERAE LT
B E RS R TAEE Y DER
SEK - EHEERZ HET— AT
—BE=ERATE WIRTRZEHE
1 R« BT ST B
BN AR B e DR R
SR

27. FEfH B 5 Bk &

RIFEBR ENESRRIZEZAH
ZERER O

2019 2018

—E-hEF —T—)\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FExT FET

Current to 30 days BIEAZ30H 30,495 34,256
31 to 60 days 31£260H 8,057 5,883
61 to 90 days 61%290H 7,367 2,253
Over 90 days #3890 H 5,093 3,145
51,012 45,537

The trade creditors are non-interest-bearing and are
normally repayable within the normal operating cycle.

BNEZERRRHENBHARLER
LEBHAEER-



28. OTHER CREDITORS, ACCRUALS AND

DEPOSITS RECEIVED

Included in the total balance is an amount of
approximately HK$17,319,000 as at 31 March 2019
representing the contract liabilities of the Group.

Details of contract liabilities as at 31 March 2019 and 1
April 2018 are as follows:
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28. L e B wk ~ HEEHE I R E

Wﬁ%é
RIE—NEFZA=Z+—HZEE%
%,%’717,319,000/%7E2%$§%@Z = ,ﬂ:%

f&e

RZE-NF=ZA=1+—BEZ=F-N
$IEH EIZ”S%’JET%%I%ZZDT-

31 March 1 April
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
=B=+-—H MmA—H
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET

Consideration received from FAWEFCIE

customers in advance

Restaurant, food and hotel EE RomRBE 10,328 11,420
Property investment and development #1318 & & 3 & 6,991 8,272
Total contract liabilities EHaERE 17,319 19,692

Contract liabilities include consideration received from
customers in advance for the Group’s restaurant and
bakery operations, sales of food products, sales of
properties and the leasing of commercial properties. The
decrease in contract liabilities in the current year was
mainly due to the decrease in consideration received
from customers in advance at the end of the year.

A8 EREEREPRERARESE
B EEREEEGE HERS WHE
MELREEHENE AOBERA
FRAD T EEMNEFR 2 BREP
BRI -
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29. PROVISIONS 29. B
Provision for Provision for
onerous restoration
contracts costs Total
BEMESARE EBERARESE Batr
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHT
At 1 April 2018 R_ZE—)\F
mH—H 1,005 4,293 5,298
Additional provisions i - 420 420
Amount utilised during RERNEAZ ©HE
the year (1,005) (120) (1,125)
Exchange realignment PE 5 i - (131) (131)
At 31 March 2019 R_Z—NF
—A=+—H - 4,462 4,462
Portion classified as nEREREBE T
current liabilities - (1,050) (1,050)
Non-current portion IEME 2 BB - 3,412 3,412

The provision for onerous contracts is made for
obligations under non-cancellable onerous operating
lease contracts when the underlying properties are not
used by the Group and the net costs of exiting from the
contracts exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received under them. The provision was fully utilised over
the remaining terms of the underlying operating lease
arrangements during the year.

The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their
original state or to a condition, as specified in the
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the
termination of the relevant lease terms.

The provision for reinstatement costs was determined
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by
the directors of the Company with reference to past
experience and available information. The assumptions
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate.

EHEMETERAREER  BRH
BRZRAFEBBA QAT RHRK
Uz 8B N as - BIBLA Al sE dH S 1R AR
EHEAMNBE T ZAETELEBRESD
BT BECRERKEEHERY
ZHRTFHAREZRSA -

ERAABREEARENERBESER
SRR HEEENEREEFHEE
w2 RMAEIIRRZEER
g -

ERRABELN2ERELRRAIES
ERYRBAARESMELZE TR
REMEHMETE - ZEFBRELMEETU
FBRMEET (ERA) ©
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. MR ZH T R HE A&

OTHER BORROWINGS
2019 2018
—E-hF “E-0\F
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
ERFE BEBRRAE
(%) ZHA TAT %) EIH#B8 FTAET
Current
b
Bank overdrafts — secured 4.0-5.3 On demand 13,682 3.4-5.3  On demand 15,668
FOEZ-FHE RERK REKE
Bank loans - secured 1.9-5.7  On demand 753,873 1.6-5.7  On demand 695,744
BOER-BHEF REXRE RE K
Current portion of long term 1.9-6.9 By March 2020 208,768 1.6-56.8 By March 2019 116,268
bank loans - secured
RBRTEFZNBHD R-Z-Z% RZZE-N%F
kvl =RA = A
976,323 827,680
Non-current
FE R H
Bank loans - secured 2.7-6.9 2020-2023 308,576 21-56.8  2019-2022 330,227
BOIEH-FHE “ECEER —E-NEFE
—EC-=E —E-fF
1,284,899 1,157,907
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND 30. Mt & Z s AT I KA £ B (a0
OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)
2019 2018
—E-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FERT FHET
Analysed into: palil= I
Bank overdrafts repayable BARERKFEEZRITEX
on demand 13,682 15,668
Bank loans repayable: IRITEFENRE:
Within one year or on demand —F NI BEKEEE 962,641 812,012
In the second year B F 63,185 90,992
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEZERF
(BEEMEREEAN) 245,391 239,235
1,284,899 1,157,907
Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank and RZE-—NEF=ZA=+—H 4%
other borrowings are borrowings with an aggregate Eff S 2 RITEEMEETREREE
carrying amount of approximately HK$130,010,000 as ##7130,010,0008 7L (=& — )\ & :
at 31 March 2019 (2018: HK$37,491,000) which are 37,491,000 70) 2 B EAAREEHE -
denominated in Renminbi. The remaining interest-bearing HuM S 2 RITREAMEEABTE
bank and other borrowings are denominated in Hong Be
Kong dollars.
Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other REEETHEZRITREMEETIA
borrowings are secured by the pledge of certain assets BERAEEETEERER £—F&F
of the Group as further detailed in note 45 to the financial B B R M 5T45

statements.
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31. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 31. EffmEME
The Group leases an item of equipment for its restaurant, AEBREER RERBEEKMMA
food and hotel business. The lease is classified as a E-BEXRB - ZHEFREARERE
finance lease and has a remaining lease term of 2 years. R N AHER A2 o
At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H @EHEE
payments under the finance lease and their present values BT ARSEHAENREERERE
were as follows: T
Present value Present value
Minimum  of minimum Minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
BEREMK SEREMNT
REREMK ZRE | FERENK ZBE
2019 2019 2018 2018
“Z-NE  ZE-AF “T-N\FE ZE-N\F
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT TET FER
Amounts payable: KT E R 2 508 :
Within one year —FR 18 18 18 18
In the second year E-F 25 25 18 18
Third to fifth years, inclusive F-EEELF
(BREEMF) - - 25 25
Total minimum finance REREMENRESE
lease payments 43 43 61 61
Future finance charges ARBEER - -
Total net finance lease payables ENRERERBRTE 43 61
Portion classified as current liabilities 28 & RE & ERH (18) (18)
Non-current portion JERNERE 5 25 43
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32. DEFERRED TAX

32.

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year

are as follows:

#E I B IR

AEREEVARE I EESHMT

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 0% JE B A
2019
—E-nE
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from  Revaluation
related acquisition of of investment
depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
BKEHE
BRERNE LNRE£Z REMZE
MITERBE  ATERE Eff st
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT THERT TR TER
At 1 April 2018 RZZE-N\FMA—H 20,641 6,894 221,598 249,133
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to AEEBRERF
the statement of profit or loss %/ (GtA) 2
during the year (note 10) BRI (ME10) 11 (461) (3,506) (3,856)
Exchange realignment fE 5= - 165 (2,159) (1,988)
Gross deferred tax liabllities RZE-NF=A=1—H
at 31 March 2019 ZERHEAREE 20,752 6,598 215,939 243,289
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32, % B IR (@)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) i 2 B IE & (a0
2018
—Z-N\F
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
R
BRAEHNME  RRE4Z REMF
MTERHE  ATERE B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THT TR FET
At 1 April 2017 RZZ—+FMA—H 22,941 238,018 189,616 450,575

Deferred tax charged/(credited) o~ RFEEZ R

the statement of profit or loss %/ (GtA)Z

during the year (note 10) JEEHIE (F510) (2,300) 772) 29,890 26,818
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) & KB A A (i FE40) - (231,050) - (231,050)
Exchange realignment B 5 A% - 698 2,092 2,790
Gross deferred tax liabilities RZE-NF=ZA=+—H

at 31 March 2018 ZERRIEE ERE 20,641 6,894 221,598 249,133
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32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 32. % B IA (@)
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are RAFEZEERBEEEZSHNT !
as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS % JE B I B E
2019
—ZT-NF
Losses available for
offsetting against
future taxable
profits
A A DA BR R 2R
JE R B A
W iH 2 B 1R
HK$ 000
FET
At 1 April 2018 R-ZE—\EMA—H -
Deferred tax credited to the statement of REEEEEXPIFAZ
profit or loss during the year (note 10) EERIE (M1EE10) (49
Gross deferred tax assets at 31 March 2019 RZE—NF=ZA=+—8Z
FREMIBEEMRE (49)
The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of AEEBERBEAZHEBEAL
approximately HK$297,139,000 (2018: HK$271,837,000), 297,139,000 7T (=T — )\
subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland 271,837,000/ L) F BB AEMEBE
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for Bk AR MEEEEERIEA
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies NERE A BB 2 BB AR 2 RRERT
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated HAEE - AERBENTNBEREFEAE
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately a8 & 18 49159,058,000/8 7T (=&
HK$159,058,000 (2018: HK$184,318,000), subject to — J\4F : 184,318,0005 70) (/A%
the agreement by relevant tax authorities, that will expire MEHKERER  FA{EE)  r MtEE
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable BAIR—FERFAE  ATANE
profits. Other than as disclosed above, deferred tax RIRERB BT - Br EXFTIRERE
assets have not been recognised in respect of these SN HREREBRIRR TR REEL R
losses as it is currently not considered probable by W R aMNBERETSEA LS
management that taxable profits will be available against MIBEE AL EEEERELR

which the tax losses can be utilised. THEE -




32. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2019, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,504,059,000 at
31 March 2019 (2018: HK$1,367,437,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.
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32. ik 2 B E (@)

i A BLIE B E (4

RIR (PEBERERE) - PR
A2 NI B R EMIFEIMNEEE TR
ZHE  ZBHEUR10%TEINH - BRIETE
BT N\F—A—ABE® WEA
R_EZLF+ A=+ HBHEMES
Z BT o fis B K Pk BRSNS B E T B
ALARER 2 T A BBIEL B RE
EEAREHH - AEEB2EALEA
5%510% - At - REBEAGRZFRF
BIKEK 2B AR ST NF—
A—BRELEZAMNMDIRZKREHR
SEEE

R-TE-—NF=ZA=+—8 AEBL
R B RRBER Y B BB RIEN 2
MB AR ZAEHABNEMNS BN
BRELEHBE-EERE ZEWEQ
ARARARRDIRZERF 2 ET
A R-_TE—HhE=F=+—R0 @Y
PREAECZHBARIZIRER B B
M 48 = 58 A H #491,504,059,000/% T i&)
RERRELEHEEE(ZT—\F:
1,367,437,000/ 7T ) °
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33.

34.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 33. fikemIH
INSTRUMENT
Asset
BE

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Interest rate swap ) %= 4= HA 41 139
Portion classified as non-current DHEBIEENE 2 &8 (41) (139)
Current portion BNHAER - -

During the year, the Group used an interest rate swap
to minimise its exposure to movements in interest rate
in relation to one of its floating rate term loans with
a nominal amount of approximately HK$25,000,000
(2018: HK$35,000,000). The interest rate swap was not
designated for hedge purposes and was measured at
fair value through profit or loss. A fair value gain on the
derivative financial instrument of approximately HK$3,000
(2018: loss of HK$107,000) was credited to the statement
of profit or loss during the year.

DEFERRED INCOME

The Group’s deferred income represents cash subsidies
received from a government authority in respect of a
property development project in Mainland China. Deferred
income of approximately HK$165,000 was released to
the statement of profit or loss during the year ended 31
March 2019 (2018: HK$467,000).

34.

FRN - AEEFHAHESTEL25,000,000
7870 (=ZZF — )\ : 35,000,000 7T ) 2
Rl =42 B LURE A O B — TR B BR A
FEER R N R B EIEEE
HHrARRERATFERBETERESR
EZMTAESRITAZ AFEKEZEYD
3,000 7T ( = F — )\ £ : E518107,000
B BERFENFTABRE -

i A

AN £ B A IR SE WA R 3R U B R AT 3B P
R—IERBEAEYEZRRFTE2RS
wp-HE—_T-NAF=A=+—HL
FERELEWRAL A165,0008 T (=ZF
— \FF : 467,000 L) BB ABE R -
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. Ik A&
SHARES 1 13
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Issued and fully paid: BB T MR AR A
1,257,087,536 BREME0.108 T2
(2018: 1,255,087,536) @ AR1,257,087,5360%
ordinary shares of —E—N\F:
HK$0.10 each 1,255,087,536k% ) 125,709 125,509
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RAmZRASESHELT
is as follows:
Number of Share
shares Issued premium
in issue capital account Total
2#1T
RH#E EROTRE ROEER @it
Note HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
it & TEL TET TET
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+&F
mA—H 1,253,887,636 125,389 1,394,299 1,619,688
Share options exercised BT BRE (a) 1,200,000 120 1,122 1,242
At 31 March 2018 and RZZ-N\F
1 April 2018 ZA=+—8k
—N\F
mA—H 1,255,087,536 125,509 1,395,421 1,520,930
Share options exercised BTE e (a) 2,000,000 200 1,938 2,138
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NF
=B=+—H 1,2567,087,5636 125,709 1,397,359 1,623,068
Note: BEE
(@)  The subscription rights attached to 2,000,000 (2018: (a) P 32,000,000 (== — /\ % :
1,200,000) share options were exercised during the 1,200 000)193 B R 2R ﬁ%TE BERA
current year at the weighted average subscription price [T IR N T R f“ & %0.8107%
of HK$0.810 (2018: HK$0.777) per share (note 36), T(=% —J\¢ 0.777/#7L) T LATT
resulting in the issue of 2,000,000 (2018: 1,200,000) 158 (B “}36) B B E 172,000,0008%
additional ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each for a total ( :?t)\i : 1,200,000H§ ) B EE
cash consideration of approximately HK$1,620,000 (2018: 0.1 O;ﬁ JC 2 Fa AN S’éf Bl R ER
HK$932,000). An amount of approximately HK$518,000 # #) /31,620,00078 JT (:%ﬁl— J\E:
(2018: HK$310,000) was transferred from the share option 932,000/87T ) ° RITERE AR - 88
reserve to share premium account upon the exercise of #9518,000/% 7t ( =Z— J\ 4 : 310,000
the share options. ) B REREREERERDRE

©
iR
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES 36. B Mk HE 5t &

The Company operates a share option scheme (the
“2015 Option Scheme”) during the year for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group and consultants of any
member of the Group. The 2015 Option Scheme became
effective on 24 August 2015 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. If the number of share options of the offer
to directors or any of their associates is in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, the grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
in which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.

FA-ARFRE - EBERETE (=
T-RFEBRESE]) REAKEE
B2RINELBER 2 A BR2EERM
B S BRR - LAt EI A BIR2EER
BARPES (BRBUIFNTES)
AEBEME T RAEEEMKE AT
ZEE —E-RFBRESIER
Z-RFENAZTHBERRER &Kk
FERTTHBELER HAEZAETFR
R AR

RIE—T A FRRER S AR
ZIRARITEBRE LRERNEITEE
ARBREMEBDBETROERZ
10% (R — F R 2 BIREBGE I
[REE AR ERERAERRAS LHE
MAMZEENEBBABRERR

BRTESERELNTEEEESEARRE
SMIERITESH M- WIRE FESNKE
ERMBBAZERESE BRAEAQT
REREE 2 TN 0.1%sk A E12
& A EAfE - BB E (RR T B ERAQT
2 B{B) 8 3485,000,000/8 7T BIl#% 78
TEAR R R R A EHE - AR
AREBBABNAE FRERE-

AT R B H#E28 RN R
BB S NREAIE T - BTE
ENITHEHRESEE -
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 36. M 1 #E E B a)

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BRECZITEERESETE  KEAS
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing VLPEUNTEEZ&SE (AR ERKRMN
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily REZEAH (ZBEKEREER)NES
quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong BERXSFBRAR ([#RAM])BR®
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the offer date, which BRI ZWTE: (\RHREBEIRES
must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing BHmAEEEARBIMERARESR
prices of the shares stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily FT%l) 2 Ui (& ¢ K (iii)Ax 7 E (A
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately

preceding the offer date; and (jiij the nominal value of a

share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to BN IR T A ARFERR S
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. RRRERE LRERE

The following share options were outstanding under the ERFEEN _ - FBERETEIT
2015 Option Scheme during the year: MARTTE 2 BEBARERNT

2019 2018
“E-hE —T-N\F

Weighted Weighted

average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options

mEFEY ETH

TEE BREHA 1B BREHA

HK$ HK$

per share per share

Shign BRET
At beginning of year REA 0.810 20,100,000 0.807 24,800,000
Exercised during the year RERTTE 0.810 (2,000,000) 0.777 (1,200,000)
Lapsed during the year REREXR - - 0.801 (3,500,000)
Forfeited during the year RERZ M 0.810 (3,900,000) - -

At 31 March R=RA=+—H 0.810 14,200,000 0.810 20,100,000

2,000,000 (2018: 1,200,000) share options were 2,000,000f7 (== — )\ 4 : 1,200,000
exercised during the year. The weighted average share M) BRERNFNEITE - FREITFEZ
price at the date of exercise for share options exercised FERRAERN T TR B HR 2 IR R D B 4%
during the year was HK$1.180 per share. BER1.180%E T
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 36. M M #E EF B a0

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share REEREARITER 2 BRIEZITEE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period NATEERRIN T -

are as follows:

2019 —E-hE
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE THEBEH
HKS$ per share
BRET
5,200,000 0.810 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020

—E—RF+A+HZE

—T-TF+A+HAAH
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020
—E-RENA—H=ZE

—EEF+A=+—H
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021
—E—tFEN\A—HZE

—FE—FtHA=+—H
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2018 to 31-7-2022
—E-N\ENA—HE

—EFIFtEA=1+—8H

14,200,000
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued) 36. B M Bt B om0
2018 —ZT-)N\F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREEE TEE 116 HME
HK$ per share
BRRETT
5,200,000 0.810 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020
E-RF+TATABEE
—E_FEF+ATHAH
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020
- ~FENA—B=
:E_gitﬂ_+ H
1,300,000 0.810 16-10-2016 to 15-10-2019
—E-RE+A+TAHE
:g NWFE+A+THA
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021
—tFN\A—HZE
T —FtEHA=+—8
1,300,000 0.810 16-10-2017 to 15-10-2020
—E—+tF+A+HE
—E_FEF+ATHAH
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2018 to 31-7-2022
—E-NENA—BZE
—E__F+A=+—8H
1,300,000 0.810 16-10-2018 to 15-10-2021
—E-NF+A+RBZE
—FT—F+H+HAAB
1,000,000 0.810 16-10-2019 to 15-10-2022
:7::¢+H+£E
1,000,000 0.810 16-10-2020 to 15-10-2023
:§:§¢+H+ﬁﬁi
—ET-=%+A+AaH
20,100,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * AR T TR (BRI AR AL AR 31T
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other AR N EIRA 2 E A ER L B E E

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.

®’o
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36.

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (Continued)

No share options were granted during the current and
prior years.

2,000,000 share options were exercised in the current
year resulted in the issue of 2,000,000 ordinary shares
of the Company and new share capital of HK$200,000
and share premium of HK$1,938,000 (with a transfer of
HK$518,000 from the share option reserve) as further
detailed in note 35 to the financial statements.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
14,200,000 share options outstanding under the 2015
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 14,200,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
issued capital of HK$1,420,000 and additional share
premium of HK$10,082,000 (before issue expenses and
excluding the transfer of amount from the share option
reserve).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 14,200,000 share options outstanding
under the 2015 Option Scheme, which if exercised in full
would represent approximately 1.13% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 76
and 77 of the financial statements.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in Mainland China. The transfers to these
reserves are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds are restricted as to
use but can be used to offset against future losses or to
increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

36.

37.

i It HE AT E (a0

RAEERBEFEARERLBKR
e

2,000,00017 B AR EE N AN EJET T -
B E2172,000,00008 AR 7 8% KT
% 4200,0007% 7T & f% 15 34 181,938,000
78 7T (3[R 148 B IR 1% 1 92 %88518,000
BIT) (U0 75 3R R MY s 35FT i — U F
) e

NBEER BE SR EHERES
£l A2 &) 5 14,200,00017 & A% i K
TE-BEBEARRRITRALE 28
TR ARITE 2 BREGEHANFRE
SNE%4714,200,0000% I 8 % K BESINE 3%
1TR%A51,420,000/%8 7T A K BB INIRAD (42 (B
10,082,000/ 7T (¥1Br 1T Z A1 BT
BIEAEREREER 2 2E) -

RLELRETBHERERER BEZ
T-—hFERETE A2AH
14,200,00017 B f& 7 18 AR 1718 W 7B
HAFAMERARAREREETRNYD
1.13% °

fof f

ARBHEREE LBEFEZ BN
BRAEBEBE2IINHEREATOR
TTEZ A RREDR-

REE 2 FHfE RN B B AREK
MZMBRETRED IR ZEE R - I
BRAZEEE R RIBETEMBBERK
FRBEZSHE LSHETZAE
SR - ME R LR 2R 2 1R 4 3K o R 1R 4
DB A ) Z AR
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 38. B & k&R 2 k4

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & It 8 2w
INTERESTS
During the prior year, the Group completed the disposal RE—FE AEETKHEERNE
of its entire equity interest in Hunan Carrianna (note 40). EE 2 2 EBAE (FIFE40) - BB IEE
Details of the Group’s subsidiaries that have material Bk ERNEERBIAEERNER
credit balance of non-controlling interests are set out Al FIBEST
below:
2019 2018
—ZE-h#&F —T-N\F
Percentage of equity interest held by ~ FE3E A% AE &5 P AR 2
non-controlling interests Btk
— Sleek Treasure and its subsidiaries —IEE & EHE A
(“Sleek Treasure Group”) (MNEE & E ] ) 40% 40%
- Hunan Carrianna and its —HEEEMRRENB AR
subsidiaries (“Hunan (M E=ESER])
Carrianna Group”) - -
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to EIERER
non-controlling interests $¢E/ﬁﬁ 7,/ (E8)
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE£E (4,685) 783
— Hunan Carrianna Group” —mEEREE" - (2,795)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT IR S 2 IR B
interests
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & 660 -
- Hunan Carrianna Group — i EEE R - 3,118
Accumulated balance of RERE BB 2 FEiRiER 2
non-controlling interests S
at the reporting date
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & 8,605 13,953
— Hunan Carrianna Group — A EE L E - -
8 For the period up to the date the Group lost its control of : HEASBREXENBEEENEEY

the Hunan Carrianna Group EHEE B LA
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38. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised TRINTIEESE R AEEEHER 2

consolidated financial information of the Sleek Treasure GREMBERBZ -FIEE T AT
Group and the Hunan Carrianna Group. The amounts A ARIEEER 2 25 :

3. BEERERKRHERZIEL
& I8 2 ()

disclosed are before any inter-company eliminations:

Hunan
Carrianna
Sleek Treasure Group Group
EE%E HEEERRE
For the year For the year For the period
ended/at ended/at ended/at
31 March 2019 31 March 2018 28 September 2018"
Bz HE BE
“E-hE —ZE-N\F —E-N\F
=R=t—-H =A=+—H AAZ+N\H
LFE/R ILFE /B 12108
“E-hE —E-N\F —T-\F
=R=+-H ZA=1+—H nAZ+NR"
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THL THT
Revenue A 334,194 331,533 34,059
Profit/(loss) for the year/period KEE/KEHEF/ (BE) (12,089) 1,536 (35,878)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) KEE/KH2ARN,/
for the year/period (BR)EE (12,089) 1,536 (34,030)
Current assets MEEE 45,141 54,352 N/A T A
Non-current assets, including goodwill  3ERBVEE - BIEFE 76,726 61,251 N/A T ER
Current liabilities mBAE (98,847) (80,191) N/A T ER
Non-current liabilities FRBEE (2,684) (2,325) N/A T8
Net cash flows from REEHEHReNETHE
operating activities 21,538 10,960 39,200
Net cash flows from/(used in) REEBHME/ (FIE)
investing activities RemeFE (17,400) (12,243) 3,666
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEEDAHE/ (1)
financing activities BemneFsd (7,662) 6,217 (45,194)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash ReLBEEEEE
and cash equivalents g,/ (R )3E (3,524) 4,934 (2,328)

The above summarised consolidated financial information * A EERAUMBENTZE RMIKEEIE
has reflected the effects of acquisition accounting, SRR RERELRATEAE-
including goodwill and fair value adjustments.

b BEAEEREE B EEHREENES
BE R IFHE

For the period up to the date, the Group lost its control of
the Hunan Carrianna Group




39. BUSINESS COMBINATION

On 31 October 2018, the Group respectively acquired
40% and 20% interests in FYI T EIBEREERERER A
7] (Shenzhen Chao Mei Li Dining Management Company
Limited) (“Chao Mei Li") from Lin Fu Ran and Zheng
Chong.

Chao Mei Li operates three “Chao Mei Li"( Ei#§ &)
branded Chao Zhou cuisine restaurants in Shenzhen,
Mainland China. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash paid at the acquisition
date.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of
Chao Mei Li as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
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39. ¥% A b

R-ZT—N\F+A=Z+—8 X&EBH
BRI AE R e B0 EE U BE R Yl Th B B &
HREBAERAA ([EEE]) 240% K
20%E 5 ©

AR R EAMRYIE S = [#1E
B miE 2 MIMNER WEER B
REARSHARKE B -

BRI EERBENEEEH
ZRFEIT

Fair value

recognised

on acquisition

A UK B B

BRAZAFE

Note HK$'000

B 5T FHET

Property, plant and equipment Y% BB Mk 13 5,120
Cash and cash equivalents RekRESFBHER 16
Inventories FE 115
Debtors, deposits and prepayments IR - & MIB FRIAE 727
Other creditors and accruals HEMENERRETER (134)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value BATFEFEZTHANEE

FEMETE 5,844
Non-controlling interests FEVE R = (2,334)
Satisfied by cash AR & (815 3,510

The fair values of the other debtors as at the date of
acquisition amounted to HK$508,000. The amount of the
contractual cash flows at the acquisition date is expected
to be collectible.

EmmWEZRKEBR AFES
508,000/ L - MUEE R B2 & 4R &R
STEEB U E -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

39. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 39. % A b ()
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition EHAWENBARAIZEEREN A
of a subsidiary is as follows: N
HK$’000
FHET
Cash consideration ReERE (3,510)
Cash and bank balances acquired Frieig o B e RRITHET 16
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents AAREEREREZRE R
included in cash flows from investing activities IR E1E B 7 B /F58 (3,494)
Since the acquisition, Chao Mei Li contributed BUEEEIER  HEERAEE 2 &
HK$5,103,000 to the Group’s revenue and resulted BHRA5,103,0008 TR FAEEEE T
in a loss amounting to HK$1,581,000 to the Group’s —NEZA=Z+—BHIEFEZEZEERH
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 March 2019. = A 518 1,581,000/ 7T ©
Had the combination taken place at the beginning of WEZEHRFVEET FRAE
the year, the revenue from continuing operations of the REFELEEB 2 WERAEE 2
Group and the profit of the Group for the year would have i B #& 9 Bl & 49983,285,000% 7T K 49
been approximately HK$983,285,000 and approximately 297,766,000/ 7T °

HK$297,766,000, respectively.
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40. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  40. HUi & fit Mt B 2 5 & i £ [

AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES J& /A §]
DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES XU 5E 1 BB 2 E
2018
—E-N\F
HK$'000
FHET
Net liabilities of subsidiaries deregistered: BUEEMMB AR A EFE:
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEW AR - =& RFER FRIE 1,935
Other creditors, accruals and deposits received ~HALFETBRF - FEFT B A M E KiZ® (7,338)
(5,403)
Non-controlling interests e = 645
(4,758)
Capital reserve BRI 293
Exchange fluctuation reserve BEFOBREBRREZ
reclassified to profit or loss PE 5O B R 1 864
(3,601)

Gain on deregistration of subsidiaries (note 6)  BUHEEMHI B A 72 Yz (FisEe) 3,601
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<

40. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  40. B & it Mt B 2 5] & i £ [

I:ll

AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES JB A &) (@)
(Continued)

A [
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES & Wt B 2 6

RE—FE BEASEEBREEE
TERMEBR AR ([EF)EIZ 2K
BEZERZ AESENEREARE
800,000,0007T ( #9887,980,000/%& 7t ) 7
“EtEFAAFTNHERHEER
EEEPRENB AR 2E92.21%
- HEFEZE - FTHFBIRAE
ARARA-—TE—+tFNALA+—HZ
Mk EMRBEEE A L14,122,0008

During the prior year, pursuant to an equity transfer
agreement entered into between the Group and Hunan
Country Garden Real Estate Co. Ltd. (the “Purchaser”),
the Group completed the disposal of its entire 92.21%
equity interest in Hunan Carrianna and its subsidiaries
on 28 September 2017 for an aggregate consideration
of RMBB800,000,000 (approximately HK$887,980,000).
Further details of the disposal are set out in a circular of
the Company dated 11 September 2017. The related loss

on disposal amounted to approximately HK$14,122,000. e
HK$’000
FET
Net assets disposed of: HEZEFE:
Property, plant and equipment (note 13) W WE K& (EE13) 9,665
Other intangible assets (note 17) HEmEpEE ([:E17) 359,394
Properties under development (note 22) BERPYE (M5E22) 712,048
Properties held for sale FELEME 350,644
Debtors, deposits and prepayments FEUERE TR - & R TER A 61,167
Due from directors FEWE EFIE 1,045
Restricted cash BRH3RS 3,540
Cash and cash equivalents HeMRELEEIER 13,807
Trade creditors ERE SRR (47,988)
Other creditors, accruals and deposits received H i fERT R - B+ E A K&
ElRE (131,987)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FPERITREMMEE (H5E41)
(note 41) (75,710)
Tax payable FET IR (24,229)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 32) EEFIEAE (7E32) (231,050)
1,000,346
Non-controlling interests FE 470 A% 4 2 (77,968)
922,378
Capital reserve BEARFE (22,214
Exchange fluctuation reserve PE 5K B 1,938
902,102
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 6) HEMH B A REE (Hite) (14,122)
887,980
Satisfied/to be satisfied by: ST

Cash Re 887,980
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40. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  40. B i 5k it Mt B 2 5] & i & [

AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES J& 2 & ()
(Continued)
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) H & I8 2 B (s

An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
during the prior year in respect of the disposal of
subsidiaries is as follows:

BN EL—SEHEMBARZRERR
SHEERBRAFEINAOT :

HK$’000
FHET
Cash consideration received and receivable B K EUIRERE 887,980
Less: Consideration receivable as at 31 March & R—_Z—N\F=A=+—HZ
2018 (note 24) FEUW (B (Mi5E24) (678,940)
Cash consideration received during that year &% F AR WIE S K E 209,040
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of EHEReMASEEIER (13,807)
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ZFERAHERBARCEE R
during that year in respect of ReFEBEERAFRE
the disposal of subsidiaries 195,233

41. NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED CEAB W E R M
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING MEmBEEZARED
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Interest-
bearing bank
Balances and other
with non-  borrowings
controlling (excluding Finance
shareholders, bank lease
net overdrafts) payables
FERTR
HitfE&
FERBRRE (FEERT EARE
B FE EX) HE
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TERT
At 1 April 2017 R-_ZE—+&FNA—H 25,593 1,232,266 78
Changes from financing cash flows HERSRES 2,714 (21,713) (17)
Exchange realignment Rk (463) 7,396 -
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 40) I E B 2 A (F7E40) - (75,710) -
At 31 March 2018 and 1 April 2018 RZE-NFZA=+—-HK
—Z-\FMA—A 27,844 1,142,239 61
Changes from financing cash flows BEHERER (5,864) 129,997 (18)
Exchange realignment B 53R 205 (1,019) -
At 31 March 2019 RZB-NF=A=1+—8H 22,185 1,271,217 43
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42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 42. S A AR

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

RIEBR RIAMBEHRRZEARE
(ER N

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHET
Guarantees given for HOMEEREEZ
mortgage loan facilities RIBEXEE M ED
granted to property purchasers K ELR 6,144 13,675

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of their property units and provided
guarantees to secure the obligations of these purchasers
for repayments. The guarantees terminate upon either
(i) the issuance of the real estate ownership certificates
which will generally be available within one year upon the
completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction
of mortgaged loans by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with any accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and
the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and
possession of the related properties. The guarantee
period starts from the dates of grant of the mortgages.
The directors of the Company consider that the fair
value of the guarantees is not significant and in case of
default on payment, the net realisable value of the related
properties will exceed the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties. Therefore, no provision has been made for
the guarantees in the financial statements.

AEEDR/ETERZMEEMRR
TRE YRHEERUERZSZERRE
TEREE-ARERROFLERSE
(—RRERBLTKE—FAN)EHL
% K(NMEEREMNZBEFTERRLL -

RIBERG - Mz FERIERIZIBN
FRARKERERERRREREZR
BAL BRRXREREMNERTZEM
EA B REIF MRTTEEKERH
MEZEEMARLEAR - BRYA
RHRE A LR - ARFEERS
BERZAFELTIEKXN MEHRERN
REN BRMEZJERFEABRB
) R (B IR HR 18 AN &5 R e A L8 e B R
IR e R B N B 75 R A BLIE IR
1E B -
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43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 43. & & fl & ¥ #

(A) AS LESSOR (A) 1B M F
The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) AEEREBELEHELTHEER
under operating lease arrangements, with leases wEWME (ME14) HELRS
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 12 years. The B HBANT -2+ 2F-HE
terms of the leases generally also require the tenants BRI REARE S TR RE
to pay security deposits. o
At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future RZE—NEF=ZA=+—H &%
minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable E R B P ] 3 2 AT AR
operating leases with its tenants falling due as ME R T B e U 2 R R &K AE
follows: ERIBRRBEMT
2019 2018
—E-hEF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Within one year R—FRX 67,827 72,293
In the second to fifth years, RE_ZERF
inclusive (BREERME) 140,466 135,737
After five years RAFE% 67,245 72,604
275,538 280,634




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

43. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(Continued)
(B) AS LESSEE

The Group leases certain of its properties under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for properties
are negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 15 years
and rentals are normally fixed in accordance with the
respective tenancy agreements.

At 31 March 2019, the Group had total future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

43. BEME %8 ()

(B) & B&M S

AEBEREEEHELHFHERET
ME-MEHELERER 2 HE
NF—E+AF -MEZHE R
REFHAZEEANEE-

R-ZE-NEF=A=1+—B &&
ERET A AHEEERERAR TS
MR 2 R AR RIER EFRARR
LN

2019 2018

—E-hEF —ET-N\F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FERT FET

Within one year R—FRN 78,194 65,373
In the second to fifth years, RE-_EERF

inclusive (BREEEME) 91,879 74,012

After five years RAFE 14,947 12,289

185,020 151,674

The operating leases of certain properties also
called for additional rentals, which would be based
on a certain percentage of turnover/revenue of the
operations being undertaken therein pursuant to the
terms and conditions as stipulated in the respective
tenancy agreements. As the future turnover/
revenue of these operations could not be accurately
determined as at the end of the reporting period,
the relevant contingent rental has not been included
above.

RIZAERAE & 172 7] B IR S 1R
- BETYERNLEHORERR
HAp e EBm S %8,/ Ram
AT A7 LBKREINEE - R
EEBNARREER WA mE
HIR AT - M BRI KRG
AR ARE -



44. COMMITMENTS

45.

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 43(B) above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:
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44. 7% ¥

RIREBIR - B 5 _E XX aE43(B)FF it
ZISERREAEIN AEBBEUATER
HOE

2019 2018
—E-NEF —T-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Contracted, but not provided for: ELRTHIME A AR B 4
Property, plant and equipment W WEME 39,161 74,840
Purchases of land use rights fEE (s A - 17,700
Investment properties "EME 108,866 28,541
Properties under development BERPYE 1,744 6,867
149,771 127,948

In the prior year, the Group has rights to purchase pre-
determined lots of land in the PRC pursuant to certain
legal binding agreements. The commitments under such
legal binding agreements amounted to RMB214 million.
Subsequent to the disposal of Hunan Carrianna, the
Group transferred the rights to the Purchaser.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, properties under development, properties held
for sale, time deposits, structured deposits and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$1,943,288,000 (2018:
HK$1,970,549,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, rental income generated in respect
of certain investment properties of the Group has been
assigned to certain banks to secure certain loan facilities
granted to the Group.

REFE AEERBEETREEROR
NZmE BEREETBEBEETEE Lo
\:%“—*;,Jffiéﬁﬁﬁmg%**lﬁTZ%#k%
AR #214,000,0007T ° A HH & A m EE
1% AEBME R E HEEZER -

45. & & 4

RBERR AEBXBFLAERED
1,943,288,0008 7t (=& — )\ F :
1,970,549,0008 L) 2« & TYW % - W=

R REWME - BERPYE FELD
EZWME FHER SHEMEFHIARL
BAFEIERNESTREEZ S@ME
ECERR EAREEMERE TR
T BESREREMEE BRI
AEERHEZEE TREVE A WS
TETRIT FALASEMERSETE
HEVE 2 &R




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 16. FHEANLR S
(@ In addition to the transactions, arrangements (@) %Eggﬁf/\ux—rﬁﬂkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
and balances detailed elsewhere in these EEEE/‘]X % S i ﬁ%ﬂi_’ A5 :@i
financial statements, the Group had the following ’5; ﬁ BAIB AL MAEAT T IR
transactions with related parties during the year: '
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FERT FHET
Gross interest income —MEBERRZ
from an associate SRk (i) 4,123 9,835
Rental paid to key NHESEETEERAE
management
personnel (i) - 1,657
Rental paid to related NHESEBEERA
companies (i) 1,124 -
Sales of goods to related [ ##E R A5 E & R
companies (iif) 3,047 3,694
()  The interest was charged to an associate in respect () ERSENTFHEARDERENHERK
of a loan advanced thereto, details of which are BAE - HEFS 0 51 75 3R 2% W
included in note 18 to the financial statements. 184 °
(i) The rentals paid to key management personnel and iy WBEEFRABZERINTFEE
related companies were made based on mutually BIEAR &E‘QL AlzHe &
agreed terms. The related companies are controlled ERRBEAEE—FMEAA
by a director of a subsidiary of the Group. L REERES
(i)  The selling price was determined based on mutually iy WEREFTREZGHEEEE-
agreed terms. The related companies are controlled BEAE R AEE —RHBA

by a director of a subsidiary of the Group. RlZ—RBESEH -
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 16. FHEAN LR 5 (50)
(Continued)
(@) (Continued) @ (&)

In the prior year, a member of key management RE—FE —RAEBHEE=

personnel who is also a shareholder of Carrianna MEKRBER AR R BEEE

(Hainan) Catering Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna ERRBERAANKEN—

(Hainan) Food Processing Co., Ltd. has issued HEEEBABERRC-ZE

guarantees to the Group in respect of certain —“NE=ZA=Z+—HBHHET

trade debtors amounting to approximately JEUE 5 B8R 7 #4915,911,000/%8 T[]

HK$15,911,000 as at 31 March 2018. REMEE HER-

(o) Outstanding balances with related parties: () BEBBEEATZREEGEH:

()  The amounts due to directors are unsecured, () ENEERELAEER &
interest-free and have no fixed terms of B WEEFEENR-
repayment.

(i)  The amounts due from/to non-controlling (i)  FEUHE FEFE AR AR R KA
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and BEER . BRI EETE
have no fixed terms of repayment. KH o

(i) Details of the amounts due from associates (i) PAFRE HAK FE U = R B3R
and loans to an associate as at the end of the HEGETHBERRZE
reporting period are included in note 18 to the REFEBERNY B RENME

financial statements. 18 0
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46. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 6. FHEAN LR 5 (50
(Continued)
(€) Compensation of key management personnel of the € AEEFEZEEEABZHRM:
Group:
2019 2018
—E-hEF —ET-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FER FH&T
Short term employee benefits %2 Hi{g & 1& 7 19,376 22,545
Post-employment benefits RRAE A 267 265
Equity-settled share option LARE 25 45 O BE AR A A =2
expense 123 876
Total compensation paid to EXTTEEETRAB Z LW
key management personnel 19,766 23,686
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included EExMEcE—THFBERUBR

in note 8 to the financial statements. EL R
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 47. HHEEw Nz M TR
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty AE—BEMNSRTANRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period KRR A :

are as follows:

2019 —E-NE
Financial assets cREE
Fir!ancial assets at Financial
fair vafl-t:e tl;rough assets at
profit orloss fair value
BRFESIER through other
REEREENERAE comprehensive
Designated Financial Income
as such assetsat Equity
upon initial Held for amortised Investments
recognition trading cost BLVENR Total
RREMZE
RER BAREZ
BRE DB SE R A5t SREE
RitkR HFEE EBHEREE -BERE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FEx FEx FEx FER
Due from an associate e —EBELRZE - - 60,736 - 60,736
Equity investments designated at fair value through other #5E AR ATEIISERAE LR
comprehensive income WAREE BHRE - - - 212,741 212,741
Financial assets at fair value BATESRRAERT
through profit or loss RENSHEE 11,639 185,458 - - 197,007
Financial assets included in debtors and STARKER RS
deposits LEBEE - - 761,173 - 761,173
Derivative financial instrument fTEeBIE - 4 - - 4
Due from directors EWESTIE - - 10,498 - 10,498
Due from non-controlling shareholders YRR 3R - - 206 - 206
Structured deposits EEEER 817 - - - 817
Restricted cash TREES - - 90 - 90
Pledged time deposits BEATSEER - - 45,412 - 45,412
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RHSSHEEE - - 126,259 - 126,259
12,456 185,499 1,004,374 212,141 1,415,070
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY A7. HHE BN 2 28T A @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty AE—BEMNSRTANSRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2019 —E-NEF
Financial liabilities A N=Ri
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
PR ]
RAEHER
cEasE
HK$’000
FET
Trade creditors JERTE S RN 51,012
Financial liabilities included in other creditors, FEAEMERERR B ER K
accruals and deposits received Blizerema®E 160,429
Due to directors FETEEFIA 485
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE A FEYE AR AR 3R 3R IR 22,391
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings WEZSHRITREMEE 1,284,899
Finance lease payables ENRERE 43
1,519,259




47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY (Continued)
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A7. B HE Nz &8 TR a0

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows: (Continued)

TR RBENSBITANBEHRR
MBREE - ()

2018 —E-N\F
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
BRTFEFIRER
REGTRENGREE
Designated Avalilable-
as such for-sale
upon initial Held for Loans and financial
recognition trading receivables assets Total
RER
iglisd Bk AHEHEZ
RILIEE FIEEE FEU AR R PREE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEx TEx TEx TEx TR
Due from an associate BT -HBERRZER - - 81,960 - 81,960
Available-for-sale investments A ERE - - - 295,959 295,959
Financial assets at fair value BERTEIERAERR
through profit or loss RERNSBEE 18,164 94,318 - - 112,482
Financial assets included in debtors and FARMER kRS
deposits JEREE - - 824,117 - 824,117
Derivative financial instrument MTESRIA - 139 - - 139
Due from directors EWEEHE - - 6,661 - 6,661
Due from non-controling shareholders FEM IR AR SR 8 - - 207 - 207
Structured deposits BRI 124,264 - - - 124,264
Restricted cash ZREHS - - 602 - 602
Pledged time deposits EEATHER - - 44,169 - 44,169
Cash and cash equivalents BeNBEEEER - - 348,950 - 348,950
142,428 94,457 1,306,666 295,959 1,839,510
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47. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY A7. HHE BN 2 28T A @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty AE—BEMNSRTANSRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2018 —E—N\F
Financial liabilities TRAE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
LAt 55
PR AEHE R
CRIBE
HK$’000
FET
Trade creditors FERTE SRR 45,537
Financial liabilities included in other creditors, FFAEAMEMRR BT EA R
accruals and deposits received Blkeremas 193,771
Due to directors JERTEFEFRIE 5,069
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE A~ FE 12 IR AR 3R KT8 28,051
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings MEZRITREMES 1,157,907
Finance lease payables ERREHREE 61

1,430,396




48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

Management has assessed that the carrying amounts
of financial assets included in debtors and deposits, a
loan to an associate, an amount due from an associate,
amounts due from directors, amounts due from non-
controlling shareholders, restricted cash, pledged time
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade creditors,
financial liabilities included in other creditors, accruals and
deposits received, amounts due to directors, amounts
due to non-controlling shareholders, interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, and finance lease payable
reasonably approximate to their fair values largely due to
the short term maturities/no fixed terms of repayment of
these instruments or because the effect of discounting
not reflected in the carrying amounts of these instrument
is not material. The fair values of the non-current portion
of financial assets included in debtors and deposits have
been calculated mainly by discounting the expected future
cash flows using rates currently available for instruments
with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities,
as appropriate. The Group’s own non-performance risk
for finance lease payables and interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings as at 31 March 2019 and 31 March
2018 was assessed to be insignificant.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a
forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate fair values:

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments
classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and structured deposits that are stated at fair
value are based on market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions.
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE A8 2 WM I RZAFMHEAFHE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of unlisted equity investments designated
at fair value through other comprehensive income, which
were previously classified as available-for-sale investments
at cost under HKAS 39, have been estimated using the
asset-based approach based on assumptions that are
not supported by observable market prices or rates. The
valuation approaches require the directors to analyse the
market value of the underlying which is then discounted
for considerations such as marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a

J& & (5)

BERAFEIREAEM 2B AR
BRI ZIF EMERREMN A FE (TR
RIBE BT ERIFI95 N B ALK AR
AEZAHEERBE)EREAERD
BRMEW AR FHRREREEEN
EMhET e R ETAERES D ITIAH
mE ARATEERITHRAELEE
BRREEHITE-

XA T ABENERTAERR
BABBERAN-"FT-NF=A=1—

quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2019: HHE(LBRE DT
Significant unobservable
Valuation technique input Range
BEXfGE FABRFEMEABE EBE
Unlisted equity Asset-based approach and  Discount for lack of 30%
investments valuation multiples marketability
FLmERRE BEEWERMGERH RZ 5 1 i

As at 31 March 2019, it was estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount
for lack of marketability by 1% would result in increase/
decrease in the Group’s other comprehensive income by
HK$538,000.

The Group enters into derivative financial instruments with
counterparties, principally financial institutions with good
credit ratings. Derivative financial instruments, including
interest rate swaps, are measured using present value or
similar calculations, incorporating significant observable
inputs.

R-E—-hE=A=+—8B RAEH
hBEE2RFAENBRT HetHrzm
BB DI %A E R A
B 2 Hth 2 E YA G A0, 42538,000
AT e

AEBEHFT (EBE/RFEEFR
MEREE)IIITESR TR - ITAS
BTA (BFEN X)) RARESEU
AR CBEERNBEHBETAE
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48. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE A48. 2 WM T RZAFMHEAFHE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& % ()
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2NF 1 JE R

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement

hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:

Financial assets measured at fair value:

R

AP EZ & E E:

TREAREESRTIAZ A FEFE

As at 31 March 2019 R-IE—-NF=ZF=+—H
Fair value measurement using
ATEHEER
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIEBRT S BATUBE EATTRE
ZHRE BAE BARE
(%5-18) (%5=8) (%5=8) k]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TET TET TER
Equity investments designated at fair value EERATEIRRREM
through other comprehensive income FHRAREZERRE 175,098 - 37,643 212,741
Structured deposits HEEEER - 817 - 817
Financial assets at fair value through BRTETIR R ERES
profit or loss REZEREE 185,458 11,639 - 197,097
Derivative financial instrument: fTHESmIA:
Interest rate swap il =45 4 - | - |
360,556 12,497 37,643 410,696
As at 31 March 2018 RZFE-NF=HA=1+—H
Fair value measurement using
REEFERA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERET 5 BAUBE EATUBER
ZHE EUN 6 AR
(£—FE) (B=) (5=E) BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THT FET TR
Available-for-sale investments AfRLERE
~ listed equity investments —LERRE 245,971 - - 245,971
Structured deposits HEENER - 124,264 - 124,264
Financial assets at fair value through RATEIRERR BT
profit or loss REZEREE 94,318 18,164 - 112,482
Derivative financial instrument: fTHESmMIA:
Interest rate swap FlEis 5 - 139 - 139
340,289 142,567 - 482,856
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. ¥ A by g B H B & B8R

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than
derivatives, comprise interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, and cash and cash equivalents. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as trade debtors
and trade creditors, which mainly arise directly from its
operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transaction,
including interest rate swap. The purpose is to manage
the interest rate risks arising from the Group’s sources
of finance. The Group’s accounting policies in relation
to derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial
statements.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rate risks relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

The Group has put in place an interest rate swap
arrangement for one of its floating rate term loans to
limit the variability in cash flows attributable to changes
in interest rates. This involves fixing portions of interest
payable on its underlying borrowings through derivative
instruments. Details of the interest rate swap are
disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements.

AEBZFEZSMIT A (RITETEIN)
BREMEZRITRAEMES UNES
EReEERR - REFEMIAZTE
BHERAREXBERES AKH
NEZRTEEERAXBELZHMLS
MEERAE PIENE SRR NE
BEET T/

AREBEMFUTETAR S BFEMX
EH - EHAMREREREAREES K
REOFERR - EEITETANANEE
SETBRRBER P B RKME2.4

$E.%ﬂlﬂﬁ&23xﬂ YA RS
2 HNERRS - EERE - REE SR
&hﬁﬂ“° FeEMALNAEER
&%ﬂﬁZﬁﬁ Bt g o

kY
AEBEES 2 MSMAEEER T B
EARGBIZFHMEABZRITEE-
AEBEZMERITEEZERENERE
BRI R T I 7% Rk M RES0 © F R [
RIRFEEEEE TR2RRARG
ﬂgﬁiﬁﬁ MERANBSHTEZIE
o

AEBOEP —HFB N EREHER
EM A R M2 EE LRFIR SR ER
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HiREE 2NN B ZBEEE D o F
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
INTEREST RATE RISK (Continued)

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates
would decrease/increase the Group'’s profit before tax for
the current year by approximately HK$12,149,000 (2018:
HK$11,579,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest
rate used above is considered reasonable with the other
variables held constant.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities
and transactions principally denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group does not
anticipate significant transactional currency exposures
as the majority of the sales, purchases and expenditure
incurred by the operating units of the Group were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies, except
for the outstanding consideration receivable in relation to
the disposal of Hunan Carrianna Group of approximately
RMB436,776,000, after taking into account the effect
of discounting, (equivalent to HK$509,805,000) (2018:
RMB543,281,000, equivalent to HK$678,940,000) as at
the reporting date. The Group has not used any derivative
to hedge its exposure to foreign currency risk.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. BB by s B H E R WK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (#)
FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK (Continued) o R By (a)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TREATRRE AR LS NEEEH
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in SEZEBUREBERAREKEZNSIE
the RMB exchange rate on the consideration receivable AleEEE) LA EMEERFTIEN
from the disposal of Hunan Carrianna Group, with all other EAT - EAREERRT AR M A BURE o

variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

Increase/

Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in RMB rate before tax

AR¥ Bk 0 A 3
AE(BE) &/ Ohd)

% HK$’000
B FHET
2019 —E-NF
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens B THARKEEE
against RMB 5 25,490
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens  fi#i78 7T 55 A R FHE
against RMB (5) (25,490)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in RMB rate before tax
ARY BB
FE/ (82@E) #m/ OChd)
% HK$’000
Aot FHET
2018 —E-N\F
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens B THARKERE
against RMB 5 33,947

If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens  fi#/& 7T % A R FHE
against RMB ) (83,947)




49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s
exposure to bad debts is not significant.

For properties that are still under development, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection
with customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to finance
their purchase of the properties for amount up to 80% of
the total purchase price of the properties. If a purchaser
defaults on the payment of its mortgage loan during the
term of the guarantee, the bank holding the mortgage
loan may demand the Group to repay the outstanding
amount under the loan and any accrued interest thereon.
Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain
the customer’s deposits and sell the related property
to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the bank.
Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Notes to Consolidated F]'}mndd Statements
EAEMBHEME

31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

49. B B ol By P E AR R 0K

(40)

fa 5 B
AEEEENZAEERINE=TTE
IR S - REAKEBR - BEREED
ETRSHNAEREPHEKBEERE
2P o IS NEBFHEER RIS
AREENERRRIL TEK-

RERTPVENS AKEBEREP
RBEMEMBEMIELNIRIBERE
FEERRRTREER MERSRE
REAYMERBEENS% - MRET
RERHBMEZRRIBEZELN AR
BERIBERNRITALSERAEHE
BEEFIA TR REE TR R ZFRIAN
EAIERTFR UL FAR T - A E A
REEFPHNREABEBYERLEAE
B AARE M FIRITHOIEA R
FEETNENDR20% AEETGHE
HEZMERAZEL At ARFE
ER/AEENEER B AERE -




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A W R

31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. M % W By & H R R BCR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (&)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) fa B W B (a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31 RZFE—-LE=A=+—-HmHAk
March 2019 bR R K B %
The table below shows the credit quality and the TREANZZ—NF=—A=+—8R
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s BASBENEERR (FEUNBEBER
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due BEE RIEETIEBBEZHARIZN
information unless other information is available without A ESEMERASERN®R) NEE
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification BEREERBR EBRARFERE R
as at 31 March 2019. The amounts presented are gross B ReEATREECREBE.

carrying amounts for financial assets.

12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12BRAEH MRS
FEFR FEFR
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-RR EZRR EZRR L5 % CH

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET

Due from an associate FE I — IR A RIRIB 60,736 - - - 60,736
Financial assets included in debtors, FARWER  BE Rk

deposits and prepayments BRFE CRERE 770,227 - - 46,868 817,095
Derivative financial instrument fTESBIA 41 - - - 41
Due from directors R E R 10,498 - - - 10,498
Due from non-controlling shareholders FEM IR R IR R 0B 206 - - - 206
Restricted cash ZREFE 0 - - - 0
Pledged time deposits BERESRER 45,412 - - - 45412
Cash and cash equivalents RekHAeEBEEE 126,259 - - - 126,259

1,013,469 - - 46,868 1,060,337




49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Maximum exposure as at 31 March 2018

The Group has no significant concentration of credit
risk in respect of its trade debtors. The credit risk of the
Group’s financial assets, which mainly comprise cash and
cash equivalents, time deposits, restricted cash, financial
assets included in debtors and deposits, a loan to an
associate, an amount due from an associate, amounts
due from directors and non-controlling shareholders,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade debtors are
disclosed in note 24 to the financial statements.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and
liabilities and projected cash flows.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
and other borrowings.
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. M % W By & H R R BCR
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) mE &2 ER (9
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at THRARASERDEHRNESRAE "
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual B BRI BB BTN :
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2019
“E-hE
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—EHT 3
HRERE ERE BELE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FHT TiER
Trade creditors ERESER 51,012 - - 51,012
Financial liabilities included in other creditors, =T AR B ER
accruals and deposits received kEWkREzEREE 154,737 5,692 - 160,429
Due to directors ERESHE 485 - - 485
Due to non-controlling shareholders JET FEERR AR R IR 22,391 - - 22,391
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings M EZRITREMER
(note) 53) 976,323 308,576 - 1,084,800
Interest payments on interest-bearing MEZRITREMBEEZ
bank and other borrowings FlEzf 19,637 36,608 - 56,245
Finance lease payables ERRERE 18 25 - 43
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ SEIEEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers MIRTIELER 6,144 - - 6,144
1,230,747 350,901 - 1,581,648
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 49. W B A By i B H B R UK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) &2 AR (5
2018
—E-N\F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
—FLT —F
FRE K ZRE AENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THx TR TEx
Trade creditors BB SRR 45,537 - - 45,537
Financial liabilities included in other creditors, st AR M RERTERF - [EZT B A
accruals and deposits received kElEe 2 eBBE 187,108 4,927 1,736 193,771
Due to directors [ERESFE 5,069 - - 5,069
Due to non-controlling shareholders B R AR N 0E 28,051 - - 28,051
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ez BTREMEE
(note) (B3 827,680 330,227 - 1,157,907
Interest payments on interest-bearing MEzBTRAMEE
bank and other borrowings FlEZR 17,077 27,101 - 44,178
Finance lease payables ERNRERE 18 43 - 61
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ L EEREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers MIRFTIEL R 13,675 - - 13,675

1,124,215 362,298 1,736 1,488,249
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49. W B W By & BB R BOK
(4)

WEE 2R (8
B BB 2RI REME G REEE

49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued)

Note: Included in interest-bearing bank and other borrowings

are term loans with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$175,486,000 (2018: HK$194,628,000).
The loan agreements contain repayment on-demand
clauses giving the banks the unconditional right to call in
the loans at any time and therefore, for the purpose of the
above maturity profile, the total amount is classified as “on
demand” and has been classified as current liabilities.

Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

#9175,486,0008 T2 EHER (==&
— J\4F : 194,628,000/ 7T ) - E & %
EEE B E SRR ERIER
T ARTT AR BER BB R -
Hut st EZIBE R M E - 2 FHIE
T A RER] RESEARDE

f&e

BEBALER BEEY TR RBLE
EFEI2(EA AR B R 2 BRE -
EZRR/REERAUREER G H
PrEtz 2180 B 57 8 - & AT I8 B B A
SEEMETBRERE A ZHBM
M AREEETERRZL WEED
TR RARE—BEREETHAL
AR M A o

RBEE S — B RERKAIEFERFHK
MERGER RREHR ZFEK
PAB KIARIT BT SREHE K 2R E SR A
R K2 AR 2 BB HIER
L

Within 1 year 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—F
—EHTF ZLF BFEHNE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TET TERT TER
As at 31 March 2019 RZE-NF=ZA=1+—H 122,955 85,386 20,507 228,848
As at 31 March 2018 RZE-N\F=ZA=1+—H 93,162 88,350 24,375 205,887




49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual listed equity investments classified as
equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income/available-for-sale investments
(note 19) and listed equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (note 20)
as at 31 March 2019.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Stock
Exchange and are valued at quoted market prices at the
end of the reporting period.

The market equity index for the Stock Exchange, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day in the year to
the end of the reporting period, and the respective highest
and lowest points during the year were as follows:

Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements
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49. B B ol By P E AR R 0K

(&)

fix 18 B2

P AN {8 A% R\ B 4 A s 3R 4 B F R {8
MEFEEZEIMERRAES 2
RFETHRzZRER R -_F—NF=H

=t—B AEEEHZBRAERE

RJIRE DB AIE TR A FEIRER

Hit 2 ERARE 2 BeRE /At

ERE (MFE19) 2 @R EmgmiE &

DER/BRATFEIIRLENBRPRE

SREE (MF20) hH) EmgsERE -

AEBM EHiRE AR BT Rz
RIBEMROTIGREBE-

BRAzMmEEFER (RFRAERE
HRZBEEAR S AEERRERE) -
REAZ &= MREEHAT

31 March

“E-NF
=ZA=t-H

Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index &/ — B4 %

High/low High/low
during the during the
year ended year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March
2019 2018 2018

REZE REZ
“E-NF —2-N\F
=A=t+-H =A=+-H
LEER | ZZ-N\F HEER
2B/’ [ZA=1T—H Z=/ &
31,498/24,540 30,093 33,335/23,851
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49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the listed equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/available-for-sale
equity investments, the impact is deemed to be on the
fair value reserve/available-for-sale investment revaluation

49. W B W By & BB R BOK
(4)

W 18 A Bg (@)

NRERFTAE M BRI KRG
BEARBZEZE N REERRER
BERRZREE HREREZQF
EEHIRE%E E) 2 BUKE - LA T
ZIEER N AR MR E M2 ERA
FRIE 2 FTRRIRE A EERR
EME FREHRGESHAFERS
SRR ERESHREERTE -

reserve.
Carrying Changes Increase/
amount of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
BnikE
FEE BRENERED BRAE,/ B
HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000
T FAT TET
2019 ZE-NF
Investments listed in Hong Kong EELmRE
- Equity investments designated at fair value ~ — 187 A% AT EFIE L
through other comprehensive income REHZEKAREEZ
(note 19) ERRE (MF19) 175,098 - 8,755
Investments listed in Hong Kong EELmRE
— Financial assets at fair value through - BATEIERAERT
profit or loss (note 20) REZ & REE (MiT20) 35,911 1,796 -
2018 IR
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong ERELMzBRRE
- Available-for-sale (note 19) — AR E (ME19) 245,971 - 12,299
Equity investments listed in Hong Kong ERLMzBRRE
~ Financial assets at fair value through - BATEIERAERT
profit or loss (note 20) REz&BEE (320) 30,745 1,537 -
* Excluding effect on retained profits * TEERERNZZE

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

BAEH
AEEEAEENEERE RERA
SEARBERRNEN BEFRRE
BN R U FEERERF  FEUR
RO REE-



49. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facility letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$2,750,000,000 (2018:
HK$2,750,000,000), which has been complied with
during the year. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which
is defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents, structured
deposits, restricted cash and pledged time deposits as a
percentage of the Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios
as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

Notes to Consolidated Flnanmal Statements
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49. B B ol By P E AR R 0K

(&)

EAREH @)
AEERBEEEANESH RABE
ENRRER BEEERNEBEILIED
AR - BERAAREAEE ~5H
AAERARRRERE MRRRESE
AR EEITH AR %21&/&—7@%2&%!2—
MM BARERZBITEREREM
R AEARERR ,%?é.\ﬁﬁ/éf%
J#182,750,000,00078 7 (= Z — N\ 4F -
2,750,000,000% L) (RERNBEF)
N REB WA RINMEEINZ BEARTE
feHBEZZT-NAF=ZA=+—AHK=
T N\EZA=+-—BLFER IE
HEAEREREBRZE BRI EF-

AEBUERNBEL X (AIAKEHE
ZHRITREMERERRE KRS EER

BREETR XRFIRE KRBT
HERREAEERSRE A DL)
EREANBER RSP RELAR
Fe &R

2019 2018
—ZE-hEF —T-N\F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
B 5 FERT FHET

Interest-bearing bank and e ziRITREAMEE
other borrowings 30 1,284,899 1,157,907
Less: Cash and cash equivalents & : 3R & M IR & £ EEH 26 (126,259) (348,950)
Structured deposits HEBMER 21 (817) (124,264)
Restricted cash ZRRHIRE 26 (90) (602)
Pledged time deposits 2 E B E BFR 26 (45,412) (44,169)
Net debt FEE 1,112,321 639,922
Total equity = RE 3,830,066 3,957,673
Gearing ratio BEARBELE 29% 16%
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50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 50. A& 2 & Z it B MK I &
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
Information about the statement of financial position of the REMERR ARRZHBRARZE
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: RN
2019 2018
—E-NF —ET-N\F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries MEAE#ER 1,933,952 1,823,087
Due from associates JIE i B 5 2 B ZR I8 - 29,243
Total non-current assets EMENEERE 1,933,952 1,852,330
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other debtors, deposits and H A FE AR K -
prepayments e RIEa A 86 118
Due from a director B — R EE KA 2,528 1,370
Due from a subsidiary FEU—FEIF B A R 5RIB 80,000 80,000
Cash and cash equivalents HeMHEEEMEER 1,002 51,511
Total current assets REEERLE 83,616 132,999
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZRITIEE (117,789) (73,754)
Other creditors and accruals HMENERRETER (8,126) (3,607)
Due to directors JERE SRR (4,022) (11,273
Total current liabilities REBEERE (129,937) (88,634)
NET CURRENT ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BV B & (& 1&) B (46,321) 44 365
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT (¥ E#ZBERABAR
LIABILITIES 1,887,631 1,896,695
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings B ZIRITIEE (59,855) (79,683)
Due to associates JETEE 2 A B FRIR (85,287) -
Total non-current liabilities FEREBEEL (145,142) (79,683)
Net assets BEFE 1,742,489 1,817,012
EQUITY R
Issued capital BEBITRA 125,709 125,509
Reserves (note) i (fIsE) 1,616,780 1,691,503
Total equity EmBE 1,742,489 1,817,012




00. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Notes to Consolidated Fipancial Statements
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50. AN w2 M BRI E @

Note: P 5T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARRZREERENT
Share Capital Share
premium Contributed  redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
RAREE ESES EABORE BRERE  REEA a3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TR TiERL FhEx TiEn T
At 1 April 2017 RZE—+FMNA—H 1,394,299 59,759 316 5,801 206,032 1,666,207
Profit for the year and total REEERRAFE
comprehensive income for the year PEBAGE - - - - 61,287 61,237
Issue of shares upon exercise of RTEEREREIRG
share options 1,122 - - (310) - 812
Equity-settled share INERAE BRERY
option arrangements - - - 876 - 876
Transfer of share option reserve upon REREX R ERBRIERE
lapse of share options - - - (1,376) 1,376 -
Final 2017 dividend ZEEERERE - - - - (37,629) (37,629)
At 31 March 2018 and RZE-NEZA=1-HK
at 1 April 2018 RZB-N\EMA-A 1,395,421 59,759 316 4,991 231,016 1,691,503
Loss for the year and total FEEFRRAEE
comprehensive loss for the year 2HAFELE - - - - (13,624) (13,624)
Issue of shares upon exercise of ROEBRELRTRE
share options 1,938 - - (518) - 1,420
Equity-settled share NEREEvBREZS
option arrangements - - - 335 - 335
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~ RERERKAERBRERE
forfeiture of share options - - - (1,009) 1,009 -
Final and special 2018 dividend ZE-N\EXRBRBHIRE - - - - (62,854) (62,854)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=ZR=+-H 1,397,359 59,759 316 3,799 155,547 1,616,780

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991
and represented the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital issued by the Company and
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired

RRABIZEHBHKDIR—NANA—FN\A
ToBZAEEEEMESE  RARF
BOTRAZ HEERBEAEBEEAMK
BHBRARIZAMHEESFEZER
MEBEFEZARETZHE -

pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of
the bonus issue of shares in previous years.
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00. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

ol.

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

COMPANY

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 28 June 2019.

00.

ol.

A2 a2 MR R (a0

A2
RIBERE—NAN—FARE (EE
i) BRBRHBTRETHEBLRT
BE-

BRERBERRLBERKRITEZER
BAYE FHE—THRYHRERHM
AE2 AAR D ARSI 2 @ FTRER - %
SRANERBERRRETERERER
104 8 AR 3l 7 B BB AR 8 B sl BOR MR
REEERE G -

BB ok 2 i i

MBBRENR —_T-NAFA-F+/\HB
KREEQHELRES M



Schedule of Principal Properties
FEDEME
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Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z—hF=ZA=+—HAEBZFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: EREYEFBOT :
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
8/ HRAME 5l AEBRNH Bl ZTHER
(m?)
(FFXK)
Hong Kong
B#
Unit B, 26th Floor Medium term lease | 1,568" 100 Completed

Wyler Centre, Phase I,

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

R R HIFR A T =354
KB HEE20055%

EfmhOE_H

261EB=

Ground Floor and Cockloft, Medium term lease  C 87* 100 Completed
61 South Wall Road,

Kowloon City, Kowloon

NEENERIM A B R ERTH AT 5] BIERK
61553 T R 2

Shop on Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 114* 60 Completed
No. 188 Hai Tan Street,

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

B R EIFR A 5] B2&RK
NEERKY

BIEE

1885 3t 4

15th Floor and Medium term lease | 2,594% 100 Completed
Car park space No. 5,

Young Ya Industrial Building,

381-389 Sha Tsui Road,

Tsuen Wan, New Territories

MREE H ERAR 4 T BIEK

YD IH 78381-389%%

RLTXRE

1518 &

T SE55RAE AL

Notes: B 5E

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial LR - IT¥ R—FE - C—HEXE
# Gross floor area *HRETH E A
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Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z—hF=ZA=+—HAEBZFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: (Continued) ZIREMEFBOT : (F)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BREE
B/ HRNE 5l AEBRNH Bl ZTHER
(m?)
(RFHXK)
Hong Kong
gH
Shop No. 1 on G/F Medium term lease  C 104# 60 Completed

together with the loft

thereto, Beverly Court,

Nos. 151-159 Hai Tan Street,

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

BB HERAE 4 ] BI&EK
EARKY

BIBHE151-1595

PR

N

HREE

5/F and main roof, Medium term lease R 507 90 Completed
No. 35 Tsing Yuen Street,

Tai Po, New Territories,

Hong Kong

BB EIFR A (s BIEK

H R A

R 1473558

hERFEXRE

Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 102 100 Completed
No. 102 Main Street Ap Lei Chau,

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong

BRI HERAR 4 ] BI&EK

BE M I R 710258

N

Shop on Ground and Cockloft, Medium term lease  C 897 100 Completed
No. 186A Hai Tan Street,

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

N  ERFE 4 ] BIARK
NERKY

H81BHT186A

T E R g

"E.'I-il:

Notes: B

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIERER I-T% R—F=E C-M%
# Gross floor area PR EE
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Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z—hF=ZA=+—HAEBZFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: (Continued) ZREYEFEOT : (8)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
8/ HRAME 5l AEBRNH Bk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Hong Kong
g#

Shop on Ground Floor, Medium term lease  C 77t 100 Completed
No. 270 Ki Lung Street,

Sham Shui Po, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

Bt FHIFH A ] BEX
NEERKY

2 527058

o T

Flat F on 1st Floor, Medium term lease R 50* 100 Completed
Gold Reserved Count,

No. 16 Tai Main Lane,

Tai Po, New Territories

AR ALY * BEK
KRB E165

—EFE

Mainland China
o B K BE

Carrianna Friendship Square, Medium term lease  C 28,390% 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS = R EITH AT ] BIERK
ARBEREERBERAR

EEIRERS

|IE.'I{F

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEFER I-T¥ R—FE C-—H%E
# Gross floor area R EE R
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Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z—hF=A=+—HAEBZFHEHN T
as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: (Continued) ZIREYEFEOT : (&)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BREE
B/ HRNE 5l AEBRNH Bl ZTHER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Mainland China
B K BE

A building at Hua Shan Road, Medium term lease | 4,647* 100 Completed
Chaotian Industrial Area,

Shi Lou Town,

Panyu District,

Guangdong Province

URERE FHITR AT T =354
EBE

AEHE

BHTIER

ERz—BETF

Imperial Palace, Long term lease C/R 4,899* 100 Completed
Hong Yi Cun,

Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B = REMA B/ E BIERK
ELmEK

H—#f

B B

14 Zu Miao Road, Medium term lease  C 6,838" 100 Completed
Chancheng District,

Foshan Municipal

{1 FHITR AT ] =354
B R

1B BAER 1457

A building at Xi Huan Road, Medium term lease | 18,922¢ 100 Completed
Chaotian Industrial Area,

Shilou Town,

Panyu District,

Guangdong Province

fURERE A T B
H#HE

AR

HMEIERE

AREC—EET

Notes: B

F'I{F

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial WIEER I-T¥ R—FE C—m%
# Gross floor area RIS E AR




Schedule of Principal Properties
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31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R -Z—AWF=ZA=+—HAEEZHIEAE
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: ME- -BELAREZEEMEFFOT:

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
8/ HRAME %5l BEEBENH Bl THER
(m?)
(FFXK)

Hong Kong
BE

Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812* 100 Completed
Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,

22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and

Lorry Parking Space No. L.21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase Il

200 Tai Lin Pai Road,

Kwai Chung, New Territories

HRER H ERAE 4 T BIERK
KB HEE20055

EfRhOE =

26IEAZE R2IEE195

2057 + 2155 ~ 2255 »

395 A0SR B AL K

L2 EERE N

Unit 18 and 19 on 8th Floor, Medium term lease | 298 60 Completed
Wah Sang Industrial Building,

Nos. 14-18 Wong Chuk Yenung Street,

Shatin, New territories

R H  ERAR 4 T B
BAFE14-185%

ELETEAE

BIE18E M19E

|IE.'I{F

Notes: 5]

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEFER I-T¥ R—FE C-—H%E
# Gross floor area R EE R
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Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R -ZE—HNE=F=+—HBEAEBHEIEAD
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: % -HEMRBEZ ESWEFBUO T (B)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HR%tE %5l BEEBENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(FFHXK)

Mainland China
B KB

Nos. 3-6, 5/F, Medium term lease  C 1,068* 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square,

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic

Zone

RIS = R EITH AT 5] BIERK
ARBE R

BAREBERZR

EEMRERES

T 1E3-65%%

Units A, B, C and D, Medium term lease R 577 100 Completed
14th Floor and Unit South B on

17th Floor, Lianhua Building,

Renmin South Road, Luohu District,

Shenzhen, the PRC.

HEBDRY I B AR ALY * BIARK
BHEAREE

BEXE

14#A B CKDER17EEBE

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEFER I-T¥ R—FE C-—HZE
# Gross floor area RIS E AR




Schedule of Principal Properties
i?%%%%

31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE—HE=F=+—HBEAEBHEIEAYD
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: % -HEMRKRBEZ ESWEFBO T (B)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HRAME A BEEBENH B THER
(m?)
(F7HK)
Mainland China
Bl KB
Room 301-304, 321-326, Long term lease C 1,670 100 Completed

Shenzhen Centre

Commercial Building, Min Tian West

Road, Futian Centre District,

Futian District, Shenzhen Special

Economic Zone

RIS B R & RHEAMA ] BIEK
EBHPLERBEA

YR LEEARE

301-304%F }321-326 %

14 Zu Miao Road, Medium term lease  C 12,954% 100 Completed
Chancheng District
Foshan Municipal

Gl R EIFR A 5] &R
B2

1B BARR1455%

Sales Centre, Medium term lease  C 1,739¢ 83 Completed

East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

L;% f EIR L) ] BEK
BEERMRER

%%E%E

R AERECR

LT DO

Notes: B 5T

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PEER I-IT% R—FE C-—BE%E
# Gross floor area BB E AR
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31 March 2019 —F—AhWF=H=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the

Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Name/location Tenure

BB/ ERME

Type

i)

R-E-NF=ZA=1T—BHAKEHFER
hZEBMEFHBOTN

Effective
% held
BRREE
BOl

Approx.
gross area

Stage of
completion

BEBOE
(m?)
(EAHK)

52 A P R

Hong Kong
BE

Lot No. 423 on

D.D. 292 Ko Tong Ha Yeung
Sai Kung North, N.T.
MAARLSE TFERMLENN FHALN
292473 X B 4235%

Medium term lease

Lot No. 424 on

D.D. 292 Ko Tong Ha Yeung
Sai Kung North, N.T.
FAARILRETFEEMLENN FHALD
292473 B 42457

Medium term lease

Mainland China
] KB

Carrianna Friendship Square, Medium term lease
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RN B R
AREBERERERR
EEMRERES

RHEEA

Imperial Palace,

Hong Yi Cun,

Baoan South Road,

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone
RN B =

BELmK

B

BEAE

Long term lease

=3 ikitkd

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial
# Gross floor area

C/R

B/

C/R

B/

60" 90 Completed

[R5359

131% 90 Completed

B &K

100

3,5632* Completed

[R5359

153* 100 Completed

[R5E359

B &L

MEFRI-T% R—EE C—E*
FRBTE A



Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the

Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location Tenure

BB/ ERAKE

Type

i)

Schedule of Principal Properties

i%%%%%

31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

—NEFE=ZA=1t—BAEBEFAEL

EZEBEMEFBOT: ()

Approx. Effective

gross area % held

BREH

REBROE Bl
(m?)
(FFHK)

Stage of
completion

52 7 P R

Mainland China
K B

Leather Trade Centre Medium term lease
East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section,
Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,
Lianyungang
*% HERAE 4
BRERTREREEERR
ﬁt%ik%%ﬁﬁz
REREZZH L

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term lease

East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section,

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

‘*% hEIFR A
BRERTAEREEERR

ﬁt%ik%%ﬁcﬁ

B RZ 550

]

]

34,5610° 83

49,157* 83

Completed

[R5329

Completed

[R5329
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Particulars of principal properties under development held by WM -Z—hF=ZA=+—HAEBZHERE
the Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: (Continued) R2EEYEFBOT: (F)

Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BERER
1t B A® THEE 52 Bk B B BOt BErtERBH
(m?)
(FHK)

Mainland China
B K BE

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 83 N/A

Da Gang Road B section, residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

@i&% BE/EE WEIRETH TiE B
BRERTAEREEERR

%ﬁtﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬂ%rﬁBﬁx

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

BE; HE/Ex WETIRETH NiE A
EEBLCERMAZREEEER

B RABEAFR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 83 N/A

Da Gang Road C section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

@i&% mE/EE WETIRETH TiE B
BRERTAEREEERR

%ﬁtﬂ%%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁcﬁx
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31 March 2019 =—FE—hF=HA=+—H

Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-ZE—NF=ZA=+—HAEEFELE

the Group as at 31 March 2019 are as follows: (Continued) FrEFEYEFBOT: (&)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BERER
1 B A® THEE 5T PR ER Bk ESTHAH
(m?)
(FHK)
Mainland China
B K pE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang
*% mE/EE WEIRETH TiER
BRERTREREEERR
ﬁt%ik%%ﬁ&x
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone,

Lianyungang

BHER mE/EE METRETH TEA
BEEBLERNARREEEXR

FRBERAB B AEGR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 83,618 Foundation work 83 N/A
Da Gang Road H section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area,

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone,

Lianyungang

BE] HE/x WETRETS TiER
EERRERMARREEERR

FBERAE BRI HER




Notice of Annual General Meeting

i A K &

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an annual general meeting of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
will be held at Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Restaurant, 1st Floor, 151
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong on Monday, 26 August
2019 at 11:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated
financial statements and the reports of the directors (the
“Directors”) and of the auditor of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2019;

2. To declare a final dividend of HK3 cents per share for the
year ended 31 March 2019;

3. To re-elect the following retiring Directors and to authorise
the board of Directors to fix the remuneration of the
Directors:

(@ Mr. Leung Pak Yan as Executive Director of the
Company;

(b) Mr. Wong See King as Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company; and

(c) Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam as Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company;

4. To re-appoint Messrs. Ernst & Young as auditor of the
Company and to authorise the board of Directors to fix
their remuneration.

BREEEHEEIERARQR ([A27F]])
EFIIRZZE-NAFNAZTRB(EH—-) L
FH—REREFBEFSLITBIS1HE
EE2H CAN) BEEARARRBREBEFAE
PART A NFISEIA
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EEZME-
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=
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As special business, to consider and, if thought fit, pass with
or without amendments, the following resolutions as ordinary
resolutions:

ORDINARY RESOLUTIONS

5. “THAT

(@)

Subject to paragraph (b) below, the exercise by
the Directors during the Relevant Period of all the
powers of the Company to purchase issued shares
of HK$0.10 each in the capital of the Company,
subject to and in accordance with the applicable
laws and the requirements of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited as amended from time to
time be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
approved;

the aggregate nominal amount of shares to be
purchased pursuant to the approval in paragraph
(@) above shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
number of ordinary shares of the Company in issue
on the date of this resolution, and the said approval
shall be limited accordingly; and

for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the date of passing of this
resolution until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i)  the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i) the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”

Notice of Annual General Meeting
T 5 38 4 ok & 9
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Notice of Annual General Meeting

e 5 4k &
6. “THAT
(@ subject to sub-paragraph (c) of this resolution,

the exercise by the Directors during the Relevant
Period (as hereinafter defined) of all the powers of
the Company to allot, issue or otherwise deal with
additional shares of the Company and to make or
grant offers, agreements and options which might
require the exercise of such powers be and is
hereby generally and unconditionally approved;

the approval in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution
shall authorise the Directors during the Relevant
Period to make or grant offers, agreements and
options which might require the exercise of such
power after the end of the Relevant Period;

the aggregate nominal amount of share capital
allotted or agreed conditionally or unconditionally
to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or
otherwise) by the Directors pursuant to the approval
in sub-paragraph (a) of this resolution, otherwise
than pursuant to:

(i)  aRights Issue (as hereinafter defined);

(i) the exercise of any option scheme or similar
arrangement for the time being adopted for
the grant or issue to officers and/or employees
of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries
of shares or rights to acquire shares of the
Company; and

@iy any scrip dividend or similar arrangement
providing for the allotment of shares in lieu of
the whole or part of a dividend on shares of
the Company in accordance with the Bye-laws
of the Company;

shall not exceed 20% of the aggregate number
of ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the
date of the passing of this resolution, and the said
approval shall be limited accordingly; and

k]
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— R EEGEILEESEA BN
NEER TXOTERRBMA
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(d)  for the purpose of this resolution, “Relevant Period”
means the period from the passing of this resolution
until whichever is the earlier of:

(i)  the conclusion of the next annual general
meeting of the Company;

(i) the revocation or variation of the authority
given under this resolution by ordinary
resolution of the shareholders in general
meeting; and

(i)  the expiration of the period within which the
next annual general meeting of the Company
is required by the Bye-laws of the Company or
the laws of Bermuda to be held.”

“Rights Issue” means an offer of shares in the
Company open for a period fixed by the Directors
to holders of shares of the Company whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company
on a fixed record date in proportion to their then
holdings of such shares (subject to such exclusions
or other arrangements as the Directors may deem
necessary or expedient in relation to fractional
entitlements or having regards to any restrictions or
obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of
any recognised body or any stock exchange, in any
territory outside Hong Kong).”

“THAT conditional upon the passing of the ordinary
resolutions no. 5 and 6 set out above, the general
mandate granted to the Directors pursuant to
resolution no. 6 be and is hereby extended by the addition
thereto of an amount representing the aggregate nominal
amount of the share capital repurchased by the Company
under the authority granted in resolution no. 5, provided
that such amount shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate
nominal amount of the share capital of the Company in
issue at the date of the passing of this resolution.”

Notice of Annual General Meeting
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8.

To transact any other business.

By Order of the Board
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
Ng Yan Kwong
Company Secretary

Hong Kong, 24 July 2019

Notes:

1.

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ right to attend
and vote at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held on Monday, 26 August 2019, the Register of Members
of the Company will be closed from Wednesday, 21 August
2019 to Monday, 26 August 2019, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order for
a shareholder to be eligible to attend and vote at the Annual
General Meeting, all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch
shares registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 20 August 2019.

For the purpose of ascertaining shareholders’ entitlement to
the proposed final dividend, the Register of Members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 23 September 2019 to
Friday, 27 September 2019, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to qualify for
the proposed final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at
the Annual General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the
relevant share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited, at
Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 20 September 2019.

A member entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled
to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote on his/her
behalf. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. If more
than one proxy is so appointed, the appointment shall specify
the number and class of shares in respect of which each such
proxy is so appointed.

To be valid, a form of proxy and the power of attorney or other
authority, if any, under which it is signed, or a notarially certified
copy of such power of attorney or authority, must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor
Tengis Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not less than 48 hours before the time
appointed for holding the Meeting.

An explanatory statement containing further details regarding
ordinary resolutions No. 5 to 7 above will be sent to shareholders
shortly together with the 2019 Annual Report.
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